


Welcome to Our First Integrated Annual Report
2017 marks a first for CGE as we embrace the principles of Integrated Reporting to provide our discerning stakeholders with a 
comprehensive and balanced review of the company’s financial, social and environmental performance in the year under review. 
We do so with the intention of building on this foundation in the years to come. Our commitment towards directing our strategy in 
a manner that takes both business and sustainability into account, as well as the adoption of the IR Framework has ascertained that 
our corporate reporting model is in line with the integrated thinking of the Group. With this report, we hope to give our stakeholders 
a concise and holistic overview of matters that are most material to them. The aforesaid matters include, but are not limited to, 
emerging risks and opportunities, our performance relative to our strategy, and successes and challenges in strategy delivery. 

About the theme
The air balloon is an apt metaphor for CGE’s profitable growth trajectory. It also symbolises the bird’s eye view the Company has from its place at 
the top where it is currently taking stock of the industries it has vested interests in whilst on the look-out for new opportunities it can leverage in 
the year ahead, for greater growth.
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F
rom humble beginnings in 1982, your Company proudly stands 
as the largest operator in Sri Lanka’s poultry industry today, having 
audaciously diversified from our core business of feed milling to 
poultry farming and equipment, veterinary vaccines and pet food. In 

spite of the obstacles faced during the period in focus, we are well on the 
up and up, with our discerning customers’ loyalty intact. We have advanced 
our efficiency by raising our standards for product quality, transparency, 
corporate governance and accountability, along with upgrading our 
technology and streamlining our processes. Our path forward entails 
realising our ultimate goal of becoming an integrated feed milling business 
and contributing to increases in national Agriculture and Livestock 
production. A promising future is in store, that will see us soar to even 
greater heights as we achieve complete synergy in our core business and 
eventually, export market competitiveness.
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Honest FortuneHonourable Winner

Healthy Organisation

Developing a sound, effective and efficient 
organisation system. Promoting team spirit 

and reaching out to create a  
“PRIMA FAMILY” identity.

Establishing trust, fairness and mutual 
benefits with all within our business circle. 
Contributing to the well-being of society.

Achieving success through fair competition. 
Striving towards excellence.

Our corporate philosophy is centred upon the 3H principles of building a 

Healthy Organisation, being an Honourable Winner and making an Honest 

Fortune. This business philosophy is derived from our Parent Company,   

Prima Limited of Singapore.
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Our Vision
“To achieve complete poultry integration synergies, ultimately gaining export 
market competitiveness”

Our Mission
To tap and harness business opportunities by expanding into various vertical 
integration projects. This will lead to increase in Agriculture, Aquaculture and 
Livestock production, thus encouraging national progress through nutritious 
protein-rich food to the people of this Nation.

Our Corporate Goals
In line with our Chairman’s directives and Prima Group corporate philosophy, we will 
continue to grow steadily in our primary activities with the ultimate goal of reaching 
the status of an integrated feed milling business.

Our future expansion plans shall be within our management capability and  
financial resources.

To establish “PRIMA” and “FARMERS’ CHOICE” as a brand name synonymous with the 
very best in high quality products. 

To establish high standards of good corporate governance, improve transparency 
and the standards of accountability to shareholders.
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Our History
Life began for Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC (CGE) way back 
in December 1982, when the Government of Sri Lanka and 
Prima Limited of Singapore inked an agreement beginning 
a partnership that has endured over three decades of 
yeoman service to the poultry industry in the country.

Today, CGE is the largest operator in the poultry industry of 
Sri Lanka, establishing six subsidiary companies operating 
not only in the field of poultry, but also offering products 
and services in diverse fields.

CGE and the companies under its umbrella manufacture 
and distribute a wide range of feeds under the “PRIMA” 
and “FARMERS’ CHOICE” brands. They also operate poultry 
and hatchery breeder farms, commercial poultry farms 
and also engage in the processing, packaging and retailing 
of poultry meat products, the import and sale of poultry 
equipment, veterinary products, produce aqua feed and 
provide a state-of-the-art laboratory and consultancy 
service to customers and farmers throughout the Island.
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Milestones

1982 
Incorporation of Ceylon Grain Elevators

1993 
Incorporation of Ceylon Pioneer 
Poultry Breeders Limited, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of TAF

1996 
Acquisition of Bulathsinhala and 
Halwathura Farms

1998 
Agreement signed between SLPA 
and CWCL to reclaim land from 
the seabed at Mutwal, adjacent 
to CGE factory

1994 
Incorporation of Ceylon 
Warehouse Complex (Private) 
Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of CGE
 
Bonus issue of 1-for-2 share 
capitalising Rs. 150 Million from 
share premium

Right issue of 15 Million ordinary 
shares at a premium of Rs. 15/- 
per share to raise CGE’s issued 
capital to Rs. 600 Million

1995 
Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited 
was incorporated to venture 
further into integrated shrimp 
business

1984 
The Company was listed on the Colombo 
Stock Exchange

First invoiced sale of Animal Feed

1987 
Breeder Farm Project at Kosgama started 
production of Commercial Day-Old Chicks

1991 
Investment in the equity of Ceylon Livestock 
and Agrobusiness Services (Private) Limited 
which undertakes trading activities

1992 
CGE Shares were introduced to the Central 
Depository System at the Colombo Stock 
Exchange

Bonus issue of 1-for-3 share capitalising 
Rs.50 Million from capital reserves

Right issue of Rs.10 Million ordinary shares 
for a premium of Rs. 35 /- per share raising 
CGE’s capital to Rs.300 Million

Acquisition of Three Acre Farms Limited
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2010 
ISO Quality Management System 
certification (ISO 9001:2008)

2013 
Addition of a new feed mill line

2016 
Lease of Ittapana land to increase 
the capacity of Breeder Farms

1999 
Incorporation of Millennium 
Multibreeder Farms (Private) 
Limited, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of TAF

First commercial shrimp feed 
plant established in Sri Lanka. 
Launched “PRIMA SUPER SHRIMP 
FEEDS”

Construction of New Silos - CWCL

2003 
Acquisition of Hijra Farms

2007 
Commencement of Environment 
Controlled House projects at 
Commercial Farms

2009 
Implementation of ERP System

2017 
Fully taking over the operation of poultry 
processing plant

2006 
Investment in Prima Management 
Services (Private) Limited, an 
Associate Company of CGE
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Financial Highlights

   GROUP

   2017 2016 Change %

Operating Results
Revenue Rs. Mn  15,155 14,522 4
Profit for the year Rs. Mn  1,070 1,682 (36)
Dividend (Proposed) Rs. Mn  120 150 (20)
Earnings Per Share (EPS) Rs.  13.17 22.23 (41)
Return on Shareholders’ Funds (ROE) (%)  14% 26% (46)

Balance Sheet Strength
Total Assets Rs. Mn  10,171 8,446 20
Total Debts Rs. Mn  Nil Nil -
Shareholders’ funds (Equity) Rs. Mn  5,712 5,066 13
No. of Shares in Issue Mn  60 60 -
Net Assets Per Share Rs.  95.21 84.44 13
Current ratio No. of times  2.47 2.60 (5)

20
13

2,
88

5

2,
87

6

4,
44

5

5,
66

5

5,
08

1

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Value Added 

(Rs. Mn)

20
13

76
0

47
1 50

2

67
9

1,
06

5

0

500

1,000

1,500

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Net Cash Used in 
Investing Activities

(Rs. Mn)

20
13

47
4 55

0

72
5

92
6

76
0

0

500

1,000

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Earnings per employee 
per annum

(Rs. 000 )

20
13

0

50

100

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Market Price Per Share

(Rs)

35
.5

0

41
.0

0

91
.6

0

82
.9

0

66
.1

0



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

11
Group Overview and

Executive Reviews
Creating Value for 

Stakeholders
Management Discussion 

and Analysis
Financial Reports Investor Highlights 

and Information
Governance

Reports

1.1 Billion
Operating Profit - 1.8 Billion in 2016

13.17 LKR
Earnings Per Share - 22.23 LKR in 2016

2.00 LKR
Dividend Per Share - 2.50 LKR in 2016

Our Numbers at a Glance

15.2 Billion
Revenue - 14.5 Billion in 2016
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Animal Feeds are produced under Prima and Farmer’s Choice brands for the 
majority of farm animals bred for commercial purposes across the Island. 
They are considered the most preferred brands among customers due to being 
synonymous with high quality. 

World renowned Hy-Line Layer, Indian River Breeder and Broiler Chicks are 
provided under Prima Quality Chicks brand which is well accepted by customers of 
diverse sectors.  

Our Product 

Portfolio
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Purveyors of Prima Animal Feed & DOC Chicks  
synonymous with quality
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Our Product 

Portfolio
Augmented with five key attributes and 
available in a wide array of products to 
suit modern lifestyles, Prima Chicken is 
goodness everyone looks forward to!
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Chairman’s Message

“ We are reinforcing 
our premier industry 
leadership position 
and becoming even 
stronger at doing what 
we do well, by doing it 
even better with every 
passing year ”

During the year, the Company laboured under high cost of 
production that stemmed from mounting local and global Maize 
prices and local market glut of chicken which reduced retail prices 
and increased competition in the local market. The substantially 
increased production costs impacted profits, which dropped 
to Rs. 1.07 Billion which is a dip of 36 % over the previous year’s 
profit of Rs.1.68 Billion. However, your company continued to 
grow financial strength and increased net assets per share by a 
comfortable 13 %, to Rs. 95.21, from Rs. 84.44 in 2016.

Corporate Leadership

We have in place a strong foundation of corporate governance 
which incorporates a risk management framework, in which 
we assure our stakeholders that best practices are adopted 
and monitored to preserve CGE’s trusted reputation while 
ensuring the continued economic and operation health of the 
organisation.

Our Corporate Governance framework builds on the core 
principles of accountability, integrity and transparency and 
is the basis for the creation, enhancement and maintenance 
of our business model. It has been institutionalised across all 
segments of the business through a strong set of corporate 
values, a written code of conduct, and a performance 
management system, and is the working structure for 
principled actions, effective decision making and compliance.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Poverty and social inequality are priorities in a developing 
country like ours, preceded only by initiatives to promote 
sustainability of our environment in the present scenario of 
a rapidly changing climate which brings with it a plethora of 
natural disasters.

Your company understands how practicing sustainability in all 
aspects of our business operations makes us more innovative 
as well as enhances our reputation as a responsible corporate. 
Accordingly, we focus on some key areas designed to address 
social equity as well adapt to our environment. In doing so, we 
adopt both a proactive as well as reactive approach.

During the year of review, your company gave assistance to 
victims of extreme weather events as well as met the needs of 
specific segments of marginalised communities. Dilapidated 
infrastructure in the vicinity of some of our farms was also 
uplifted.

Dear Stakeholder,

I am pleased to present our First Integrated Annual Report 
and the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2017. Our continuous performance confirms the fact that 
your company is “on the up and up”.  We are reinforcing our 
premier industry leadership position and becoming even 
stronger at doing what we do well, by doing it even better 
with every passing year. This success has been achieved 
through advanced efficiencies from technology upgrades and 
streamlined processes.

Our Performance

Your company posted a very satisfactory performance this 
year too, surpassing Rs. 15 Billion in group revenue, despite 
various challenges in the local and global markets. It is the 
flourishing outcome of the strategy formulated through 
intensive stakeholder engagement ensuring that our products 
are relevant to an increasingly discerning consumer.
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Dividend

I am extremely pleased to state that your Board has proposed 
a payment of a First and Final dividend of Rs. 2.00 per share for 
the year 2017, subject to the approval of shareholders at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, in appreciation of your 
unwavering faith on us.

The Way Forward

The success with poultry and animal feed development 
has prompted us to look at further utilising our expertise in 
research and development to use our competitive advantage 
and industry experience of three -plus decades to develop 
new and innovative solutions throughout our vertically 
integrated business.

We will also expand our production capacity by strengthening 
processes and infrastructure to reap the benefits of market 
potentials. We are also exploring initiatives to enhance the 
image of our sector by promoting professionalism and 
integrity among the players. This will work towards realising the 
level playing field that the Company has been striving for, for 
the past many decades

Acknowledgement

Our progress in the face of adverse circumstances has been 
due to the invaluable contributions of each of our stakeholders.  
I am indebted to you for your commitment and support. To our 
customers, employees and other business partners, my deep 
appreciation for standing with us during the rough as well as 
the smooth. Please be assured that we will continue to add 
value with new growth and innovations. I am also very pleased 
to have on board an excellent team who are passionate about 
their work and on delivering results. I thank you all for your 
work in ensuring that we retain our position as market leaders 
in the industry.

Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Non-Executive Independent Chairman

Colombo, Sri Lanka
29 March 2018
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“ I believe our ability 
to capture profits 
across the poultry 
value chain will 
boost our capacities 
and infrastructure 
expansion in years to 
come ”

Chief Executive Officer’s Review

Dear Stakeholder,

It is a privilege to present to you our Annual Report for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017.

This was yet another year during which your company was 
successful in sustaining its profitability and maintaining 
efficiencies across-the-board, through effectively monitoring 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and practicing good farm 
and operational management. The Group grew its revenue by  
4 % over the previous year, to Rs. 15.15 Billion and was 
successful in returning a profit of Rs. 1.07 Billion despite higher 
material costs. The Group’s balance sheet remains strong.

Economic Environment

GDP growth slowed in Sri Lanka as the country posted a 
growth of 3.1 % YoY in 2017 as against a growth of 4.5 % in 
the previous year. This slower growth was driven mainly by a 
weakened agriculture sector which posted a 3.3 % negative 
growth in 3Q17. The agriculture sector, the mainstay of the 
economy for decades, made the lowest contribution to GDP 
this year, at just 7.8 %. In spite of lower contribution , the 
agriculture sector is vital to the economy as it sustains the 
livelihoods of the rural population - about 30 % of the country’s 
labour force. This includes self-employed farmers who earn 
their livelihoods from poultry farming and related activities.

Inflation fluctuated at an average of 7.7 % during the year, 
raised food inflation to double digits during the year. The 
continued depreciation of the LKR against the USD raised 
the prices of imported raw materials for feed, which, in turn, 
increased cost of chicken products.

Industry Performance and Outlook

The annual per capita consumption of chicken in Sri Lanka, 
stood 7.5 Kg per capita and is likely to increase further. 
Expectations are that poultry demand in Sri Lanka will continue 
to grow, in keeping with urbanisation, rapidly expanding 
fast food culture, improvement of tourism and growth in 
the Hotels, Restaurant and Catering (HoReCa) sector. Tourist 
arrivals increased, from 2.0 Million in 2016 to 2.1 Million in 2017, 
which contributed positively to HoReCa sector that demands 
processed chicken products.

Sourcing of quality raw material at fair market prices remain 
challenging for the industry. It is important that permits be 
more forthcoming to import Maize to overcome the shortfall 
in the quality and quantity of Maize in the country. Extreme 
weather is now an ongoing challenge to the agriculture sector 
as it destroys infrastructure as well as Maize crops.

The increase of corporate tax rate from 12 % to 28 % which 
is applicable to feed millers, will have an extra burden on the 
Company’s income tax liability from 2018 onwards.

Performance Review

The Group explored new markets and opportunities which 
led to revenue growth (Rs. 15.15 Billion). The operating profits 
declined by 39 % to Rs.1.10 Billion over previous year, as a result 
of escalating cost of production (COP). A key reason for the 
high COP was the price of Maize which rose by 22 % during 
the year to Rs. 50/Kg, from Rs. 41/Kg in 2016.

15.15 Billion
Group Revenue 
4% over 2016

Sources of economic and industry data: www.statistics.gov.lk, www.cbsl.gov.lk,  
www.sltda.lk, www.daph.gov.lk
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We were able to improve financial stability during the year 
2017 which marked Rs. 10.17 Billion of total assets. This was 
followed by positive increases in net assets per share to  
Rs. 95.21 per share from Rs. 84.44 per share in 2016. Working 
capital increased to Rs. 4.03 Billion in 2017 from  
Rs. 3.32 Billion in 2016 which signifies efficiency in working 
capital management.

The Company has introduced a cattle feed range during the 
year to support Government efforts to boost the local dairy 
industry. In addition, the newly introduced poultry breeder 
feed range reinforces the company’s quality poultry feed 
formula for the betterment of the other poultry breeders in the 
industry. The acquisition of a poultry processing plant during 
the year improved operational efficiencies as well as stringent 
quality controls.

Developing Our People

Our staff have been key contributors to our continued 
excellence and success. Many of them have had a long-term 
commitment with the Company, and were rewarded this year 
for their loyalty, with service recognition awards. We provide 
them with on-the-job as well as overseas training and skills and 
career development opportunities, for their professional and 
personal development.

Technology and Innovation

Our brands continue to hold dominant market positions. 
We secure our market leadership by introducing new 
technology initiatives. These initiatives have enabled us to 
diversify our product offerings to the customer. The advanced 
research carried out in our state-of-the-art laboratories and 
experimental farms also supports our initiatives to improve 
product quality and range.

Our Commitment to Communities

Your company has introduced a number of initiatives that 
have contributed towards developing the rural areas in which 
our farms are located. These initiatives include the outgrower 
scheme that sustains smallholder poultry farmers, sourcing 
poultry products from among the indigenous farming 
communities as well as providing these communities with 
direct and indirect employment. By giving priority to Maize 
purchases from local growers, the Company demonstrates 
that our commitment to social responsibility goes beyond the 
economic value.

Future Outlook

We anticipate positive local and global market potential which 
will drive the Group’s growth and expansion. We are expanding 
the processing operation and investing more in Research 
and Development (R&D) and market intelligence in new 
technology. I believe our ability to capture profits across the 
poultry value chain will boost our capacities and infrastructure 
expansion in years to come. Expected changes in the Land 
Alienation Act by the Government will facilitate our expansion 
projects in the coming years. Our initiatives will nurture the 
trust and confidence of our consumers, by providing them 
with nutritious, healthy and safe poultry products.

Acknowledgment

Strong brand recognition, customer loyalty, conformance 
to stringent quality standards and our market share have 
strengthened our position as the market leader in the face 
of increasing competition. As always, the support of our 
partners and stakeholders remains an invaluable asset to our 
continuous growth and development. We are proud to have 
been able to reward your commitment to the Company by 
consistently increasing the value of CGE.

Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Colombo, Sri Lanka
29 March 2018
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Raising our 
standards
Higher standards have helped us achieve our 
corporate goals while the values we share with 
our stakeholders have been innovatively and 
dynamically integrated into all we do.
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Board of Directors

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Non-Executive Independent Chairman

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Executive Director  

and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Tan Beng Chuan
Executive Director 

and Group General Manager

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria 
was appointed as a Non-Executive 
Independent Director with effect from 
15 January 2015 and he was appointed 
as the  Non-Executive Independent 
Chairman of the Board with effect from 
25 February 2015. 

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria 
holds a Masters in Information 
Technology (University of Canberra, 
Australia), a Graduate Diploma in 
Commercial Law (Australian National 
University) (ANU) and a Bachelor of 
Science (ANU).

Currently, he is a Vice President of the 
FINCO Group of companies as the 
Chief Executive of Genesiis Software 
Pvt. Ltd. and FINCO Technologies Pvt. 
Ltd., and a Director of Wealth Trust 
Securities Ltd.

He has served as a Manager / 
Consultant at several Australian 
public sector agencies including 
the Department of Primary Industry, 
Department of Education and 
Department of Foreign Affairs and 
Trade.

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus was the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
of the Prima Group and its subsidiary 
companies since 1998. He has stepped 
down as Chairman of the Board and 
will continue as an Executive Director 
and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company with effect from 25 February 
2015. He is a Certified Practicing 
Accountant (CPA) - Australia and also 
holds a Diploma in Business Studies.

Mr. Tan Beng Chuan is the Group 
General Manager of Prima Group of 
Companies, Sri Lanka since 2004. He 
was appointed as a Director of the 
Company and its subsidiary companies 
in 2004. He also serves as a Director 
of Three Acre Farms PLC and its 
subsidiaries, Ceylon Agro-Industries 
Limited and Prima Ceylon Machinery 
(Private) Limited.

He holds an MBA in Management and 
Marketing from University of Warwick, 
UK and B.Sc. (Hon) in Chemical 
Engineering from University of Surrey 
UK.

Mr. Tan Beng Chuan was the past 
President Mentor of Singapore (Sri 
Lanka) Club; Executive Committee 
member of Sri Lanka - Canada Business 
Council, Executive Committee member 
of Sri Lanka - Singapore Business 
Council and a Committee member of 
Sri Lanka - China Business Council.
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Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Cheng Eng Loong
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake
Non-Executive Independent Director

Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard has 
been a Director of the Company with 
effect from 1 August 2012. He also 
serves as an Executive Director of Prima 
Limited.

He holds a Bachelor of Science in 
Business Administration and also an 
MBA from the University of Southern 
California.

Mr. Cheng Eng Loong has been a 
Director of the Company with effect 
from 1 August 2012.

He holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree majoring in Biochemistry and 
Chemistry from the National University 
of Singapore.

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake has been a 
Director of the Company since 2009. 
He was appointed as Senior Director 
of the Board with effect from 25 
February 2015 and was re-appointed 
as Non-Executive Independent 
Director with effect from 15 April 
2015. He holds fellowship of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka and Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (UK) and a 
MBA from the Postgraduate Institute 
of Management of the University of Sri 
Jayawardenapura. He has also obtained 
a Diploma in Commercial Arbitration 
from the Institute of Commercial Law 
and Practice.
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Corporate Governance Review

1. Corporate Governance

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC (CGE) is committed to upholding 
the highest standards of integrity and transparency in its 
governance of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The mechanism of good governance promotes corporate 
fairness, transparency and accountability by incorporating 
modern ethical business practices with a view of providing 
strategic direction, achieving corporate objectives, ensuring 
accountable corporate behavior while safeguarding the 
business by effective risk management strategies.

We believe that a well established corporate structure, process 
and diligent practice of corporate governance is vital to stand 
through competitor rivalry, inspire shareholder confidence and 
their reliance on us.

2. Our Approach

CGE perceives effective corporate governance as the platform 
to enhance company value in a responsible manner; not a 
set of rules that suppresses growth. Responsible corporate 
behavior and transparency dictate our pursuit in creating value.

Over the years, CGE has won and kept the trust of its 
shareholders, customers, employees and stakeholders by 
keeping to a well set order of principles and practices. These 
entail integrity, fairness, transparency and responsibility at all 
times. Keeping to its proud history the governance structure 
embodies our core values and corporate social responsibilities 
that they are in keeping with the best practices of good 
corporate governance as laid out by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka), the Companies Act 
No. 07 of 2007 and the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock 
Exchange.

3. The Code of Conduct

There is a well structured Code of Conduct that functions 
at CGE. This maintains the standard for sustainability, 
accountability and transparency across its entire operations. 
This Code is set out as follows:

 Â Trust, professionalism and integrity in all partnerships and 
transactions

 Â Continuous professional development along with the 
Company and individual compliance with all rules and 
regulations

 Â Conduct business in an ethical manner in keeping with 
international industry standards

 Â Always act in the best interests of the Company, ensuring 
transparency in all matters

4. Policy into Practice

The overall responsibility for good governance, transparency, 
stewardship and the accountability towards stakeholders 
is borne by the Board of Directors. Hence, the practicality 
of these relies on their ability to facilitate fulfillment of 
such responsibilities. The Board has in place a governance 
framework consisting of a governance structure and a 
process to execute its policies and monitor effectiveness. The 
framework includes the regulatory benchmarks, structure 
of the key stakeholder groups facilitated by an assurance 
mechanism which will ensure that good governance practices 
are properly adhered.

4.1 Internal governance structure

There is a well ordered structure as the internal governance 
structure of the Company which is made up of the Board 
of Directors and consists of the Executive Director and 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Executive Director and Group 
General Manager, two (2) Non-Executive Directors and two 
(2) Independent Non-Executive Directors who have a proper 
understanding of the business.

This internal governance structure is so designed that the 
executive authority is entrusted and designated through the 
committee structure. This stipulates that the CEO and the 
managers who function for each section are accountable 
and responsible for the day to day operations including 
the functioning of the business units of the Group. These 
responsibilities and accountabilities for each such sector are set 
in place and agreed upon in advance. This ensures that there is 
a seamless continuous flow of operations.

Ensuring exemplary governance across all aspects of 
business for the best interests of our stakeholders.
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Figure 1: Governance Framework.

The Management Committee is a vital part of the Company’s 
management structure and is headed by the CEO. He is 
empowered to act on behalf of the Company. The members 
of this Management Committee are: The Group General 
Manager, the General Manager, the Board of Directors, the 
Audit Committee and the Senior Management Committee. 
These positions and committees are complemented by strong 
internal governance procedures and systems. These are set in 
motion by the Group business plan. Such mechanisms within 
the governance structure ensure proper implementation and 
execution of the Group’s corporate governance framework.

4.2 Governance Culture

Effective governance is always followed by a high level 
of commitment across the organisation and it is essential 
creating a culture which enables good governance right 
through the organisational processes which requires the 
awareness of all levels. Hence, we expect all our employees 
to preserve the corporate values, the code of conduct as well 
as the business ethics in achieving the objectives individually 
and as a whole. The sustainability of the governance principles 
is facilitated by aligning the CGE’s performance driven culture 
with business value creation along with the continuous efforts 
of improving the governance framework and processes.
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5. The Board of Directors

5.1 Board responsibilities

In carrying out its responsibilities, the Board promotes a culture 
of openness, steadiness and consistency in decision making 
which enhances the transparency and accountability of the 
company’s core functions.

The CGE Board of Directors are responsible for the following:

 Â Managing the Group efficiently and profitably on behalf of 
the shareholders.

 Â Ensuring that the Group accomplishes its goals.

 Â Meeting regularly to establish and maintain the Company’s 
direction and position.

 Â Providing guidance and direction to ensure that the Group 
is adequately resourced and effectively controlled.

 Â Reviewing the Group’s operating and financial performance.

 Â Ensuring compliance with laws, regulations and ethical 
standards.

 Â Ensuring stakeholder interests are considered in corporate 
decisions.

There are also a number of other duties the Board of Directors 
are responsible for. These include the supervision of corporate 
governance issues. In the current year the Board had sought 
professional advice on matters that needed specialised 
expertise such as litigation matters from the Company’s 
lawyers. The provision for the Company’s Director’s to retire 
by rotation has also been recommended by the Board many 
times.

The Board collectively and the Directors individually act in 
accordance with the laws of the Country. Meanwhile the Board 
takes collective responsibility for the management, direction 
and performance of the Group.

5.2 Board’s Principal Roles and Functions

Providing Strategic Direction

The Board of Directors is collectively responsible to 
establish the Group’s general directions, corporate policies, 
overall strategic objectives and corporate plans which are 
communicated to the Management Committee. They also lay 
out a schedule of issues and directions which could only be 
approved by the Board as monitoring controls.

Additionally, Board approval is required on all matters 
relevant to overall strategy, annual budget, business plans, 
management information, reported Financial Statements, 

dividends, investments and business acquisitions. The Board 
is also responsible for continually reviewing and monitoring 
of the performance of the Group against the set objectives 
while directing the Management Committee on specific action 
points.

Communication with Shareholders

Communication with shareholders is important and CGE 
communicates with its shareholders on a number of issues as it 
believes in transparency. The Board is responsible for reporting 
statutory and relevant information to shareholders regularly 
and in a timely and accurate manner. In order to ensure 
transparency at all times, the Board has laid down very definite 
policies in relation to keeping accurate records of accounts 
together with the preparation of Financial Statements to 
represent a balanced view of the Group. The Board also takes 
measures to report statutory and all relevant information with 
full disclosure of all major transactions to shareholders’ in a 
timely and accurate manner. Meanwhile, the Group welcomes 
shareholders independent advice on matters of investment 
and divestment. Quarterly and Annually results are prepared 
and presented in accordance with the Sri Lanka Accounting 
Standards, Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, Colombo Stock 
Exchange (CSE) policies and the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) regulations.

Overseeing Risk Management

Another important duty is overseeing risk management. The 
Board is responsible to regularly evaluate the risk factors of 
the Group and current control systems and regularly make 
policy recommendations on risk factors and the improvement 
of controls. The formulation of the risk management process 
overseen by the Board ensures that an effective system is 
implemented to identify, evaluate and manage significant 
risks encountered by the Group in protecting its assets and 
processes. This risk management process is regularly reviewed 
by the Board on the basis of guidelines set by relevant 
regulatory bodies. The Management Committee is responsible 
for the detail, design and operation of the system of internal 
controls with regard to the risk management. However, the 
Board maintains overall responsibility to manage risks within 
the Group. CGE has also in place a well established control 
framework consisting of clear structures and accountabilities, 
well understood policies, procedures with budgeting and 
review processes. Each business segment of the Group has 
a formal management structure with clear responsibilities 
operating within clearly defined policies which cover the areas 
of product safety, financial matters, health and safety, the 
environment, human resources, operation matters, purchasing 
and engineering.

Corporate Governance Review
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Compliance

The Board is also responsible to ensure that the Group always 
operates within the law, regulations and standards as laid 
down by the various regulatory bodies in the country. The 
Board is also constantly updated with information with regard 
to compliance and directs the Management Committee 
regarding any action that needs to be taken.

Appointments to Board Committees

The Board of Directors is further responsible to appoint 
members to the various Board Committees and ensure that 
they act in accordance with the terms of reference as set out 
by the Board. The Board of Directors in turn appoints Directors 
to the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and Related Party 
Transactions Review Committees along with Directors and 
Key Senior Management personnel to the Management 
Committee. Each such Committee would act within its own 
set of terms of reference. An expanded review of each such 
Committee’s function is described further in this report.

5.3 Board Composition

The Board consisted of six members during the year 2017, with 
two (2) Executive Directors, two (2) Non-Executive Directors 
and two (2) Non-Executive Independent Directors. This 
composition complies with the Listing Rules of the Colombo 
Stock Exchange, which requires a minimum of two or one third 
of the Board be independent Directors.

The Group policy is to maintain a healthy balance between 
Executive, Non-Executive and Non-Executive Independent 
Directors in order that value addition is provided to all 
stakeholders with the Executive Directors bringing in 
deep knowledge of the business and the Non-Executive 
Independent Directors bringing in experience, objectivity and 
independent oversight.

5.4 Board Evaluations

The Board periodically appraises its own and its sub 
committees’ performance in order to ensure that their 
responsibilities are properly carried out in fairness to the 
Company and to the stakeholders. For the year under 
consideration an assessment was made with regard to the 
Board composition and they reached the conclusion that the 
current knowledge and expertise of the current Board matches 
the strategic demands of the Group. A brief profile of individual 
members of the Board is carried on pages 22 to 23 in this 
report.

5.4.1 Appraisal of Chief Executive Officer

At the end of each fiscal year, the Remuneration Committee 
assesses the performance of the Chief Executive Officer on the 
basis of pre-agreed goals at the commencement of the fiscal 
year, set in consultation with the Board, covering the following 
broad aspects:

 Â Creating and adding shareholder value.

 Â Developing human capital.

 Â Building sustainable external relations.

 Â Enhancing the stakeholder value.

 Â Ensuring integrity and good governance in the Group.

5.5 Board Skills

Board diversity is an emerging factor to be considered when 
formulating the balance of a Board which enables them 
to make collective decisions more effectively with a wide 
exposure to the fields of finance, administration, management, 
law, economics, marketing, taxation and human resources. All 
directors possess the skills, knowledge and expertise along 
with a high sense of integrity and judgement. In addition, 
the Board has ensured the availability within it of those with 
financial acumen and knowledge to offer guidance on matters 
of finance.

CGE is ever mindful of the need to maintain an appropriate mix 
of skills and expertise in the Board. Hence, timely review of its 
composition is performed by ensuring the skill representation 
is matched with the current and future needs of the Group. 

5.5.1    Procedure to obtain independent professional 
advice

A Director is permitted to obtain independent professional 
advice that may be required in discharging his responsibilities, 
at the Company’s expense in order to strengthen the decision 
making. This is generally coordinated through the Board 
Secretary.

5.5.2 Continuous Training and Development

The Group is dedicated for empowering every member of 
its team with opportunities to enhance their individual skills, 
knowledge and expertise. This facility is extended to the 
Board of Directors as well. Such development programmes 
available to Board members begin with a comprehensive 
induction programme that ensures new Board members 
garner the required knowledge to integrate well and perform 
efficiently. This programme which is conducted over a 
period of various months, includes presentations from key 
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members of Senior Management and also visits to the various 
operating businesses of the Group. If a Director seek a deeper 
understanding on a particular area, further follow-up meetings 
are arranged to make available the required knowledge to the 
Board member.

5.6 Changes to the Board

5.6.1 Board Tenure

Directors are appointed and recommended for re-election 
until their prescribed company retirement age.

5.6.2 Retirement

At all Annual General Meetings one third of the Directors 
retire by rotation on the basis prescribed in the Articles of the 
Association of the Company and are eligible for re-election. 
Directors who retire are those who have been longest in office 
since their appointment or re-election. In addition any new 
director who has been appointed to the Board during the year 
is required to stand for re-election at the next Annual General 
Meeting.

5.6.3 Re-election

The re-election of Directors ensures that the shareholders have 
an opportunity to reassess the composition of the Board. The 
names of the Directors submitted for re-election are provided 
to the shareholders in advance to enable them to make an 
informed decision concerning their election.

Names of retiring Directors eligible for re-election this year 
are given in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.

5.7 Timely Supply of Information

All members of the Board are continually updated and 
supplied with timely, accurate and comprehensive information 
to enable them to perform their duties successfully. Therefore 
this enables board members to engage in a healthy debate 
and a process of optimised decision making towards the 
betterment of the Company. Directors are provided access to:

 Â Board minutes and reports which are circulated before 
Board meetings.

 Â Clarification on any matter contained in the minutes.

 Â The advice of experts and professionals if required.

 Â Advice and services provided by the Company Secretary.

 Â Information wherever necessary to carry out duties and 
responsibilities more effectively and efficiently.

 Â Information updates from management on topical matters, 
formulation of new regulations, and best practices as 
relevant to the Group’s business.

5.8 The Chairman of the Board

The Non-Executive Independent Chairman of the Board Mr. 
Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria, is entrusted with a number of 
responsibilities including providing leadership to the Board, 
ensuring Board effectiveness in its myriad roles, also chairing 
Board meetings and steering it in the proper direction, taking 
responsibility for the Board’s composition, facilitating the 
effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors and also 
ensuring that there is positive relationship between the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors.

5.9 Board Meetings

In accordance with Company principles and practices the 
Board met four (4) times over the past year to review the 
overall strategic development of the Group. The Chairman 
is responsible to provide leadership to the Board and the 
conducting of business at meetings and also to facilitate the 
effective contribution of all members. He is also responsible 
to facilitate the effective contribution of all members and to 
implement strategies and ensure that the Board operates 
effectively in keeping with the interests of the shareholders.

The Company Secretaries, SSP Corporate Services, are in turn 
responsible on behalf of the Chairman to ensure that all Board 
meetings are conducted in a proper manner and that all 
Directors receive the necessary information prior to meetings 
so that the Board could review the Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s).

In addition the Company Secretaries also guide the Board in 
order that good governance practices are considered and 
implemented. Meanwhile, the Board is brought up to date 
on the latest financial position of the Company by the Group 
General Manager.

5.9.1 Board Minutes

The Board minutes are prepared by the Company Secretary. 
In the event of a matter not being unanimously adopted at a 
Board meeting, the concerns expressed at such situations are 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting minutes. Minutes of 
the Board meetings are circulated to all Directors and adopted 
at a subsequent Board meeting.

Corporate Governance Review



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

29
Group Overview and

Executive Reviews
Creating Value for 

Stakeholders
Management Discussion 

and Analysis
Financial Reports Investor Highlights 

and Information
Governance

Reports

5.10 Board Committees

Some functions of the Board have been delegated to Board Committees which are responsible to monitor, review and enhance the 
accountability in certain areas. These committees serve as an effective oversight mechanism over several activities of the company 
while safeguarding the good governance practices of the Group.

The five Board Sub Committees are as follows:
I. Management Committee

II. Remuneration Committee

III. Audit Committee

IV. Nomination Committee

V. Related Party Transactions Review Committee

The above committees carry out their duties and responsibilities in accordance with the terms of reference as set out by the Board. 
The proceedings of their meetings are regularly communicated to the Board.

Figure 2 : Composition of the Board and Board Committees and attendance at Meetings for 2017

Name of the 
Directors

Capacity No. of 
shares 
held

Board Audit 
Committee

Nomination  
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Related Party  
Transactions 

Review 
Committee

Position No. of 
meetings 

held 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

Position Position Position Position

Mr. Wickrema 

Senaka 

Weerasooria

Non-

Executive 

Independent 

Chairman

2,800 Chairman 4 4 Member Chairman Chairman Chairman

Mr. Cheng Chih 

Kwong, Primus

Executive 

Director 

and Chief 

Executive 

Officer

397 Member 4 3 - Member - -

Mr. Tan Beng 

Chuan

Executive 

Director 

and Group 

General 

Manager 

- Member 4 4 - - - Member

Mr. Cheng Koh 

Chuen, Bernard

Non-

Executive 

Director 

- Member 4 3 - - - -

Mr. Cheng Eng 

Loong

Non-

Executive 

Director

- Member 4 4 - - - -

Mr. Sunil 

Karunanayake

Non-

Executive 

Independent 

Director

- Member 4 4 Chairman Member Member Member
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5.10.1 Group Management Committee

Members are selected by the Board. The Management 
Committee is responsible for the following:

 Â Implementing Group strategy.

 Â Monitoring business performance.

 Â Approve budgets and capital expenditure 
recommendations to the Board.

 Â Ensure efficient management to the Group.

The Management Committee has also been vested with the 
authority to implement Board decisions. This authority is 
exercised within the policy framework as stipulated by the 
Board.

The Management Committee meets once a month to discuss 
and evaluate various topics including segmental performance 
of the Group, business development plans, financial and 
operating budgets and forecasts, capital expenditure 
proposals, management issues and Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI’s). The Board constantly reviews, reports from 
the Management Committee and also from executives 
and sectional heads of key risk areas and makes decisions 
pertaining to the segmental performance. The Management 
Committee has the right to run the business of the Group 
as they deem fit to meet the demand of the customers of 
the Group and the strategic and financial targets that have 
been set by the Board in addition to the required corporate 
guidelines. Such a deregulated structure is necessary to 
ensure that fast decisions are made and implemented, speedy 
innovation at a rate as demanded by the customer while 
providing products and services to consumers catering to their 
specific needs.

5.10.2 Remuneration Committee

This Committee is responsible to the Board to determine the 
remuneration policy for the Executive Directors and Senior 
Managers. Remuneration Committee comprises of two (2) 
Non-Executive Independent Directors, one of whom is the 
Chairman of the Committee who is appointed by the Board. 
The detailed report by the Remuneration Committee appears 
on page 39 of this report.

5.10.3  Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is entrusted with keeping the 
Board composition under review while facilitating a formal and 
transparent procedure for all new appointments to the Board. 
The Nomination Committee consists of one (1) Executive 

Director and two (2) Independent Non-Executive Directors one 
of whom is the Chairman of the Committee who is appointed by 
the Board. The report by the Committee appears on page 40.

5.10.4 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible to assist the Board in 
accomplishing its oversight responsibilities in the financial 
reporting process. The Audit Committee consists of two 
(2) Independent Non-Executive Directors one of whom is 
appointed by the Board and is the Chairman of the Committee. 
The detailed Audit Committee Report appears on pages 37 
and 38 of this report.

5.10.5  Related Party Transactions Review Committee

The Related Party Transactions Review Committee was formed 
to strengthen the effective management and oversight of 
related party transactions of the Group. 

Details of the Related Party Transactions Review Committee are 
disclosed in the Related Party Transactions Review Committee 
Report on pages 41 and 42 of this Report.

6.  Shareholder/Investor Relationship

Stakeholder Management is a key component in CGE’s 
corporate governance mechanism.

The primary model of communication between the Company 
and its shareholders are through the Annual Report, Quarterly 
Reports and the Annual General Meetings (AGM).

6.1  Release of Information to the public and CSE

All the material and price sensitive information is timely 
communicated to the CSE in order to minimise the information 
gap among shareholders/investors.

6.2 Annual General Meetings (AGM)

The effective relationship with shareholders is maintained by 
conducting AGMs where every shareholder is given a chance 
to vote and raise specific queries regarding the Company 
operations.

6.3 Serious Loss of Capital

In the unlikely event that the Company’s net assets fall below 
a half of the stated capital, the shareholders would be notified 
of an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) in terms of section 
220 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

Corporate Governance Review
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7. Internal Control 
Mechanism

The effectiveness of the 
internal control system of 
CGE is ensured via frequent 
reviews and a proper 
monitoring mechanism. The 
Board of Directors including 
the Audit Committee 
are responsible for the 
Company’s system of internal 
controls and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. The system is 
designed to safeguard assets 
of the company against 
unauthorised use or disposal 
along with a well structured 
documentation procedure. It 
includes all controls as such 
financial, operational, risk 
management, compliance 
controls and etc.

The internal audit function 
of the Group is carried out 
by the Group internal audit 
division to make sure the 
internal control function of 
the Company is functioning 
properly according to the 
Company standards.

The Audit Committee 
carries out reviews of the 
process and effectiveness 
of risk management and 
internal controls, and to 
document to the Board 
in order for the Board to 
take the responsibility for 
the disclosures on internal 
controls where the ultimate 
responsibility of maintaining 
a sound system of internal 
controls relies.

8. Best Practices

The governance practices of CGE are based on the company core beliefs on corporate 
sustainability through good governance practices within the Group. Apart from being fully 
compliant with the regulatory requirements relating to good governance, we strongly believe 
the best practices are the backbone of the Group’s transparency towards our ethical business 
philosophy which affirms the sustainable growth and shareholder satisfaction towards us.

8.1  Regulation Framework

The corporate governance is practiced in CGE via a well structured regulation framework which 
consists of statues, regulations, codes, internal and external governance systems, control and 
certification mechanisms (illustrated in figure 1) on page 25.

8.2  Compliance and Adherence

Compliance to the mandatory and voluntary regulatory governance requirements is confirmed 
via an effective monitoring mechanism within the Group by timely reviewing the governance 
structure and the level of adherence to those specific references by the Board of Directors and 
specific sub committees. The level of the compliance is stated in the table 1 appearing on page 31.

The extent of compliance with the Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance jointly issued 
by SEC and CA Sri Lanka is presented from  pages 35 to 36.

Regulation Specifics Remarks

The Code of Best Practice 
on Corporate Governance 
jointly issued by SEC and CA 
Sri Lanka

The Code of Best Practices on 
Corporate Governance

All requirements of the Code 
and the level of compliance is 
disclosed on pages 35 to 36.

Listing Rules of the CSE Disclosure requirements 
for the Listed companies of 
CSE including on Corporate 
Governance

Complied. Disclosures are 
stated on pages 32 to 36.

Articles of Association Requirement stated in the 
Articles of Association of the 
Group

Complied

The Code of Ethics Compliance requirements 
applicable to all employees

All the employees sign a 
declaration to the effect that 
they will follow the Code of 
Ethics

Stakeholder Engagement Report provides information 
to all stakeholders with regard 
to the most material areas 
that are identified through 
stakeholder engagement

Engagement with key 
stakeholders are reported in 
the Stakeholder Engagement 
on pages 54 to 55.
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9.  Disclosures

The table given below provides the relevant details and disclosures mandated by the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and the Listing 
Rules of CSE.

9.1 Disclosures required by the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007

Section 
Reference

Requirement Annual Report 
Reference

168 (1) (a) The nature of the business of the Group and the Company together with any change thereof 
during the accounting period

Page 97

168 (1) (b) Signed Financial Statements of the Group and the Company for the accounting period 
completed

Pages 102 to 152

168 (1) (c) Auditors’ Report on Financial Statements of the Group and the Company Page 101

168 (1) (d) Accounting policies and any changes therein Pages 106 to 117

168 (1) (e) Particulars of the entries made in the interest register during the accounting period Page 97

168 (1) (f ) Remuneration and other benefits paid to Directors of the Company during the accounting 
period

Page 147

168 (1) (g) Corporate donations made by the Company during the accounting period Page 97

168 (1) (h) Information on the Directorate of the Company and its subsidiaries during and at the end of 
the accounting period

Page 97 and 148

168 (1) (i) Amounts paid/payable to the External Auditor as audit fees and fees for other services 
rendered during the accounting period

Page 98 

168 (1) (j) Auditors’ relationship or any interest with the company and its Subsidiaries Page 98

168 (1) (k) Acknowledgement of the contents of this Report and Signatures on behalf of the Board Pages 99 to 100
  
9.2 Disclosures required by Section 7.10 of the Listing Rules of the CSE

Rule No Subject Requirement Compliance 
status

Remarks

Disclosures Regarding Board of Directors

7.10.1 (a) Non-Executive 
Directors

Two or one third of the total number of 
Directors shall be Non-Executive Directors, 
whichever is higher. 

Compliant
Corporate Governance 
Review - Page 29

7.10.2 (a) Independent 
Directors

Two or one third of Non-Executive Directors, 
whichever is higher shall be Independent.

Compliant
Corporate Governance 
Review - Page 29

7.10.2 (b) Independent 
Directors

Each Non-Executive Director should submit 
a declaration of independence / non-
independence in the prescribed format.

Compliant
Non-Executive Directors 
have submitted declaration 
during the year 2017

7.10.3 (a) Disclosure relating 
to Directors

Names of Independent Directors should be 
disclosed in the Annual Report.

Compliant
Board of Directors - Pages 
22 to 23

7.10.3 (b) Disclosure relating 
to Directors

The basis for the Board to determine a 
Director is Independent, if criteria specified 
for Independence is not met.

Compliant

The Board has determined 
the Independency / Non- 
Independency of each Non-
Executive Director

Corporate Governance Review
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Rule No Subject Requirement Compliance 
status

Remarks

7.10.3 (c ) Disclosure relating 
to Directors

A brief resume of each Director should be 
included in the Annual Report including the 
area of expertise.

Compliant
Board of Directors - Pages 
22 to 23

7.10.4 
(a-h)

Determination of 
Independence

Requirements for meeting criteria of 
‘Independence’.

Compliant

The Board has determined 
the Independency of each 
Non-Executive Director 
during the year 2017

Disclosures Regarding the Remuneration Committee

7.10.5 Remuneration 
Committee

A Listed Company shall have a 
Remuneration Committee.

Compliant
Remuneration Committee 
Report - Page 39

7.10.5 (a) Composition of 
Remuneration 
Committee

The Committee shall consist of Non-
Executive Directors, a majority of whom 
shall be independent.

Compliant
Remuneration Committee 
Report - Page 39

7.10.5 (b) Functions of 
Remuneration 
Committee

The Remuneration Committee shall 
recommend the remuneration of the Chief 
Executive Officer and Executive Directors.

Compliant
Remuneration Committee 
Report - Page 39

7.10.5 (c) Disclosure in 
the Annual 
Report relating 
to Remuneration 
Committee

The Annual Report should set out:

a. Names of Directors comprising the 
Remuneration Committee.

Compliant
Remuneration Committee 
Report - Page 39

b. Statement of Remuneration Policy.
Compliant

Remuneration Committee 
Report - Page 39

c. Aggregated remuneration paid to 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors. Compliant

Note 31.1- Key Management 
Personnel information - 
Page 148

Disclosures Regarding the Audit Committee

7.10.6 Audit Committee A Listed Company shall have an Audit 
Committee.

Compliant
Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

7.10.6 (a) Composition of 
Audit Committee

The Committee shall comprise Non-
Executive Directors, the majority of whom 
shall be independent. The Chairman of 
the Committee should be a Member of a 
recognised professional accounting body.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

7.10.6 (b) Functions of Audit 
Committee

a. Overseeing of the preparation, 
presentation and adequacy of disclosures 
in the Financial Statements of a Listed 
Entity, in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37
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Rule No Subject Requirement Compliance 
status

Remarks

7.10.6 (b) Functions of 
Audit Committee 
(Contd.)

b. Overseeing of the Entity’s compliance 
with financial reporting requirements, 
information requirements of the 
Companies Act and other relevant 
financial reporting related regulations and 
requirements. 

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

c. Overseeing the processes to ensure that 
the Entity’s internal controls and risk 
management are adequate, to meet the 
requirements of the Sri Lanka Auditing 
Standards.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

d. Assessment of the independence and 
performance of the Entity’s external 
auditors.

Compliant
Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

e. To make recommendations to the 
Board pertaining to appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of 
external auditors and to approve the 
remuneration and Terms of Engagement 
of the external auditors.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

7.10.6 (c) Disclosure in 
Annual Report 
relating to Audit 
Committee

a. Names of Directors comprising the Audit 
Committee.

Compliant
Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

b. The Audit Committee shall make a 
determination of the independence of 
the Auditors and disclose the basis for 
such determination.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

c. The Annual Report shall contain a Report 
of the Audit Committee setting out of 
the manner of compliance with their 
functions.

Compliant

Audit Committee Report - 
Page 37

9.3      Disclosures required by Section 9.3.2 of the Listing Rules of the CSE 

Rule No Disclosure Requirement Section Reference Page 
Reference

9.3.2 (a) In the case of Non-recurrent Related Party Transactions, if aggregate value 
of the Non-recurrent Related Party Transactions exceeds 10 % of the 
equity or 5 % of the Total Assets whichever is lower, of the Listed Entity 
according to the latest Audited Financial Statements.

Related Party 
Transactions Note 
in the Financial 
Statements

Page 151

9.3.2 (b) In the case of Recurrent Related Party Transactions, if the aggregate 
value of the recurrent Related Party Transactions exceeds 10 % of the Net 
revenue/income as per the latest Audited Financial Statements

Related Party 
Transactions Note 
in the Financial 
Statements

Pages 149 to 
150

Corporate Governance Review
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Rule No Disclosure Requirement Section Reference Page 
Reference

9.3.2 (c) Annual Report shall contain a report compiled by the RPT Review
Committee including the following:

 Â Names of the Directors who are in the Committee
 Â Statement with regard to related party transactions reviewed during 
the financial year

 Â Number of times the Committee has met during the financial year
 Â Policies and procedures adopted by the RPT Committee

Related Party 
Transactions Review 
Committee Report

Page 41

9.3.2 (d) A declaration by the Board of Directors as an affirmative statement of 
the compliance with the rules pertaining to Related Party Transactions 
or a negative statement in the event the Entity has not entered into any 
Related Party Transactions.

Report of the Board 
of Directors on the 
State of Affairs of the 
Company

Page 42

9.4 Disclosures required by the Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance jointly issued by SEC and CA Sri Lanka.

Rule Subject Compliance 
Status

Reference

A . Directors

A.1 Effective Board to Control the Company Yes Corporate Governance Section (5)

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Yes No one individual has unfettered powers over decisions

A.3 Chairman’s Role Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.8)

A.4 Financial Acumen Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.5)

A.5 Board Balance Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.3)

A.6 Supply of Information Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.7)

A.7 Appointments to the Board
Yes

Corporate Governance Section (5.10.3), Nomination 
Committee Report, Board Profiles

A.8 Re-election Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.6.3)

A.9 Appraisal of Board Performance Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.4)

A.10 Disclosure of Information in respect of Directors Yes Board of Directors

A.11 Appraisal of Chief Executive Officer Yes Corporate Governance Section (5.4.1)

B. Directors’ Remuneration

B.1 Remuneration Procedure
Yes

Corporate Governance Section (5.10.2), Remuneration 
Committee Report

B.2 The level and make up of Remuneration
Yes

Corporate Governance Section (5.10.2), Remuneration 
Committee Report

B.3 Disclosure of Remuneration
Yes

Corporate Governance Section (5.10.2), Remuneration 
Committee Report

C. Relations with Shareholders

C.1 Constructive use of the AGM and conduct of 
general meetings

Yes Corporate Governance Section (6.2)

C.2 Communication with shareholders Yes Corporate Governance Section (6)

C.3 Major and material transactions Yes Notes to the Financial Statements
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Rule Subject Compliance 
Status

Reference

D. Accountability and Audit

D.1 Financial Reporting

Yes

Corporate Governance Section (5.1), Report of the 
Directors, Statement of the Directors’ Responsibility, 
Independent Auditors’ Report, Management 
Discussion and Analysis, Notes to the Financial 
Statements relating to Related Party Transactions.

D.2 Internal Control
Yes

Risk Management Review, Corporate Governance 
Section(7)

D.3 Audit Committee Yes Audit Committee Report

D.4 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics Yes Corporate Governance Section (3)

D.5 Corporate Governance Disclosures Yes Corporate Governance Report

E. Institutional Investors

E.1 Shareholder Voting
Yes

Corporate Governance Section (6),Institutional 
Investors are encouraged to provide any feedback on 
the governance arrangements.

E.2 Evaluation of Governance Disclosures Yes Corporate Governance Review

F. Other Investors

F.1 Investing/ Divesting Decisions
Yes

The extensive nature of the information given in the 
annual report facilitates the shareholders in carrying 
out adequate analysis when making their decisions.

F.2 Shareholder Voting Yes Proxy Form

G. Sustainability Reporting Yes Sustainability Review

9.5    Disclosures Specified by Section 7.6 of the Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange

1.  Disclosures specified by Section 7.6 of Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange are contained in this Annual Report.

2.  There is no evidence of the book value being substantially different from the market value of land and other fixed assets of the 
Company or its subsidiaries.

Corporate Governance Review
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The Audit Committee is a sub - committee of the Main Board. The duties and responsibilities of the Committee are carried out in 
accordance with the Terms of Reference as approved by the Board. This report from the Committee is an overview of the functions 
and responsibilities pertaining to the Group as a whole.

Composition of the Committee

In compliance with the guidelines as set out by the Colombo Stock Exchange, the Committee comprises of two (2) Non-Executive 
Independent Directors and the Company’s Internal Auditor who functions as the Secretary to the Committee.  
Mr. Sunil Karunanayake who is Chairing the Committee is a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka.

Meetings

For the year under review, the Committee held four (4) meetings with the Management and Auditors of the Company, to discuss 
the relevant matters and to review the results of the Company and of the Group. On invitation, these meetings are also attended by 
the Executive Director and Group General Manager, the General Manager and the AGM - Finance, of the Company.

The information on the attendance at the meetings by the Committee Members is given below.

Name Capacity No. of meetings
held

No. of meetings
attended

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake Chairman / Non-Executive Independent Director 4 4

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria Member / Non-Executive Independent Chairman 4 4

Mr. Majintha Illankone Secretary / Group Internal Auditor 4 4

Functions of the Committee

The key function of the Committee is to assist the Board to fulfill the oversight responsibility in the preparation and fair presentation 
of the Financial Statements of the Company and the Group, in compliance with the Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

In addition, the Committee is also responsible for the Internal Controls and Risk Management, compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, independence and performance of the External Auditors and the adequacy and performance of the Internal 
Auditors.

Review of Financial Statements

During the financial year, the Committee has reviewed the Group’s quarterly and annual financial results with the Management 
and the External Auditors, prior to its publication. In this connection, the Committee partners with the Board in ensuring that the 
financial and non – financial information that is supplied to the Shareholders is a fair assessment of the position of the Company.

This review includes:

 Â The evaluation of the appropriateness of the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company in the preparation and 
presentation of the Financial Statements.

 Â Compliance with the relevant accounting standards, laws and regulations.

 Â Assessing the adequacy and validity of the estimates and judgements made by the Management.

 Â Assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.

Audit Committee Report
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Internal Controls and Risk Management

The Committee is responsible to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of a sound system of Internal 
Controls and Risk Management procedures adopted by the Company. Risk mitigating strategies 
include the establishing of internal and external audit functions and incorporating recommendations 
made by them, developing a Risk Management framework to identify and evaluate risks, carrying 
out employee Whistle Blower Policy. As a result of these, the Company is able to safeguard the 
investment of the Shareholders in the Company and meet the expectations of other stakeholders’ of 
the Company.

Internal Audit

Internal Auditors have direct access to the Audit Committee and submit their reports on a quarterly 
and annual basis to the Committee. The Committee is responsible to evaluate the effectiveness of 
internal audit function and act appropriately on the recommendations made.

External Audit

The Committee reviews the independence, performance and the objectivity of the External Auditors 
and is further responsible for: 

 Â Making recommendations to the Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of the 
External Auditors at the Annual General Meeting.

 Â Approving the remuneration and Terms of Engagement of the External Auditors.

 Â Discussing the external audit plan and the key audit findings and their recommendations.

 Â Discussing the company’s Financial Statements made quarterly and annually.

 Â Reviewing the Non Audit Services provided by the External Auditors and evaluate how it affects 
their objectivity and independence and disclose the basis for such determinations.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that KPMG Sri Lanka, Chartered 
Accountants be re-appointed as External Auditors for the financial year ending 31 December 2018 
subject to the approval of Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Evaluation of the functions of the Committee

The functions of the Audit Committee have been evaluated by the Board throughout the year and 
they have concluded that the Committee has performed their responsibilities to the complete 
satisfaction of the Board and seek the continued support of the Committee in the future in meeting 
stakeholders’ expectations.

Sunil Karunanayake
Chairman, Audit Committee

Audit Committee Report
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Remuneration Committee Report

The Committee was established for the purpose of recommending the remuneration of the Executive Directors and Key 
Management Personnel to the Board of Directors. The Committee has acted within the parameters set out by its Terms and 
References and therefore independent of the Management and is totally free from any interference in making judgements and 
decisions.

Functions of the Committee

The Remuneration Policy is designed to reward, motivate and retain the Company’s Executive Team to support the continued 
success of the business and creation of shareholder value. All Non-Executive Independent Directors receive a fee for serving on the 
Board and the Board’s sub committees. They do not receive any performance related incentive payments.

Composition of the Committee

The Board appointed Remuneration Committee comprises of two (2) members both of whom are Non-Executive Independent
Directors as required by the guidelines set out by the Colombo Stock Exchange.

Meetings

Remuneration Committee meetings were held when necessary and a total of three (3) meetings were conducted over the past 
year.

The information on the attendance of the meetings by the Committee members is given below.

Name Capacity No. of meetings
held

No. of meetings
attended

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria Chairman / Non-Executive Independent Chairman 3 3

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake Member / Non-Executive Independent Director 3 1

Mr. M.C.M. De Costa Secretary 3 3

The Executive Director and Group General Manager who is responsible for the overall management of the Group provides 
information to the Committee and participates in all deliberations except in relation to those matters where the Committee 
objectives impaired with his presence. The Group Treasurer and the General Manager were also attended to the meetings on 
invitation.

Evaluation of the functions of the Committee

The annual evaluation of the Committee was carried out by the Board and it was concluded that the Committee continues to 
operate effectively.

Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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The Nomination Committee is entrusted with keeping the Board composition under review while facilitating a formal and 
transparent procedure for all new appointments to the Board.

Composition of the Committee

The Committee, as end of the year 2017, consisted of three (3) members including two (2) Non-Executive Independent Directors 
and the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in compliance with the guidelines as set out by the 
Colombo Stock Exchange. The Non-Executive Independent Chairman was appointed as the Chairman of the Committee.

Functions of the Committee

The Nomination Committee oversees a range of responsibilities which include:

 Â Providing up-to-date advice and recommendations to the Board or Chairman concerning any new appointments to the Board.

 Â Evaluating the competencies, skills, knowledge and experience of any individual who is recommended to the Board.

 Â Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board.

 Â Evaluating the performance of the members of the Board to determine whether they are adequately performing their duties 
and responsibilities.

Meetings

The Committee met on two (2) occasions during the year 2017 in order to discharge their responsibilities in keeping with the 
combined knowledge and experience of the Board according to the strategic demands of the Company.

The information on the attendance of the meetings by the Committee members is given below.

Name Capacity No. of 
meetings held

No. of meetings 
attended

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria Chairman / Non-Executive Independent Chairman 2 2

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus Member / Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 2 2

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake Member / Non-Executive Independent Director 2 1

Mr. M.C.M. De Costa Secretary 2 2

On invitation, these meetings were also attended by the Executive Director and Group General Manager, the General Manager and 
the Group Treasurer of the Company.

Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Chairman, Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee Report
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The Board formed a Related Party Transactions Review Committee (RPTRC) on 13 November 2015 in compliance with Code of Best 
Practices on Related Party Transactions issued by Securities and Exchange Commission of Sri Lanka (SEC) together with Colombo 
Stock Exchange (CSE) to exercise supervision on behalf of the Board over all related party transactions (RPTs) of the Group.

Composition of the Committee

The Committee comprises of two (2) Non-Executive Independent Directors and an Executive Director in accordance with the 
Listing Rule No. 9.2.2 of the CSE. The Company's Internal Auditor functions as the Secretary to the Committee.

Meetings

The Committee met four (4) times during the period to comply with Listing Rule No. 9.2.4 of the Colombo Stock Exchange. The 
details of attendance of members at meetings held for the year under review are as follows:

Name Capacity No. of meetings 
held

No. of meetings 
attended

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria Chairman / Non-Executive Independent Chairman 4 4

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake Member / Non-Executive Independent Director 4 4

Mr. Tan Beng Chuan Member / Executive Director and Group General Manager 4 4

Mr. Majintha Illankone Secretary / Group Internal Auditor 4 4

Policies and Procedures

Members of the Board of Directors of the Company have been identified as Key Management Personnel. In accordance with the 
Related Party Transactions policy, the declarations are obtained from each Key Management Personnel of the Company for the 
purpose of identifying parties related to them.

Functions of the Committee

The key function of the Committee is to ensure on behalf of the Board, that all RPTs of the Company and its listed subsidiaries are 
consistent with the Code of Best Practices on Related Party Transactions.

The scope of the Committee includes:

 Â Adopting policies and procedures to review RPTs of the Company and reviewing and overseeing existing policies and 
procedures.

 Â Reviewing in advance all proposed RPTs of the Company except those explicitly exempted in the Code under Rule 27.

 Â Determining whether RPTs that are to be entered into by the Company require the approval of the Board or shareholders of the 
Company.

 Â Ensuring that no Director of the Company shall participate in any discussion of a proposed related party transaction for 
which he or she is a related party, unless such Director is requested to do so by the Committee for the purpose of providing 
information concerning the related party transaction to the Committee.

 Â If there is any potential conflict in any Related Party Transaction, the Committee may recommend the creation of a special 
committee (including independent consultant if necessary) to review and approve the proposed Related Party Transaction. 

 Â Ensuring that immediate market disclosures and disclosures in the Annual Report as required by the Code are made in a timely 
and detailed manner.

Related Party Transactions Review 
Committee Report
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Activities during the year

 Â All recurrent and non-recurrent related party transactions that 
had taken place during the year 2017 were reviewed by the 
RPTRC and communicated to the Board where necessary. 

 Â Where deemed necessary considering the issues of potential 
conflict, which were presented to the Committee, the 
Committee has recommended the creation of a special 
committee as per the Appendix 9A (5) of Section 9 of the Listing 
Rules; to review and approve specific proposed non-recurrent 
RPTs.  

 Â Also the Company has made necessary immediate market 
disclosures, as set out in CSE Listing Rule 9.3.1 on the 
transactions which have exceeded respective thresholds which 
are given on page 151 under Note 31.4 Non-recurrent Related 
Party Transactions. 

 Â In addition, the Board of Directors was updated on the RPTs of 
the Group on a quarterly basis. 

Disclosures on the Related Party Transactions during the year are 
given on page 147 under Note 31 - Related Party Transactions, to 
the Financial Statements.

The Related Party Transactions Review Committee convenes 
quarterly. The minutes of all meetings are properly documented 
and communicated to the Board of Directors.

Declaration

A declaration by the Board of Directors as per the section 9.3.2 (d) of 
Listing Rules of the Colombo Stock Exchange is included on page 
99 of this Annual Report.

Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Chairman, Related Party Transactions Review Committee

Related Party Transactions Review Committee Report
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Enterprise Risk Management Review

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

ERM is an ongoing process that has been adopted across the 
entire organisation in strategy setting, which designed to 
identify potential events that affect the entity and to manage 
risks within the Company’s risk appetite.

Our ERM framework enables management to identify and 
effectively deal with associated risks and enhances the capacity 
to build stakeholder value. Risk management process looks 
at implementing various policies, procedures and practices 
to identify, analyse, evaluate and monitor risks followed by 
identifying solutions to minimise the probability of occurrence 
and/or the impact of the identified risks.

Risk Governance

 Â The Board has the overall responsibility for risk management 
and ensures that risk management is embedded to all 
processes and activities of the business. They create a risk 
awareness culture by formulating appropriate strategies, 
policies and procedures and internal controls through 
analysing entity’s risk profiles and entity’s risk appetite.

Proactive and effective identification and management 
of risks is an essential supportive element in the Group’s 
sustainable value creation process which ensures 
continuity of operations and achievement of financial, 
operational and social objectives of the entity.
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 Â The Audit Committee, to which this function has 
been delegated, reviews the effectiveness of the risk 
management process, including the systems established to 
identify, assess, manage and monitor risks and ensures that 
these identified risks are within the risk appetite set by the 
Board.

 Â Corporate Management held responsible for 
communicating risk management policies and procedures 
to employees across the organisation and provides 
guidance on the same. They examine processes and events, 
uncertainties and changes in the environment that might 
expose to situations that could seriously reduce future 
earnings, impair its asset value or create legal, regulatory or 
reputational risks. They also evaluate options available to 
eliminate or mitigate risks and implement risk management 
strategies within the Group. Monitoring and reporting of 
risk management measures is a responsibility that rests with 
the Corporate Management.

Risk Appetite

Risk appetite is the aggregate amount and type of risks that 
the entity is willing to accept in different aspects of business 
in achieving its strategic objectives. The Company has set clear 
guidance on identification of risks that embedded within their 
processes and activities and accordingly prioritised them based 
on the level of impact on the business.
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Risk Awareness Culture in CGE

People cannot be expected to avoid risks if they are not aware of and educated on risks. Therefore, embedding the Risk 
Management Framework into organisation culture plays a vital role and it should be communicated to all the levels across 
the entity, on what the risk management philosophy is and what is expected from the organisation’s people. Accordingly, risk 
management process is driven through a combination of a ‘top-down’ (driven by the Board) and ‘bottom-up’ (originating from 
business unit level such as from the level of employees at farms and plants) approaches where people are educated through 
numerous ways such as:

 Â Discuss risks and risk responses with employees.

 Â Induction session for new employees.

 Â Consult employees with higher management when new risk events are identified.

 Â Regularly communicate ERM policies, procedures and standards across the entity.

 Â Conducting awareness workshops and training on risk management to enhance the understanding and giving them a stake in 
the risk management of the entity.

Risk Management Framework (RMFW)

CGE as a business which operates in the poultry industry, exposed to myriad of risks and uncertainties in doing their business 
operation. In order to overcome these risks, the management has developed a Risk Management Framework, which facilitates 
the management to identify all potential risks related to Environment, Business, Operation and product and evaluates the impact 
on the business by considering both financial and non-financial factors and apply strategies to overcome the threat of those risks 
while assisting them to make proactive decisions.

Enterprise Risk Management Review
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The RMFW emphasises the importance of proper management and the company’s system of internal controls that implement 
the policies, procedures, processes and systems to monitor, detect, correct, prevent and report matters relating to the continued 
effectiveness of the framework.

The risk management process identifies risks, evaluates them by mapping them and assessing the potential impact and identifies 
mitigating action following a rigorous review and monitoring process. All potential risks are identified in the process which enables 
CGE to take necessary precautionary actions accordingly. The impacts of such identified risks are assessed in terms of potential loss 
or damage.
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Risks and Challenges

These risks and challenges are related to capitals and stand as the backdrop to the decision making process and strategy 
formulation.

Low Medium High 

Impacted capital Risk 
Ref

Risk statement Risk mitigating strategies Risk Factor

1. Financial Capital 1.1 Sourcing of raw materials at the 
right time with the right quality
 

Having multiple sources both locally and internationally 

R&D on alternative raw materials

Obtaining the import permits from the Government on time

1.2 Frequent changes in 
government policies 

Periodic evaluation and adaptation of regulations and policies

1.3 Interest rate fluctuations Maintaining an appropriate combination of investment.

1.4 Threat of substitutes Carrying out promotional activities and engaging in product 
development

1.5 Exchange rate fluctuations Timely monitoring of international transactions and effective 
treasury function

Probability

Im
p

ac
t

Reasonable monitoring 
and action

Moderate monitoring 
and action

Extensive monitoring 
and action

Enterprise Risk Management Review

Risk Evaluation

Each risk is reviewed in terms of 
probability of occurrence and business 
impact of event/events:

 Â Probability of occurrence is assessed 
on the basis of past experience, 
industry conditions and the mitigating 
controls that are in place. A rating 
of 1-3 has been assigned for high, 
medium and low for likelihood of 
occurrence.

 Â The impact of the event is assessed 
by determining the estimated loss it 
would cause and the extent of the 
business impact. A rating of 1-3 has 
been assigned for high, medium and 
low for impact for each risk.

Upon assessment of the likelihood of 
occurrence and the extent of the business 
impact of each risk, it is subjected to the 
following matrix in order to derive the 
nature and extent of action required. A 
ranking of high, moderate, low is assigned 
based on the risk factor derived through 
probability and impact assessment.
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4.1
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Impacted capital Risk 
Ref

Risk statement Risk mitigating strategies Risk Factor

1.6 Credit risk arises from credit 
exposure to customers on 
unsecured debts

Timely assessment of customer credit worthiness

Age analysis of debtors

Set credit controls over the value and terms

1.7 Availability of sufficient funds to 
settle dues

Strong relationship with banks to ensure that urgent 
borrowing needs are met at short notice.

1.8 Price volatilities Continuous market surveillance

2. Human Capital 2.1 Recruiting and retaining 
employees
 
 
 

Development of Competency Matrix and skill pool. 

Maintain a succession plan 

Adaptation of HR best practices

Conducting employee satisfaction surveys

Continuous training and development

2.2 Losses from low productivity 
and low employee engagement

Open door policy to discuss on grievances

Livelihood development programmes

2.3 Sourcing of skilled labour Agreements  with outsource labour suppliers

3. Natural capital 3.1 Natural catastrophes including 
disease outbreaks adversely 
affecting company's operations

Building environmentally controlled houses

Insurance coverage

3.2 Waste and disposal 
management

Adaptation of central drainage system, incineration, disposal 
of liquid waste through dilutive and cleansed processes

3.3 Negative impact on the 
environment due to its 
operations

Environmental factors are considered in decision making

Obtaining all required approvals for our business operations

Promoting importance of carbon foot print

Promoting energy saving initiatives

4. Social and 
Relationship capital

4.1 Loss of customers
 
 

Conducting customer satisfaction surveys

Awareness programs to customers 

Effective brand marketing initiatives

4.2 Loss of suppliers
 

Conducting supplier grading surveys

Periodic evaluation of principal's satisfaction levels

4.3 Procurement and supply chain 
management

Maintaining long term business relationships

4.4 Regulatory risk All relevant statutes that the Company has to comply which 
has been identified and updated as and when necessary

5. Manufactured 
capital

5.1 Machine breakdown and 
system failures
 

Continuous checkups and upgrades

Adherence to a maintenance plan

Evaluation of man and machine hours 

6. Intellectual capital 6.1 Reputational risk 
 
 
 

Adhering into corporate governance principals

Adaptation of ethical practices in supply chain and 
manufacturing processes

CSR activities

6.2 Loss of data through system 
breaches

Controls over IT infrastructure and data 

Regular back up of data

Availability of disaster recovery plan

6.3 Product quality risk Regular process monitoring and update

Continuous quality checks

Test on the input of raw materials and experimental farm tests

6.4 Risk of technological 
obsolescence

Regular investment in new technology
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Streamlining our 
processes
We have harnessed our resources, 
people and processes, streamlining them 
for maximum productivity, to ensure we 
are always ahead of the curve.
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Financial Capital
The Group’s pool of funds consists of shareholders’ equity contribution, funds generated 
through operations and investment which are reinvested in the Group.

Manufactured Capital
Plant, machinery, equipment and our modern farming facilities enable us to engage in 
efficient and sustainable production.

Intellectual Capital
Our skill pool and research capabilities are critical for driving innovation and responding 
to customer expectations.

Human Capital
We partner our human capital to achieve sustainable success throughout the value 
creation process.

Social & Relationship Capital
We have cultivated long-term relationships with our stakeholders.

Natural Capital
While we consume multiple natural resources in our value creation process, we also strive 
to monitor our impact on them.

Capital Inputs

Our Value Creation Model

                  Vision

                  Corporate Governance

                  Enterprise Risk Management
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                  Strategic Drivers
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                  Vision

                  Corporate Governance

                  Enterprise Risk Management

                  Mission

                  Strategies

                  Strategic Drivers

Value Created & Delivered                  How We Create Value

Growth                                                                                  

Innovative Attitude

Dynamic Team                                                                  

Sustainable Operation

Outcomes

Altered Capitals

Impacts

Economic, Social &  
Environmental Impacts

For Shareholders
Profit : Rs. 790 Million

For Customers
Sales : Rs. 15,155 Million

For Employees
Rewards : Rs. 1,047 Million

For Government
Taxes : Rs. 2,708 Million

For Providers of Finance
Interest : Rs. 3 Million

Retained within the Business
Rs. 676 Million
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Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholder engagement is critical to the sustainability process and enables us to plan future 
strategies that promote consistency and continuity in our operations. Therefore, stakeholder 
engagement is vital for ascertaining our performance success. 

As a Group, we believe that effective stakeholder engagement enriches our business, because 
our stakeholders help us improve communications, obtain wider support, gather useful data and 
information, and ensure more sustainable decision-making.

We maintain regular stakeholder engagement through a range of formal and transparent mechanism 
that facilitate continuous communication, dialogue and feedback from our many and varied 
stakeholder groups while raising awareness of the need for sustainable resource consumption and 
sustainable lifestyles. We also continue to pursue new avenues of communication that would enable 
our stakeholders to give us more feedback to improve our sustainability efforts.

Identify 
stakeholder

Stakeholder 
prioritisation

Development 
of engagement 

plan

Implementation 
of engagement 

plan

Control, monitor 
and improve 

engagement plan

External Connected Internal

Government & Regulatory Bodies

Suppliers & Business Partners

C
us

to
m

er
s

Investors/Sh
areh

old
ers

C
om

m
un

it
ie

s Environ
m

ent

Press / Media

BOD Management
& Employees

Our Stakeholders
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Stakeholder mapping and prioritising

Our stakeholder mapping process is based on Mendelow’s Matrix 
which take into account the influence exerted by the stakeholders 
on our business and their interest in doing so. We have also agreed 
on our strategy on each quadrant in terms of responding.

Key Players Keep Satisfied

Keep Informed Minimal Effort

Shareholders

Suppliers & 
Business Partners

Customers

Employees

Environment

Community

Financers

Government

Regulatory 
Bodies

Lo
w

LowHigh

H
ig

h

Interest

Po
w

er

We nurture strong 
relationship with 
them by continuously 
engaging, as any 
decision by them could 
considerably impact on 
our business

We always adhere to 
their expectations as 
they exert high power 
through decisions 
though they do not 
exercise high interest in 
the Company

We give importance 
to every stakeholder 
by continuously 
maintaining an interest 
towards them. Hence, 
we do not have any 
stakeholder in this 
category.

Our strategy is to keep 
them informed and 
provide feedback and 
suggestions about the 
business as they are 
able to build a strong 
foundation support for 
the Company.
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Shareholders/ Investors Customers Business partners/ Suppliers and 
Financers

They are the owners of the Company.  
We make every effort to increase 
shareholder value.

Our products have gained a reputation for 
reliability and trust and are accessible to 
consumers throughout the country through a 
network of retail outlets at affordable prices.

Establish mutually beneficial relationships and 
encourage them to engage in socially and 
environmentally friendly practices.

Our zero gearing keeps us attractive to the 
financial services sector and consequently, 
we face no obstacles if and when we wish to 
pursue debt capital.

Concerns Concerns Concerns

Dividend growth Product quality and availability Long term business relations

Growth in profit Convenience On time payment

Future prospects and sustainability Customer satisfaction  

Governance and transparency Credit facilities  

 Trade discounts  

Responses Responses  Responses

Dividend payout of 27% 
Shareholder centric business strategy
Productivity improvements
Cost optimisation initiatives
Timely disclosure of information

Continuous improvement in product quality 
Access and reach
Food safety
Trade discounts based on customer loyalty
Provide credit facilities

With 35 years of trust, maintain solid 
relationship with its suppliers
Payment will be made on time to built trust 
and credit worthiness
 

Engagement Engagement Engagement

Methodology Frequency Methodology Frequency Methodology Frequency

Regular one-on-one 
engagements

As necessary Customer surveys 
across the country

Quarterly Supplier surveys 
across country

Quarterly

AGM Annually Regular one-on-one 
engagements

As necessary Regular one-on-one 
engagements

As necessary

Annual Report Annually Corporate Website Online Corporate Website Online

Interim Financial 
Statements

Quarterly Technical support and 
site visits

Regular Telephone discussion 
and emails

On a regular basis

Immediate Market 
Disclosures

Ad-hoc as 
necessary

Dealer Convention Annually Procurement based 
interactions

On a regular basis

Extraordinary General 
Meetings

Ad-hoc as 
necessary

Regional Dealer 
Meetings

Periodically Training As necessary

Press Conferences and 
Press releases

As necessary  

Corporate Website Online

CSE Website Online

Stakeholder Engagement

Engaging with our stakeholders
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Employees Government and Regulatory bodies Community and environment

They are the lifeblood of the Company, its 
resource for creating value. They achieve the 
company's goals through their commitment, 
expertise, skills and talents.

Productive and constructive dialogue with 
our regulators and the Government to ensure 
a conductive industry environment.

We have a cordial and mutually beneficial 
relationship with the communities where we 
operate in which is crucial to our success and 
we strive to conduct business in a manner that 
mitigates our environment footprint.

Concerns Concerns Concerns

Increments on salaries and wages
Employee motivation
Job satisfaction
Training and continuous development
Welfare facilities
Job security
Work life balance

Adaptation with business best practices
Compliance with the regulatory framework
Contribution to the economic growth

Employment opportunities
Community works and hours
Responsible business practices
Fair competition
Social wellbeing
Externalities
 

Responses Responses Responses

Annual performance evaluation
Inbound and outbound training sessions
Industry specialised training and 
development
Superior rewards for superior performance
On the job training
Succession Planning
Friendly corporate environment

Good governance
Adhered to all applicable rules and 
regulations
Sustainability growth and business 
expansions
 

Creating employment opportunities
Corporate Social Responsibility
Responsible Corporate Citizenship
Always try to win the market through quality 
output and service.  
Avoids market dilutive action.
Optimise environmental impact of the 
Company

Engagement Engagement Engagement

Methodology Frequency Methodology Frequency Methodology Frequency

Performance 
appraisals and 
individual review 
meeting

Annually Communication 
through press 
releases

As necessary One-on-one meeting As necessary

Open door policy As necessary Periodic Returns As specified Public events and 
sponsorship

Regular

Training sessions As necessary Meetings and 
consultation

As necessary Corporate Website Online

Corporate 
communication 
through email, 
telephones, memo 
and notice board

On a regular basis  CSE Website Online

Career progression Ad-hoc as necessary Maintaining 
environmental 
licenses

As specified

Corporate events 
such as sports day, 
get-togethers, other 
event activities

Annually  

Regular one-on-one 
engagements

As necessary

Employee council Quarterly
Employee reward and 
recognition

Annually
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Materiality Assessment

Materiality analysis is a key process that enables the Group to define triple bottom line issues that 
have a bearing on our businesses and affect the way in which our stakeholders perceive us and 
relate to us, in the short, medium and long term. We focus on several material aspects that drive our 
performance, improve our sustainability framework and institutionalise our corporate governance 
philosophy at every level.

Our approach to assessing materiality is as follows:

Accordingly, we have devised a materiality matrix that segregates the material aspects identified as 
impacting our business and stakeholders at the highest to medium to lowest levels of significance.

Inventory 
of material 

issues

Aggregate 
material 

issues

Evaluate 
Material 

Issues

Prioritise 
material 

issues

Identify 
material 

aspects and 
boundaries

Identifies matters relating to Group that affect the Company and 
stakeholders at large

Combines similar issues across categories such as economic, social 
and environmental

Identifies  the significance of these material issues on the company’s 
capitals and stakeholders

Prioritises based on assessment of the level of importance  to external 
stakeholders

Identifies material aspects for disclosure and their boundaries in the 
integrated report of the Company 
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Low

Impact to the Company
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High
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 Â Gender diversity and inclusion

 Â Indigenous 

rights

 Â Corporate citizenship and community 

engagement

 Â Employee engagement and career development

 Â Health and Safety

 Â Marketing 

communication

 Â Human Rights

 Â Product responsibility

 Â Financial performance

 Â Labour Grievances

 Â National Economic Contribution

 Â Customer satisfaction

 Â Operational excellence and 

efficiency

 Â Energy efficiency

 Â Supply chain and commitments

Our materiality matrix enables us to track and manage the needs of our stakeholders and the responses of 
the Company to these needs. Through a materiality assessment conducted periodically, we prioritise the 
issues that arise in our strategies and programmes and report on them in our Annual Report. This ensures 
that we stay in touch with and respond to the information needs and expectations of our stakeholders while 
addressing the issues of most importance to our business.

Materiality Matrix
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We continuously strive to advance our efficiency 
and capabilities and uphold our place as an industry 
leader by leveraging our extensive industry 
experience and diligent workforce.

Advancing our 
efficiency  
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The contemporary world has been 
transformed into a single vast 
community in which distances have 
dramatically reduced and boundaries 
dissolved, as a result of advances in 
technology and travel. This means that 
trends and events in one geographical 
region or a particular sector of the 
economy could have immediate and 
unforeseen impacts on other regions 
or sectors. It is companies like CGE that 
keep their fingers on the pulse of the 
dynamics of these changes that gain 
the competencies necessary to stay 
competitive well into the future.

Trends and events that occurred in the 
local and global markets during the year 
of review are discussed below.

Global economy

The global economy ended the year on 
a solid note. Ten years on from the global 
financial crisis, recovery strengthened, 
and about 120 economies, which 
account for three quarters of world GDP, 
saw a pickup in growth to 3.3 %, up from 
2.7 % in 2016 - the fastest since 2010. 
This growth was the result of increased 
economic activity during the year, 
with global output estimated to have 
grown by 3.7 % in 2017, which is half a 
percentage point higher than in 2016, 
as world trade posted strong growth 
supported by a pickup in investment, 
particularly among advanced 
economies, and manufacturing output 
increased in Asia.

Global economic recovery, added to 
low global inflation (about 3.1 % during 
the year) saw an increase in purchasing 
power and a consequent rise in the 
global demand for consumable goods. 
This will have positive repercussions on 
the demand for commodities including 
chicken products.

Operating Environment

Domestic economy

In Sri Lanka, on the other hand, GDP growth slowed as the country posted a growth 
of 3.1 % YoY in 2017 as against a growth of 4.5 % in the same period during the 
previous year. This slower growth was driven by a weakened agriculture sector which 
posted a 3.3 % negative growth due to inclement weather that destroyed staple 
crops.

This negative growth affected the business sentiment of the Company. The extreme 
weather also destroyed crops of local Maize, the main raw material for poultry feed, 
which raised local Maize prices. The prices of imported Maize fared no better. Maize 
prices as well as the prices of other key raw materials including rice as well as vaccines 
and drugs rose as a result of the depreciation of the LKR against the USD. These price 
hikes substantially increased the Company’s cost of production.

The poor performance of the agriculture sector raised food prices substantially, during 
the year, which led to high inflation that fluctuated at a monthly average of about 
7.7 %. Inflation, added to the impacts of taxes imposed in the previous year which 
were felt during the current year, diminished purchasing power. Although purchasing 
power did rise by 0.7 %, during the year, this marginal increase was insufficient 
to boost demand for chicken. This could be a key reason for the market glut that 
prevailed throughout the year.

A better macro outlook is envisaged from the recently- experienced strengthening 
of foreign reserves and increases in FDI, trends that are anticipated to continue in the 
next few years. Strengthened foreign reserves will ease interest rates and improve 
purchasing power which will, consequently, spur demand for consumables.

Cereal production of Sri Lanka

  2012-2016
   Average     2016

    2017
   Estimate

  Change
2017/2016

Tonnes ‘000 Percentage

Rice (paddy) 4,217 4,420 2,499 (43)

Maize 242 291 190 (35)

Millet 7 7 7 0

Others 0 0 0 0

Total 4,466 4,718 2,696 (43)

Note : percentage change calculated from unrounded data.
Source : FAOvGIEWS Country Cereal Balance Sheets
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Agriculture sector

The agriculture sector, which has been the mainstay of the economy for decades past, made the 
lowest contribution to GDP this year, contributing just 7.8 % of which the livestock subsector 
contributed 0.8 %. Contribution of the agriculture sector in 2016 was 9.9 %. This sector was the 
only major segment that has been experiencing a gradual decline of its share of contribution 
to GDP over the past decade, at an average annual contraction of 2.5 %. Despite its low 
contribution, however, the agriculture sector is vital to the economy because it sustains the 
livelihoods of 2.6 Million of the rural population - about 30 % of the country’s labour force. This 
includes self- employed farmers who earn their livelihoods from poultry farming and related 
activities. The Company sustains these smallholder farmers with the introduction of a number 
of initiatives, such as the outgrower scheme, and prioritises purchases of Maize from local Maize 
growers.

The sectors’ declining performance over the past decade is a cause for concern because it is 
evidence of the fact of being unable to sustain the country’s income and employment growth. If 
steps are not taken to resuscitate the sector very shortly, the country’s food security will be under 
threat, as will be the livelihoods of a large proportion of the rural sector.

Global poultry industry

The global poultry industry posted a solid performance in most countries, as market conditions 
improved in the aftermath of Avian Influenza that abated after the first quarter. Several major 
poultry players faced a difficult market during the year, emerging bruised but unscathed. Poultry 
was the meat that recorded the highest consumption during the year, worldwide.

World broiler meat production and consumption grew by 1.2 % in 2017 and reached 91,278,000 
MT, with USA producing 21 % of poultry meat followed by Brazil producing 15 % and the EU 
and China, 13 % and 12 % respectively, the other poultry producing countries comprised the 
balance 39 %. Consumption in 2017 reached 88,135,000 MT with the USA consuming 18 %, and 
consumption in China, the EU and Brazil comprising 13 %, 12 % and 9 % respectively, while the 
other poultry consuming countries made up the balance 48 %.

USA 21 %

Brazil 15 %

China 12 %
EU 13 %

Other 39 %

Total 91,278
(1000 mt’s)

USA 18 %

China 13 %

EU 12 %

Brazil 9 %

Other 48 %

Total 88,135
(1000 mt’s)

World Broiler Meat Production & Consumption 2017

Annual % Production Growth

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2.7 2.6 0.0 1.2 1.2

Annual % Consumption Growth

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2.7 2.5 0.0 0.9 1.1

 Source : FAO.org

Sustainable poultry 
production was a key 
initiative pursued around 
the world in the current 
year, as poultry producers, 
who are already leading in 
some areas of environmental 
sustainability, faced 
mounting pressure to 
minimise their environment 
footprint. The demand for 
antibiotic- free chicken was 
also seen to be increasing, 
and several countries had 
begun banning the use 
of antimicrobial growth 
promoters in poultry 
production including Sri 
Lanka. Poultry producers 
are seen to diversifying 
extensively with new value 
added products to meet 
consumer demand.

The outlook for the global 
industry remains strong, with 
tight supplies expected to 
continue in most markets, as 
a result of AI in first quarter 
of the year. However, the 
return of the virus will 
continue to challenge the 
global poultry trade and 
prevent it from taking wing 
by also raising issues of bio 
security.

Poultry production is 
forecast to grow by 1 % to 
91.3 Million tonnes in 2018, 
boosted mainly by purchases 
by the US, Brazil, India and 
the European Union. Poultry 
meat will be the primary 
driver of the growth in total 
meat production in response 
to expanding global demand 
due to its affordability when 
compared with red meat.
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Local poultry industry

The annual per capita consumption of chicken in Sri Lanka, 
which was barely 4.9 Kg a decade ago, has risen to 7.5 Kg and 
is likely to increase further in the near future, as affluence keeps 
step with urbanisation. Many factors favour the popularity of 
chicken over other meats and prompt consumers to believe 
that they get more value for money when purchasing poultry 
products. Chicken is perceived as being a more nutritious 
meat, and is also the lowest priced meat on the market.

Domestic production of poultry also increased during the 
year. According to the Department of Animal Production 
and Health, the existing parent stock is estimated to have 
produced 141.7 Million Day Old Chicks (DOC) this year, which 
is a 3 % increase over 2016. This stock is projected to produce 
189,020MT of broiler and curry chicken during the year, which 
is a 3 % increase from 182,690 MT in 2016. Statistics from the 
Department of Census and Statistics (2013) estimate that there 
are approximately 16,000 broiler farms in Sri Lanka of which  
88 % are estimated to be small in size (below 1,000 birds).

However, poultry production in the country is beset by several 
challenges that could curtail it’s growth into the future. For 
instance, the quality and quantity of locally produced Maize. 
The Maize cultivated in the country is insufficient to meet 
the demands of the local poultry industry since harvests are 
often of poor quality due to low fertilizer and technology 
inputs. Extreme weather conditions, which are fast becoming 
the norm, is a main reason for the reduced quantity of Maize 
harvests. This has compelled the industry to supplement it’s 
raw material requirements with imports, which subjects the 
industry to the high commodity prices on the international 
market. The raw material must also be obtained in a timely 
manner if the production cycle is to continue uninterrupted. 

Import restrictions on Grandparent and Parent Stock due to 
AI constraints in the industry’s traditional supplier markets 
delayed the placement of DOCs. This affected the Company’s 
production cycles once again and negatively impacted 
company revenues. These delays are expected to continue 
since the outbreak of Avian Influenza in has not as yet abated, 
which could impact production cycles into the future.

A dearth of skilled labour is another constraint the industry 
suffers from, as wage rates increase across the sector.

Despite these adverse market movements, the Company is 
confident that there is immense potential for the industry’s 
growth due to positive trends in the economy. The influx of 
tourists this year rose to 2.1 Million arrivals, from 2.0 Million 
in 2016, which contributed to a flourishing HoReCa sector 
that fuelled the demand for processed chicken products. 
Many newly constructed international hotel franchises will be 
opening their doors in the coming year which, added to the 
Government’s plans to promote the advantages of Sri Lanka as 
a travel destination, augur well for further expansion in tourist 
arrivals. This will increase the country’s capacity to earn foreign 
exchange and usher in a more robust economy.

Poultry consumption habits in the country are currently 
shifting from fresh and frozen chicken meat towards processed 
and value-added meat products. This could be attributed 
to changing socio-economic status of the people and the 
demands of various segments of the population.

Policy influences

Despite the fact that consumption of chicken has increased by 
a substantial 50 % over the past decade, prices have remained 
fairly static because poultry products are categorised as 
essential foods. This has compelled the Company to maintain 
prices at a constant level, despite the MRP having been 
removed in the previous year and production costs having 
risen substantially since then.

The price of Maize is now at Rs. 50/- per Kg. and still on the 
rise. The Government’s protectionist policy on Maize, which 
allows only limited imports on special permits, has substantially 
raised production costs in the industry, and consequently, the 
Company.

The increased competition among poultry processors together 
with the challenging economic conditions resulted in thinned 
margins in the Company’s bottom line during the year. Poultry 
producers contribute substantially to government coffers with 
high taxes, so it is in the interest of the government to support 
the industry, since a faltering industry will adversely impact 
government coffers. The new tax rate that will come into effect 
next year, will increase taxes from the present 12 % to 28 %, 
which will further impact the Company’s bottom line.

The poultry business is considered as a key component of the 
country’s industrialisation policy because of its vast potential as 
an export earner. It is therefore imperative that the industry is 
provided with a level playing field if it is to stay sustainable.

Operating Environment
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Segmental Analysis

The integrated poultry business of the Group operates under three main business segments namely, 

 Â Milling and farming 

 Â Poultry breeding and commercial 

 Â Others 

More information on the business segments are presented in Note 4 - Segment Information of the Financial Statements of this 
Annual Report. All three segments, individually and as a single integrated poultry business, provided valuable contributions to the 
highly commendable performance of the Group.

Revenue 2017
(Rs. Million)

2016
(Rs. Million)

Milling and farming 14,848 14,010

Poultry breeding and 
commercial

2,404 2,545

Others 142 133

Asset Base 2017
(Rs. Million)

2016
(Rs. Million)

Milling and farming 6,236 5,198

Poultry breeding and 
commercial

3,557 2,980

Others 685 616

1 %  Others

85 % Milling and farming

14 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2017

1 %  Others

84 % Milling and farming

15 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2016

Profit for the year 2017
(Rs. Million)

2016
(Rs. Million)

Milling and farming 451 818

Poultry breeding and 
commercial

654 813

Others 16 52

2 %  Others

40 % Milling and farming

58 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2017

3 %  Others

49 % Milling and farming

48 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2016

7 %  Others

59 % Milling and farming

34 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2017

7 %  Others

59 % Milling and farming

34 % Poultry breeding  
and commercial

2016
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Milling and farming segment

The milling and farming segment is the main operating 
segment of the Group and includes the milling of poultry and 
other animal feeds and the processing of chicken. The segment 
contributed 85 %, 40 % and 59 % to the Group revenue, profit 
and assets base respectively.

The feed milling operation is a key priority of the Group since 
it provides the preliminary input that forms the basis of the 
rest of the operations, which is to say that milling operations 
directly impact the performance of the rest of the poultry 
integration process, including the end products of chicken 
meat and table eggs. Therefore, maintaining quality is of 
paramount importance, so the Group strives to maintain the 
highest standards in its feed operations in terms of the quality 
of the raw materials used as well as the production skills of the 
labour force.

Maintaining effective feed formulation with available raw 
materials was key to improving the feed quality essential to 
the success of the segment. Maize, the main ingredient of the 
input, plays a major role in terms of the cost and quality of the 
feed. However, during the period under review, the supply of 
local Maize was insufficient to meet industry requirements, 
which led to increases in purchase prices. Also, the delay 
in granting import permits which resulted in further cost 
increases due to the increase of global market prices of Maize.

The farming of live birds and the chicken processing operation 
curtailed segmental performance. Demand for chicken meat in 
the local market weakened consequent to a market glut that 
prevailed throughout the year. This compelled the Company 
to sell chicken at discounted prices in order to manage excess 

stocks, which resulted in reduced margins. Farming of live 
birds was also affected by increased material costs, high utility 
expenses and adverse weather which directly affected the 
segment’s bottom line.

Despite these challenges, the segment recorded a satisfactory 
performance, posting a revenue of Rs. 14.85 Billion, as against 
Rs. 14.01 Billion achieved in 2016. However, the profitability 
of the segment declined by 45 % during the year. The Milling 
and farming segment comprises a total assets of Rs. 6.24 Billion 
which contributes 2.3 times of its assets turnover.

Figure - Key indicators and contribution 

(Rs. Million)  2017  2016 Change

Revenue* 14,848 14,010 838

EBIT 589 976 (387)

PBT 584 968 (384)

PAT 451 818 (367)

TA 6,236 5,198 1,038

TL 2,594 1,861 733

* Revenue includes inter-company sales
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Poultry breeding and commercial segment
The Poultry breeding and commercial segment is considered 
the second largest core operating segment of the Group, 
and contributed 14 %, 58 % and 34 % respectively to Group 
revenue, profit and assets base. The segment carries out the 
breeding, hatching and sale of commercial Layer, Broiler and 
Parent Stock Day Old Chicks (DOC) by operating breeder 
farming facilities and commercial broiler farms, primarily 
focuses on growing broiler chicken.

CGE’s subsidiary, Three Acre Farms PLC (TAF), holds the sole 
franchise for Hy-Line breeds for commercial Layers and the 
Indian River breeds for commercial Broilers.

Revenue and operating profit from the breeder sector reduced 
as a result of adverse market conditions and delays in the 
importation of Grandparent(GP) DOCs. Sale of Layer DOC 
were negatively impacted due to the instability in the table 
egg market. However the decline in segmental revenue was 
marginal when compared to the revenue of the previous year, 
since the Company was able to maintain its revenue from sales 
of Broiler DOCs even during the glut in the chicken market, 
by ensuring the high quality of the DOC and the loyalty of our 
customers who have confidence in our brand in long term 
relationship.

The year saw high export demand for Parent Stock (PS) 
DOC from Sri Lanka as an Avian Influenza-free country. This 
resulted in a substantial increase in exports which made a 
35 % contribution to the segmental revenue. The Company 
is confident that new orders for Broiler PS DOC exports will 
increase profit and revenue in the future.

The commercial farming of the segment provides contract 
grower farming facilities to the Group. These have been 
upgraded to the latest technology of Environmentally 
Controlled (EC) housing which also preserves bio-security 

inside the farming facilities. EC houses reduce mortality rates 
and substantially improve productivity.

Revenue from commercial farming declined as a result of 
adverse weather conditions that prevailed during the year. 
Drought conditions in the first half of the year and floods in the 
second half caused a delay in the placement of Broiler DOCs 
for rearing.

The poultry breeding and commercial segment generated 
noteworthy performances, despite the marginal reduction 
of revenues from Rs. 2.55 Billion in 2016, to Rs. 2.40 Billion 
during the year. Despite the drop in profitability, the segment’s 
contribution to the Group’s bottom line increased to 58 %, as 
against the previous year’s contribution of 48 %.

Total profits of the segment at end of 2017 stood at Rs. 653.7 
Million, as compared with Rs. 812.8 Million in the previous year. 
The asset base of the segment amounted to Rs. 3.55 Billion and 
comprised 34 % of the Group's total assets, despite a marginal 
decrease of 0.18 times of assets turnover compared to the 
previous year.

Figure - Key indicators and contribution 

(Rs. Million)  2017  2016 Change

Revenue* 2,404 2,545 (141)

EBIT 779 932 (153)

PBT 780 932 (152)

PAT 654 813 (159)

TA 3,557 2,980 577

TL 597 582 15

* Revenue includes inter-company sales
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Other segment

In addition to the improved performances across its core 
operating segments, the Group also continued to record increased 
contributions from its other revenue generating activities which 
covered all aspects of the integrated poultry business. This includes 
the renting of warehouse storage space, supply of specialised 
equipment and the supply of drugs and vaccines to the poultry 
industry.

The Group also rents out warehouse space under its Silo and 
Warehouse Complex segment. The complex preserves the quality 
of key raw materials during storage and assures the quality of 
poultry feed produced. As a result, the Group enjoys a distinctive 
advantage in the purchase of bulk material by way of better pricing. 
By outsourcing its excess storage facilities to third parties, the Group 
was able to further augment its revenue streams.

The revenue posted from this segment amounted to Rs. 141.8 
Million, as compared with Rs. 133.2 Million in the previous year, 
which was a 6 % YoY increase led mainly by warehouse renting 
operations. The segment recorded a substantial profit after tax of 
Rs. 16.4 Million contributing 2 % of the Group's profit for the year of 
review. The segment’s asset base stood at Rs. 685.2 Million, which is 
a marginal improvement over its performance of the previous year 
during which it’s asset base was valued at Rs. 616.2 Million, which 
was approximately 7 % of the total assets of the Group.

Figure - Key indicators and contribution 

(Rs. Million)  2017  2016 Change

Revenue* 142 133 9

EBIT 86 60 26

PBT 86 60 26

PAT 16 52 (36)

TA 685 616 69

TL 200 141 59

* Revenue includes inter-company sales

Sector Reviews



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

67
Group Overview and

Executive Reviews
Creating Value for 

Stakeholders
Management Discussion 

and Analysis
Financial Reports Investor Highlights 

and Information
Governance

Reports

The management oversees its financial capital with due 
diligence in order to integrate and balance all the other 
capitals to achieve the ultimate objectives of every stakeholder 
and the vision and mission of the Company. Disciplines 
in making financial decisions and transparency in every 
transaction of the operations were key factors to sustain in the 
financial position of CGE.

The financial capital of CGE consists of a pool of funds that 
is available for use in the production of goods and the 

Financial Capital

provision of services which are obtained through financing, or 
generated through operations or investments. So, the financial 
management objective of the Company is aimed at achieving 
sustainable growth while generating significant competitive 
advantages.

This section provides a comprehensive overlook of how the 
Company allocates its funds to achieve profitability and growth 
as determined by its financial objectives and long-term and 
short-term goals.

The Company manages its financial capital by prioritising in compliance with the best practices and standards of all 
relevant statutory and regulatory bodies, and places effective safeguards to deal with uncertainty and associated risks.

CGE practices prudent financial management in all areas of business, and operates under the following financial 
advantages which have placed us on a solid financial foundation:

 Â Proactive cash flow management that ensures the availability of sufficient funds to continue in business operations

 Â Driving business strategies towards preserving profitability margins in each operating segment

 Â Pursuing opportunities for process and cost efficiencies

 Â Maintaining a healthy statement of financial position

 Â Investing at the right time for future prospects

 Â Enhancing credibility and establishing bonds with stakeholders by distributing returns

 Â Investing surplus funds in short term financial instruments which gives the best rate of returns.

Key Performance Indicators (Our Valued inputs and output)

KPI 2017 2016 YoY %

Revenue (Rs. Mn) 15,154.9 14,521.7 4

Profit before taxation (Rs. Mn) 1,399.6 1,958.4 (29)

Profit after taxation (Rs. Mn) 1,069.9 1,681.7 (36)

Earnings per share (Rs.) 13.17 22.23 (41)

Total assets (Rs. Mn) 10,170.8 8,445.5 19

Total debt Nil Nil -

Equity holders’ funds (Rs. Mn) 5,712.5 5,066.5 13

Total equity (Rs. Mn) 6,979.2 6,092.8 15

Market price per share (Rs.) 66.10 82.90 (20)

Number of shareholders 
representing the public holdings

4,955 4,896 1

Despite the negative factors when compared 
to the previous year, your company was 
able to continuously increase its Group 
revenue and shareholders’ interest in 2017, 
by mitigating many of the obstacles through 
speculative decision making and good 
corporate governance practices. Managing 
financial capital by balancing other capitals 
to achieve the goals set for the current year 
was your company’s best achievement 
during the period.

Overview and approach
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Statement of profit or loss

Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by 4 % during the 
current year. The main segment, milling and farming, 
contributed 85 % of the Group revenue by increasing 
1 % over the previous year’s contribution of 84 %. This 
improvement was mainly due to the increase in demand 
for poultry and animal feed as a result of developments in 
animal husbandry and the increase of Layer Parent birds 
in the country. However, this momentum of growth in 
revenue was precluded by the decrease in poultry breeding 
and commercial segment revenue during the current year. 
Increases in the Layer Parent bird population in the country 
have been the direct cause of the lower performance in this 
segment, as revenue declined by 6 %, from Rs. 2.54 Billion 
to Rs. 2.40 Billion, despite the substantial increase in Parent 
DOC revenue in the current year.

Gross Profit

Significantly, the Group reported a gross profit of over one Billion rupees for the third consecutive 
year. This achievement was mainly due to managing and integrating each of the six capitals by 
adopting modern management technologies and theories. Despite the growth in revenue in the 
current year, the Group reported a gross profit of Rs. 1,543.5 Million when compared to the gross 
profit of Rs. 2,309.7 Million in 2016, which was a decrease of 33 %. The current year’s gross profit 
was impacted mainly by the escalating cost of raw materials, glut in the chicken market and the 
decrease in demand for Layer DOCs as a result of excess supplies in the table egg market.

Escalating costs of raw materials continued during the period mainly due to the decrease in 
local Maize production and Government restrictions on the importation of Maize when the 
international Maize prices were low. After several requests made to the Government officials by 
the poultry association, limited permits were released for the import of Maize to the country but 
a Rs.10/- duty was imposed on Maize imports nevertheless. Despite facing such difficulties in the 
poultry Industry, the Group was able to optimise performance by utilising better management 
skills.

Group EBIT Composition

The following graph illustrates the Group EBIT composition that indicates outstanding 
performance in the last two years.

Finance Income

Finance income represents the interest income earned by the Group from investments in short 
term bank deposits and commercial papers. During the period under review, the finance income 
of the Group increased significantly to Rs. 293.3 Million [2016: Rs. 151.2 Million] as a result of 
consistency in cash generated from operating activities.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the current year decreased to Rs. 4.05 Million when compared to 
the Rs. 8.53 Million reported in 2016 due to the decrease in foreign exchange losses.

Financial Capital
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Taxation

During the year under review, Group tax expense increased by 19 % to Rs. 329.7 Million [2016: 
Rs. 276.7 Million]. The Group tax expense comprised primarily of income tax and deferred tax 
expenses. Income tax for the current year decreased to Rs. 180.2 Million when compared to Rs. 
215.8 Million in the previous year, due to the decrease in Group profitability. Deferred tax has 
been increased by Rs. 88.6 Million or 146 % in the current year as a result of the change of tax rate 
with the new Inland Revenue Act No. 24 of 2017. Accordingly, the Group deferred tax reported for 
the current year was Rs. 149.5 Million [2016: Rs. 60.9 Million].

Profit for the year

By focusing its core business and mitigating obstacles during the period under review, the 
Group achieved its one Billion profit hurdle consistently for the third year. However, current 
year profitability decreased by Rs. 611.8 Million or 36 % to Rs. 1,069.9 Million mainly due to the 
escalating costs of raw materials, chicken market glut and increase in deferred tax expenses. The 
total impact of these negative factors was reduced by the finance income earned by the Group 
and the decrease in operating expenses.

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company stood at Rs. 790.2 Million for the 
period of review, compared to the Rs. 1,333.9 Million reported in the previous year.

Earnings per share

The Group continued to provide tremendous value to its esteemed shareholders, achieving an 
earnings per share (EPS) amounting to Rs. 13.17, as compared with Rs. 22.23 per share in the previous 
year. The EPS for the Company stood at Rs. 7.51 for the year as compared with Rs. 13.63 in 2016.

Price to Earnings ratio

The price-to-earnings ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was 5.02 times, against 3.73 
times as at 31 December 2016. The price-to-earnings ratio of the Company as at 31 December 
2017 was 8.80 times against 6.08 times as at 31 December 2016. At the end of the year, the 
Company’s share price stood at Rs. 66.10, compared to the share price of Rs. 82.90 at the end of 
2016.
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Dividend

The Company paid a First 
and Final dividend of Rs. 2.50 
per share amounting to Rs. 
150 Million during the year in 
respect of the year ended 31 
December 2016. The Directors 
have proposed a First and 
Final dividend of Rs. 2.00 per 
share amounting to  
Rs. 120 Million for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 
subject to shareholder 
approval at the Annual 
General Meeting. The 
Company has access to the 
necessary funds to finance 
the payment of the final 
dividend.

Statement of Financial Position

Financial Position Structure
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Total Assets

Continuously improved performance in all aspects of the business segment led the management 
to make prudent investment and operational decisions. Accordingly the Group’s total assets base 
increased to Rs. 10.17 Billion during the current year, an increase of 20 % when compared to the 
previous year.

Non-Current Assets

Non-current assets stood at Rs. 3.39 Billion, an increase of Rs. 332.7 Million or 11 % when 
compared to the previous year. The improvement is mainly due to the purchase of a Poultry 
Processing Plant valued at Rs. 274.4 Million and the sub-lease of the same land at Rs. 57.0 Million. 
During the period, the Group invested in fixed assets valued at Rs. 482.2 Million and non-current 
biological assets amounting to Rs. 518.9 Million.

Current Assets

The current assets of the Group increased to Rs. 6,779.3 Million, a 26 % increase when compared 
to the previous year, mainly due to the improved cash position and increase in inventory 
balances. The cash position improved by 31 % or Rs. 671.4 Million, to Rs. 2.86 Billion as a result of 
cash generated from operating activities and effective working capital management during the 
period. Inventory balances increased by 24 % or Rs. 622.2 Million to Rs. 3.25 Billion as Maize was 
imported with Government permits at year end.

Current Ratio

The Group’s current ratio stood at 2.47 times, whereas it was 2.60 times in the previous year. The 
decrease in the current ratio was mainly due to the increase in amount due to related companies 
as a result of the utilisation of the maximum credit facility.

Non-Current Liabilities

Non-current liabilities comprised deferred tax liability and employee benefits which stood at Rs. 
442.5 Million as at the current reporting date, a 56 % increase when compared to the previous 
financial year. The deferred tax liability increased by 73 % to Rs. 358.8 Million due to the change in 
the tax rate as per the new Inland Revenue Act.

Shareholders’ Funds

The Group’s total equity attributable to shareholders also posted similar improvements, 
expanding to Rs. 5.71 Billion from the previous year’s Rs. 5.07 Billion, a significant hike of 13 % YoY 
primarily led by the improved profitability of the Group. The Company’s total equity increased by 
Rs. 305.2 Million over the previous year to Rs. 3.64 Billion.

Market Capitalisation and Market Prices

Market prices and market capitalisation reduced as a result of declining capital market conditions. 
Market capitalisation declined by 20 % during the year to Rs.3.97 Billion, from Rs. 4.97 Billion in 
2016.

Despite the negative factors when compared to the previous year, your Company was able to 
continuously increase its Group revenue and shareholders’ interest in 2017, by mitigating many of 
the obstacles through speculative decision- making and good corporate governance practices. 
Managing financial capital by balancing other capitals to achieve the goals set for the current year 
was your Company’s best achievement during the period.
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Manufactured Capital

Manufactured capital plays a major role in our value creation process.

As a manufacturing organisation that operates in the livestock industry, we value our facilities and treat them with the 
utmost care. So we adhere to quality control processes in order to cater to the market with products of the finest quality.

The manufactured capital of the milling and farming segment consists of the feed mills, buildings, machinery and 
equipment used in its manufacturing and laboratory services.

The poultry breeding and commercial segment comprises breeder and commercial farm houses, hatcheries and related 
equipment used in growing the breeder and broiler birds.

Overview and approach

Our Manufactured Capital

Land & Building

Plant, Machinery & Equipment

Motor Vehicles

EC Houses

Farm Equipment

Warehouses & Silos

Cold Rooms & Blast Freezers

Business Segments

Milling & Farming

Poultry Breeding & 
Commercial

Other

Conformance Practices
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The feed mill produces poultry and animal feed for commercial purposes in the country and is 
strategically positioned next to the Colombo port enables direct transfer of raw materials from 
bulk shipments to the silos. This saves valuable time and costs as well as maintains quality: the 
quality of the feed impacts the performance of the rest of the poultry integration process. The 
production control system of the feed mill has been upgraded to the most technologically 
advanced system which, in addition to increasing production efficiency and reducing costs 
throughout the process, also reduces wastage and downtime.

Our silos and warehouses are state-of-the-art facilities centrally located for receiving and storing 
raw materials in a manner that preserves their quality. The finished goods of the feed mill are 
stored until distribution at the central warehouse.

The chicken processing plant located in Seeduwa comprises a semi-automated processing 
facility as well as advanced blast freezing and cold room facilities that meet industry 
requirements and use the best preservation technologies.

Group (at cost) 2017 2016

Land and building Rs. Mn 2,066 2,045

Plant and machinery Rs. Mn 1,682 1,371

Equipment and fittings Rs. Mn 166 151

Capital expenditure Rs. Mn 541 206

Our manufacturing and farming facilities are listed in Notes to the Financial Statements in this 
Annual Report.

Capital expenditure during the year

The Group incurred Rs. 541 Million during the year on purchases and upgrades of machinery and 
equipment, which is over twofold the amount spend Rs. 206 Million in 2016.

Some key projects are listed below,

Feed mill
 Â Improving bulk ship unloading and oil 

storage facilities. 

 Â Improving fire safety.

Chicken 
processing 
plant

 Â Upgrading the processes, maintenance services 
and laboratories. 

 Â Improving the access to water while keeping in 
mind the concerns of sustainable water use.

Manufactured Capital
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Maintenance 

Maintenance is scheduled regularly to minimise losses during operating hours. Maintenance of the machinery is carried out by a 
trained team in the in-house engineering department. Every repair or maintenance job follows a regulated process and procedure. 
In addition to the regular upkeep by the company’s engineering department, we also avail ourselves of the expertise of our 
principals in Singapore as well as local service providers.

Planning

 Â Maintenance plan

 Â Readily available tools 
and equipment

 Â Recording system of 
machinery breakdown  
and failures

Execution

 Â Routine machinery services

 Â Preventive machinery services 

 Â Cost analysis

 Â Activity- based requisitions

 Â Warehouse handling

Continuous monitoring

 Â Continuous evaluation of 
man and machinery hours

 Â Monitoring  of service records

 Â Evaluation of service records 
with maintenance plan

Machinery maintenance engagement

Quality assurance

Regular and systematic quality checks on the feed production and chicken processing plant are 
conducted by the quality control division.

Certifications obtained

ISO certification  
(ISO 9001:2015)

ISO 2200:2005 
certification

SLS – PRIMA Chicken

Safety

We nurture a strong safety culture in all our facilities to ensure that injuries and occupational 
diseases are eliminated. Employees are mandated to wear personal protective clothing relevant 
to the particular areas in which they work, which include gloves, masks, footwear and protective 
outer wear.

Sustainable manufacturing methods

The Group engages in several initiatives aimed at reducing the overall carbon footprint of its 
operations, including conversion to LED lighting and other resource optimisation.

Plans for the future

In the milling and farming 
segment, CGE plans to 
expand cold room facilities 
for frozen meat storage 
and to construct a new 
warehouse complex for feed 
storage, which are necessary 
to accommodate the 
increased production.

In the breeder farming and 
commercial segment, plans 
are in the pipeline to build 
a modern breeder farm 
with a hatchery as well as a 
commercial farm.
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The Intellectual capital of the Company is created by the value generated from the knowledge of our people, 
the reputation of our brands, and the business processes, systems and procedures that we have within our 
unique corporate culture, to ensure that our business is sustainable well into the future and creates value for 
our stakeholders.

Overview and approach

Knowledge & 
Experience

Processes & 
Procedures

Brand & 
Reputation

Information 
Systems

Knowledge and Experience

Our leadership in poultry industry of nearly four decades has 
gained us the expertise and experience that are substantial 
deposits in our base of intellectual capital. Considerable know-
how gained in building and managing a vertical and highly 
integrated business, utilising the natural capital of the country 
in a manner that no adverse impact to the environment and 
surrounding communities.

All this success has been due to the skills and knowledge of 
our staff. Our performance-driven culture places continued 
emphasis on improving and upgrading the knowledge of our 
skilled teams of nutritionists and other skilled experts who 
have the required know-how on feed formulation. We have 
also developed industry-specific skills that are vital to our 
agriculture-oriented business. Seasonal climate forecasting, for 
instance, is critical for taking management decisions, which 
skills our management team, who have many years of industry 
experience. The very nature of our business requires a skilled, 
competent and experienced technical team to manage and 
operate the mill and our poultry breeder farms and processing 
facilities. The fact that our production and processing machinery 
is operated at optimal capacity and that there have been no 
project failures to date and machinery breakdowns have been 
kept to a minimum, bears testimony to their competence.

We also have on board an academically and professionally 
qualified team at our head office, who are well geared to 
optimise capital inputs through efficient capital and risk 
management which have resulted in a positive impact on our 
bottom line.

We have another skill unique to the market. We are the 
only local poultry producer to enjoy the expert knowledge, 
management services and production know-how provided by 
our parent company, Prima Singapore.

Processes and Procedures

We have well formulated processes, systems and procedures 
in place, documents the progress of our business, the 
experience gained, and the challenges faced, which are used 
as learning experiences when we plan our next projects. We 
have developed effective Management Systems and Process 
Manuals on various stages of our feed and poultry operations, 
as well as implemented financial and accounting controls 
and systems to ensure that we do business in accordance 
with prescribed legal and statutory frameworks within set 
parameters. Our systems are reviewed by independent parties 
to confirm that our processes and procedures are effective in 
accomplishing our objectives.

These many areas of knowledge give us a competitive 
advantage and help us to achieve our goal of business 
excellence.

Intellectual Capital
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Brand and Reputation

Our brand reputation has substantially added to our invaluable 
store of knowledge, which has been carefully built up over 
the years through our technological competencies, leadership 
market position and ethical practices.

Our brand reputation subscribes to our corporate philosophy 
centered on the 3H principles of building a Healthy 
Organisation, being an Honourable Winner and making an 

Honest Fortune. Our corporate goals of reaching the status of 
an integrated poultry business and establishing “PRIMA” and 
“FARMERS’ CHOICE” as brand names synonymous with the very 
best in high quality products, establishing high standards of 
good corporate governance, improving transparency and the 
standards of accountability to our shareholders, are also being 
realised by the reputation of our brand.

Brands

Our brands signify quality and trust, and occupy the top spots in their categories:

Feeds – Farmer’s Choice, Prima Chicken – Prima has been elevated to the 
position of Chef’s preferred brand

DOC – Hy-line and Indian River are 
internationally reputed brands for 

which our subsidiary TAF holds sole-
franchise in Sri Lanka.

Tacit Knowledge 
& Processes

 Â Technical experts

 Â Quality assurance

 Â R&D team

Innovation 
Capability

 Â In-house laboratories

 Â High biosecurity practices

 Â Experimental farms

Information Systems

The strategy formulation and implementation process of CGE is backed by an Enterprise 
Resource Planning System. The system is capable of processing receipts of a customer’s order to 
deliver goods as well as all other supply chain activities, and generate financial and non-financial 
information for internal as well as external use. We place great importance on our systems as they 
enable us to optimise efficiency and effectiveness throughout our value creation model.
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R&D and Innovation
Ongoing focus on enhancing our R&D capabilities has enabled the feed milling 
segment to persistently introduce innovative solutions to circumvent shortages 
in raw materials, improve animal welfare, reduce nutrient wastages and cater 
to emerging trends in the global poultry industry, which have been both cost 
effective and conform to quality. This is a vital element of our brand reputation as 
it strengthens our market capabilities and positioning our brand name across the 
mindset of the consumers.

This function is carried out by our technical and nutrition team which consists of 
highly skilled and trained professionals.

Intellectual Capital

Concept Identification

Management Approval

Commercialisation

Practical Application
 Â Product development

 Â Procedure implementation

End of the process

Positive Negative

       Research Modeling & Planning

  Feasibility Test
i. Ability to ensure human health

ii. Ability to match customer expectations

iii. Cost benefit analysis

i. Continuous monitoring

ii. Re-evaluation

iii. Further development

Applied Research

   Experimental Application
 Â In laboratories

 Â In farms 
 Â In feed mills

 Â In processing plants

Basic Research    Theoretical analysis & evaluation

Human well-being 
& animal welfare

Market Trends & 
Concerns

Customer 
Preferences

Latest research 
findingsPr
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Launch of new products during the year

A new dairy feed range and a breeder feed range were 
introduced, which sets a new industry benchmark on quality 
feeds.

Activities during the year

Investment in R & D

The Company has invested in a poultry experimental farm to 
carry out experiments on optimal feed formulation, and this 
facility will be further expanded to add a dairy experimental 
farm to conduct tests on dairy feed.

Initiatives to drive a high-performance driven culture

Hard work and commitment is recognised and employees are 
rewarded with better perks and promotions.

Ongoing engagement between the marketing, production 
and R & D teams

A series of initiatives was introduced to promote customer 
engagement:

 Â Sponsorship of Culinary Art Food Expo 2017 and setting up 
of a stall display at the exhibition

Prima stall at Culinary Art Food Expo 2017

 Â Sponsorship of the Sri Lanka Economic Summit 2017

 Â Attendance at the LANKA LIVESTOCK ’17 – Sri Lanka’s 
biggest feed, livestock and animal health expo, of many CGE 
and TAF employees, to enhance knowledge on new poultry 
initiatives and trends, new methods and technologies.

 Â VIV Asia Poultry Exhibition, an international large- scale 
expo held every two years attended by professionals from 
all over the world, was held in Bangkok during the year 
and attended by many company professionals engaged in 
operational areas in order to gain knowledge on new trends 
and technologies.

Awards and Accolades

CGE received a certificate for excellence in energy conservation 
in the Steam Distribution Category at the annual customer 
meet of Forbes Marshall held during the year.

The Company has also been recognised for our high standards 
of reporting and disclosure at the Annual Report Awards 
conducted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Sri Lanka (ICASL). This recognition is for clear and cohesive 
reporting which goes beyond the statutory requirements 
of corporate reportage and has won us placements in the 
industry category over the years.
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Human Capital
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ss  Â Talent pool (and attraction)

 Â Continuous training and development

 Â Collective engagement

 Â Rewards and  grievances handling

 Â Welfare activities for employees

A
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 Â Talented and skilled pool

 Â Motivated employees

 Â Target- driven workforce

 Â Succession plan

Fu
tu

re
 

p
ro

sp
ec

ts
 - 

M
is

si
on

 fo
r 

20
18

 Â Strengthen relationships among employees for 
empowerment

 Â Increase skill inventory of employees

O
ur

  
ap

p
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h  Â Attractive remuneration and training 

development budget

 Â Skill development grid

 Â Performance driven competency matrix

 Â Technologically driven HR System

 Â Motivation and team building

H
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 Â  Structured set policies  and procedures

 Â Training evaluation

 Â  Regular performance evaluation

 Â  Employee attendance and monitoring

As the pace of business accelerates and competition intensifies, human resources has become a powerful tool that 
provides us with the foresight to react speedily and intelligently to the fast-changing environment.

We partner our human capital to achieve sustainable success by equipping them with resources that combine personal 
and professional development with business know-how, which assures high performance. We also promote a diversity- 
based culture that supports the philosophy that ideas from varied backgrounds inspire the power to innovate, with 
ultimate benefits to the organisation.

We are an equal opportunity employer, and provide women employees with pay, benefits and performance-based rewards 
on par with their male colleagues.

Overview and approach
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Human Capital Governance

The Group’s people management is guided by formal policy frameworks and robust governance structures which ensure all 
employees are treated fairly and in a consistent manner. Our HR Framework conforms to all relevant laws and regulations while 
following industry best practices.

AGM- HR

Remuneration Committee

Board

General Manager

HR Department

Human Resources Strategy

Our HR department plays a strategic function across the Group by reflecting and supporting company goals. It partners the 
business units by identifying operational areas that could be fortified with the right people in place.

We have, accordingly, introduced a range of initiatives over the years that have succeeded in attracting, developing and retaining 
the best talent across the Group. Fundamental to our HR strategy is understanding our employees’ needs and aspirations and 
ensuring that all dealings with staff are a transparent and two-way process.

Talent Retention Training & Development AdministrationTalent  Attraction

 Â Recruitment

 Â Equal opportunity

 Â Performance 
management

 Â Recognition

 Â Employee 
welfare

 Â Competency 
assessment

 Â Local training

 Â Overseas training

 Â Career guidance

 Â Training evaluation

 Â HR administration

 Â HRIS

 Â Health and safety

 Â Grievance handling
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Recruitment

Effective recruitment processes are integral to the performance of both the 
organisation as well as its staff, and the Company realises the importance of 
appointing competent people and the necessity of evaluating their performance and 
assessing them appropriately.

CGE practices a structured recruitment procedure and the most suitable candidate is 
then identified through a careful selection process.

For all selections a standardised interviewing procedure is followed and it is based 
solely on the suitability of the candidate for the job at hand. Canvassing is strictly 
prohibited.

2017 2016

New hires 3.1:1 2.9:1

Ratio of male: female

New recruits are required to sign the Group’s Code of Conduct and abide by its 
rules and regulations. The new recruits attend an induction session where they 
are presented with an overview of the Company which highlights the Company 
values, policies and procedures, management structure, rewards, welfare and other 
procedures. In addition to the induction programme, the Company carries out several 
refresher trainings and workshops throughout the year to inculcate the Company’s 
values, rules and regulations and to upgrade the technical and process knowledge.

Staff composition

This selection process has been effective in bringing on board a competent team. Key 
and senior positions of the Company are occupied by well- qualified and experienced 
staff who have the academic and professional qualifications required for the positions 
they hold.

CGE has a staff cadre that comprises 490 permanent staff and 150 fixed term contract 
staff in the Group of which 488 are males and 152 are females. All staff work full-time. 
Certain work functions are outsourced to few contractors.

Gender Composition

76%
2016 - 77% 2016 - 23%

24%

The majority of staffing- about two-third in CGE Group are between 36 and 55 years 
of age.

Human Capital

No. of 
employees

640
90%  
Retention rate
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Team Profile - Employee Category

  2017 2016

Senior Managers and above 19 17

Managers and Assistant Managers 42 40

Senior Executives and Executives 67 61

Non-Executives 512 428

Salary and benefits

The salaries and benefits enjoyed by our employees are on par with industry 
standards, and in several instances, exceed them, because we believe that a satisfied 
employee gives of his best and commits to a long-term relationship with the 
Company. 

All salaries and wages are above the minimum wage and all statutory payments 
such as EPF, ETF and gratuity are made in accordance with local labour laws. The 
staff enjoys several added benefits that include meals, transportation and medical 
insurance. On-site staffs are also provided with uniforms. The Company also supports 
the education including higher studies of employees’ children. 

The category-wise ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to 
men is the same.

Engagement

Health  
&  

Safety

Training 
&  

Development

Rewards  
&  

Recognition

Employee 
Value
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Engagement, rewards and recognition

The Company engages closely with staff because we know that engaged employees have a 
sense of connection with the Company and are confident that the work they do contributes to 
the Company’s prosperity. This, in turn, promotes more effective job performance that positively 
impacts profitability.

Employees receiving regular performance reviews : 100%

CGE has in place a system of rewards and recognition for good performance and loyalty that 
values and appreciates the employee in addition to promoting a strong performance-based 
culture within the organisation. Also, the Company accolades long service awards on completion 
of every 5 years.

Through the annual reviews of employees, the Company identifies knowledge gaps in existing 
skills as well as explore the need to provide the employee with new skills to enhance his job 
performance by conducting a gap analysis. A skills inventory maintained by the HR department 
records all training and qualifications obtained.

Executive staff composition by service years

Years of Service 2017 2016

0-5 51 50

6-10 27 23

11-15 15 14

16-20 17 14

21-25 13 13

25 < 5 4

The Company has also designed a competency matrix which sets out the qualifications, skills and 
competencies required for each job title. This is used as the basis for succession planning within 
the Group. 

Training and development

The Company understands that personal and professional employee development is critical 
for business growth because training improves the productivity of employees, which in turn 
contributes to business goals as well as keeps them personally interested and involved in the 
Company’s growth and progress.

CGE aims to develop a learning culture throughout the Group. The Company provides  
on-the-job training with company and industry experts, which is carried out either locally or 
overseas, depending on the area of training and the availability of the trainers. Knowledge gaps 
are identified and filled with training to upgrade employees’ knowledge, teach them new skills 
and improve their sense of self-worth.

Human Capital
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Health and safety 

CGE recognises that any industry 
has certain occupational and 
environmental hazards that 
could be avoided if the proper 
safety precautions are followed. 
We have in place rules and 
procedures for factory and 
laboratory staff designed to 
ensure that employees carry out 
their jobs safely and effectively.

Process 
Safety

Procedural 
Safety

Behavioural 
Safety

helping employees to understand the 
importance of maintaining safety standards

ensuring safe equipment and processes

ensuring adequate procedures are in place for the 
safe operation and maintenance of all equipment

The Group strives to create a culture of safety within the workplace by exhorting employees to:

Adhere to safety rules at all times and encourage others to do so

Follow isolation and lock out procedures

Use protective equipment and required uniforms on site

Report all injuries and incidents 

Seeking assistance from the Emergency Response Team in case of  
an extremity.

Training session on safety for the employees conducted by Security and Transport Division
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All employees receive regular training on health and safety at which attendance is mandatory, 
and line managers are given the responsibility of ensuring attendance.

Fire drills are conducted annually, in association with the Sri Lanka Navy and fire training sessions 
are held in conjunction with the Sri Lanka Fire brigade.

The Company also diligently conducts first-aid training at least half yearly for all department 
representatives, to equip them to meet an emergency until medical help arrives. A series of 
safeguards are provided against injuries caused by sharp instruments and machinery during 
processing, which include on-the-job training on the use of equipment to minimise hazard. 
Training is also provided on the proper attire necessary to avoid contamination and the 
procedures to be followed.

Depending on the type of work engaged in, on-site staff are supplied with uniforms and 
appropriate personnel protective equipment that must be worn in accordance with company 
safety procedures. 

Biosecurity on farms, laboratories and processing plants is also prioritised, given the fact that we 
deal with livestock and food. So every precaution is taken to minimise the threat of diseases to 
birds and employees as we place top priority on providing the market with a quality product and 
safeguarding the health of our employees. 

Periodic safety audits are carried out to monitor compliance with all safety rules and 
requirements.

Labour practices and relations

CGE complies with applicable local labour laws, regulations and BOI guidelines. Child labour is 
strictly prohibited both on the farm sites as well as in our offices. This extends to manual and 
semi-skilled work as well. 

Our minimum age of recruitment is maintained at 18 years.

We also ensure, as far as possible, that our suppliers follow our policies on child labour and strive 
not to partner with stakeholders who fail to comply with these principles. 

CGE communicates within an open work environment that keeps our employees informed of all 
operational changes in a timely manner. 

All applicable industrial laws, regulations, statutory obligations, awards, agreements and national 
codes of practice and guidelines are complied with, and an extensive grievance handling 
mechanism is in place to resolve any conflicts, focused on ensuring that work is carried out with 
minimal disruptions.

No cases were reported on grounds of discrimination, during the year of review. 

Human Capital
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Grievance mechanism 

We maintain an open and transparent process in all aspects of our dealings with our workforce, 
and consider positive industrial relations as being an essential aspect of our business. An open 
door policy is maintained throughout the organisation and the top management conducts 
regular meetings with the employee council to discuss any issues that may have arisen.  

There have been no grievances on labour practices filed and addressed in the year of review. 
The policy throughout the Group is to provide transparency and enable employees who have 
serious concerns about any aspect of their company work to come forward and inform their 
concerns to the management. All such concerns are treated with the utmost confidentiality, and 
the complaint is addressed immediately and remedied. The policy is an effective deterrent to 
unethical practices.

Work-life balance

We believe that a healthy work-life balance is essential for the emotional and physical health 
and well-being of our staff, and recognise that it also plays an important role in improving 
performance on the job. 

The annual staff gathering for employees is the highlight of the welfare activities of the year 
and a much-looked forward-to event on the company’s calendar, which serves to promote 
camaraderie and cordial inter-department relationships. The Company also has a Sports and 
Recreation Club that organises regular activities to keep staff connected and motivated. 

Annual get-together of employees with their families
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Social and Relationship Capital

Sustainable practices are fast becoming pre-requisites for assessing a business’ capacity to adapt and innovate as well as its 
ability to create value for stakeholders. Sustainability issues like climate change and the competition for natural resources 
have now become material concerns for most organisations, more so for companies like ours which, being key components 
of the agriculture sector, bear the heavy impacts of the vagaries of the climate. This direct involvement has increased our 
empathy and furthered our resolve to support community initiatives that help victims of extreme weather conditions 
combat the worst of the effects.

Responsible management of our Social and Relationship capital is considered a critical success factor for the long-term 
wellbeing of the company. We believe that developing long-term and mutually beneficial relationships with our key 
stakeholder groups helps maintain our social license to operate, and that it is the value of our relationships that build our 
business.

We strive to meet stakeholder requirements in good faith and aim to position our brand value in their mindset through a 
variety of socially responsible initiatives.

Consumer Value Creation

We nurture our relationship with 
our customers because they are 
the primary source of our value 
creation, and their confidence in 
our key brand, PRIMA chicken is 
the main strength of the company. 
We strive to foster long-term, 
sustainable relationships with them 
based on the excellence of the 
product we serve.

Consumers & Dealers

Farmers, Outgrowers 
& other suppliers

Government and 
other institutions

Local communities
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Customer satisfaction surveys are carried out on annually through 
comprehensive feedback forms which track multiple indicators relating to 
product quality, sales staff services, complaint handling, product range and 
innovativeness, prices, delivery times etc. CGE has scored satisfactorily in all 
categories, achieving above 91 % satisfaction in all aspects.

We also engage with consumers through events and promotions which 
served to increase awareness of our products and add value through cookery 
demonstrations, social media competitions and online quizzes. We were a 
key sponsor of Culinary Art Expo 2017 organised by Chef Guild of Sri Lanka, a 
premier event in the annual culinary calendar. This time’s participation was as 
the Prima Group under the theme of “Excellence in Food Service”.

Product 
Responsibility

 Â Quality assurance

 Â Regular quality check ups

Innovation
 Â New cattle feed range

 Â Breeder feed quality improvement

Customer 
Satisfaction

 Â On product quality  90 %

 Â On customer service 97 %

Our Distribution Network

The chicken distribution network is well 
equipped to ensure that our end products are 
available at the right time and in the required 
quality to fulfill customer needs. A widespread 
dealer network throughout the country is in 
place to cater to the general trade segment 
while the modern trade segment is catered 
through direct-sale relationships.

The Company continuously looks at enhancing 
the delivery service and has already initiated 
automation of our sales network which is 
expected to boost effectiveness substantially.

Sponsoring a cookery demonstration of ‘Rasasarani’



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

88

Farmers/ out-growers and other suppliers

We have given priority to the local communities to supply our key input raw material for feed manufacturing, Maize is mainly supplied 
by local farmers. CGE is the main buyer of the local Maize harvest. In instances where the local Maize harvest is inadequate, the 
Company obtains permits for importing the balance Maize requirements. The quality of the materials is ascertained prior to purchase 
to safeguard the quality of the end product.

Apart from the in-farm growing of birds, the Company engages with the community by inviting out-growers to take input materials 
and rear birds on their own farms and re-supply them to us. An agreed pricing formula, which is revised periodically, ensures they get a 
fair price for their products.

We have helped improve their livelihoods by providing them with quality inputs, technical knowledge and support by visiting their 
farms with a team qualified in animal husbandry and agriculture and advising them on best practices.

Business Partner Relationship

Delivery of Expectations Conflict Resolution

Expectation Assessment

 Â Fairness of price

 Â Marketing communication

 Â Supplier registration

 Â Regular review

 Â Satisfaction survey

 Â In house checklist

 Â Business partner feedback

 Â Self-evaluation

 Â Quality control systems of supplier

 Â Collaborative agreements

 Â Healthy voice

 Â Negotiation

We engage with many international brands as well, to obtain 
the high quality supplies used in the feed manufacture and 
rearing of the birds. A careful screening process is carried out to 
select the supplier who best meets our procurement standards 
on quality, reliability and cost. Longstanding relationships and 
reputations built and nurtured over the years determine their 
credibility. Since we deal with livestock, we ensure that we 
obtain the required licenses and permits from the respective 
authorities for each local and international procurement. 
Also, we use the latest NIR technology to test the quality of 
incoming raw materials in order to make sure that our end 
product is preserved with the highest quality.

Our procurement initiatives are designed to generate 
sustainable value to our supplier base and provide a collective 
value proposition towards the Company’s business model.

Fair prices for 
purchases

 Â Total payments to 
suppliers  
Rs. 11,030 Mn

Supplier 
Satisfaction

 Â Supplier material 
quality 90 %

Out-growers
 Â Total number 

of out-grower 
agreements  
89 Nos.

Social and Relationship Capital
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In the construction of our various facilities, too, we utilised the 
products and services of a number of local and international 
suppliers and contractors with established reputations in their 
field of specialty.

Our suppliers are also regularly evaluated to monitor the 
quality and the service provided and selection procedures are 
accordingly revisited to maintain the optimal supplier portfolio.

Supplier Evaluation Criteria

 Â Quality of Service

 Â Ethical Business Practices

 Â Compliance with Laws and Regulations

 Â Protection of Human Rights

Government and Regulatory Bodies

We work within the framework of all relevant institutions and 
regulatory bodies like Customs, DAPH, Ministry of Agriculture, 
Ministry of Livestock and the BOI, Central Environmental 
Authority etc. and ensure that the necessary licenses and 
approvals are obtained to transact our business legitimately.

There have not been any significant actual or potential 
negative impacts on society, nor negative impacts for labour 
practices or negative human rights impacts in the supply 
chain during the year under review, nor has legal action been 
taken against us for anti-competitive behavior, by customers, 
suppliers or contractors.

High Quality Products and Product Responsibility

Our brand value and loyalty have always been based on high 
product quality and product responsibility. Apart from rigorous 
internal policies, our manufacturing processes have obtained 
ISO 9001:2015 and SLS classification for Prima Chicken.

The quality policy of the Company is as follows,

We are committed to provide quality products and 
support services to our customers timely at competitive 
price whilst adhering to ISO 9001:2015 standard and 
other applicable regulatory requirements.
We consider employees as most valuable asset and 
will develop their competence in this sector, so as to 
improve processes in quality management system 
continually, create value to the customers and improve 
business performance. We ensure the policy is reviewed, 
understood and communicated to all levels of the 
organisation.

OUR QUALITY POLICY

Engaging with the community

We believe that protecting and uplifting the livelihoods of our 
communities is key to sustaining our responsibility towards the 
society as a reputed corporate. We have initiatives which follow 
a carefully planned strategy to promote activities that help 
uplift the lives of less privileged segments of the community as 
well as minimise the impact of our business operations on the 
planet. We use both a proactive as well as reactive approach 
here. This means that we may either identify a need in the 
community or the environment and take steps to address 
it, or entertain requests from less privileged member of the 
community to meet a dire need.

Our employees, too, are committed to bettering the lives of 
the communities around them, and volunteer their time and 
talents for a variety of CSR initiatives through the company’s 
Sports and Recreation Club.

Community 
Service

Spiritual  
Well-being

Youth 
Empowerment

Other 
Contributions
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Â Youth Empowerment: Supporting the country’s most popular sport

For the eleventh consecutive year, the Company supported and elevated the country’s most popular 
sport, cricket, as the main sponsor of the Under (U)-15 Inter-District Cricket Tournament and the 
Prima Inter-Provincial competition, presenting the prestigious Prima Champions Cup 2017 to the 
winning team, Western Province Central. The tournaments are organised and conducted by Sri 
Lanka Cricket (SLC). This year’s finals were held at the SSC grounds, Colombo in November 2017. 
More than 600 youth in 39 teams participated, twelve provincial teams competed for the Provincial 
Championship.

The tournaments provide outstation cricketers with the opportunity to display their cricketing talent 
and get noticed by professional national coaches, and as such.

The Under (U)-15 Inter-District Cricket Tournament has considerably improved the standard of 
cricket across the Island and built a strong cricketing foundation for talented young players at 
junior level. Talented young cricketers have been identified at the tournament and guided into the 
international arena, many of whom are now in the national team.

Prima Champions Cup 2017

Â Spiritual Well-being: Upholding the spiritual life of the community

The Company supported the UN International Vesak festival, which was a key spiritual event that 
took place during the year. Although the United Nations Day of Vesak is celebrated annually in 
Buddhist countries, this is the first time Sri Lanka has been given the opportunity to host this festival.

We also play an active role in the spiritual lives of the communities in the vicinity of our farms and 
offices and participate in several religious ceremonies, like the Katina pinkam, for instance.

Prima Group of Sri Lanka as one of the main sponsors of UN Vesak festival, organised a ‘Noodles Dansala’ 
for 30,000 devotees over three days and sponsored 500 bags and umbrellas for the venerable monks

Social and Relationship Capital

Â Community Service

The Company is cognisant 
of the community needs 
of differently abled and the 
people with special needs in 
the country, and the pressure 
on scarce resources that this 
phenomenon has caused. 
We are also aware that 
such special groups in the 
community lack the support 
of loved ones to meet their 
needs. With this in mind, 
we supported the National 
Institute of Mental Health at 
Angoda and the Centre for 
Education of Hearing Impaired 
Children by providing them 
with refreshments and 
spending time with them.

During the year of review, the 
access road to Bulathsinhala 
farm was reconstructed and 
many families around the area 
benefited by this.

Â Other Contributions

In line with our commitment 
to respond to climate-related 
issues, we made several 
offerings of plastic water 
tanks to the Pradeshiya 
Sabawa of Beruwala to 
meet the water needs of 
the communities in the 
vicinity during the prolonged 
drought. Over 20 families 
were benefited by this 
engagement during the year. 
When the rains came, we 
responded to the floods with 
successive donations to the 
victims of floods in down-
south by providing food 
items and dry rations where 
over 10,000 victims were 
benefited.

Investing in the Future
The Company will continue 
to explore more projects that 
will enhance the quality of 
life of communities as well 
as look into more ways and 
means by which to reduce 
its environmental footprint, 
while continuing to create 
value for all stakeholders.
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CGE’s Environment Management System

As a key corporate in the country, we acknowledge that we have a moral and legal responsibility towards the environment and 
its sustainability for use by future generations. So not only do we try to conduct our activities in a manner that, as far as possible, 
mitigates our impact on the environment, but we also favour suppliers and partners who have similar environmental goals. We 
belive in promoting a sense of shared responsibility and accountability among our employees, local communities and other 
stakeholders in the areas we operate in.

As an agricultural business, our long-term sustainability depends on our ability to 
access a range of natural resources. It is, therefore, in the interests of the Group to 
contribute towards the protection of the environment by promoting sustainable 
production and processing practices.

We also understand that the progress of our business rests on the well-being of 
communities and the environment, and have identified the following key areas for 
natural capital management:

Materials 
Management

Energy 
Management

Water Utilisation Managing Waste and 
Effluents

We recognise that a poultry business with a large supply chain like ours has 
significant impacts on the environment, so have made enhancing our environmental 
performance a strategic initiative and introduced a systematic approach to improving 
energy use. We have also incorporated environmental goals into our day-to-day 
operations and motivate our people to contribute towards using the earth’s resources 
efficiently with minimal depletion, by monitoring our environmental impacts. We 
have introduced internal processes that also ensure compliance with national and 
provincial environmental and legal requirements.

The necessity for hygiene and quality 
control in chicken meat processing 
results in water and energy usage and 
consequently, generates waste water, 
effluents and emissions. But these 
effects can be contained if the operation 
is managed efficiently. To be more 
environment friendly, we follow best 
practices and introduce technological 
advances that ensure no adverse impact 
to the environment.

We are also keenly aware that by 
introducing sustainable practices to 
eliminate or mitigate the effects of our 
business, we enhance our reputation 
among stakeholders as a responsible 
corporate citizen.
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Natural Capital

Compliance

As a company that operates in the agriculture sector, we 
have given priority to compliance with CEA requirements. 
This includes farm management, natural resources usage 
and monitoring. These compliance indicators are regularly 
monitored to ensure that the Company is always in line with 
the required environmental conservation measures.

Materials Management

Poultry production and processing uses several types of raw 
materials in many areas of the business.

The key raw materials consumed in our feed manufacturing 
processes are Maize, soybean, wheat bran, agriculture-based 
products, applicable vitamins and additives and recyclable 
packing (LDP) materials. In addition to ensuring the quality of 
the raw materials that are inputs in our manufacturing process, 
we are pursuing ways of reducing the environmental impact 
of our packaging. Accordingly, we have fully shifted to LDP 
materials which lessen the impact on the planet.

We also use more environmental friendly materials, such as 
wood shavings and paddy husks, in the farm houses where 
we grow our breeder and broiler birds. Daily and periodical 
biosecurity practices carried out in the farms and processing 
plant involve the use of chlorine, disinfectants and other 
cleaning materials for which we have introduced proper liquid 
waste disposal mechanisms to eliminate their impact on the 
environment.

Energy Management

Our key sources of energy are electricity, furnace oil, gas and 
diesel. While we are mindful of our energy consumption, we 
monitor their use to drive continuous improvements in the 
manufacturing processes to reduce energy consumption.

Our Energy Saving Initiatives

Introducing advanced technologies in energy- 
intensive activities.

Proper monitoring of energy consumption 
across existing processes and new projects.

Water Utilisation

Poultry farming is the main utiliser of the Group’s water 
consumption requirements, with limited opportunities for 
reduction beyond ensuring that water is not wasted. The 
Group uses mainly ground water sources and also pipe-borne 
water and is dependent on continuous access to high-quality 
water across its operations, particularly in its poultry operations, 
as this is critical in sustaining a healthy agricultural business. 
Every effort is made to ensure that water is used mindfully.

Achieving efficiencies in our water consumption is an 
important environmental priority for the Group.

Managing Waste

Waste management at CGE is practiced to eliminate the 
adverse effects of waste on health and the environment. Our 
policies ensure that no environmentally hazardous substances 
are discharged from our waste disposal mechanism and we 
ensure that the waste discharged will not have any harmful 
environmental effects. Also, we comply with all CEA regulations 
and directives of other related local government bodies when 
it comes to recycling waste.

Â Solid Waste Management

Solid waste generated is carefully managed in our operations 
and removed to licensed waste disposal facilities in accordance 
with environment and legislative requirements. This mainly 
comprises packing materials and other disposables. All waste 
material generated is analysed and assessed for options 
for possible re-use or disposal in the most environmentally 
friendly way, and we have invested in a dedicated scrap yard to 
improve the efficiency of our waste segregation.

Not all by-products in poultry production are detrimental to 
the environment. Poultry litter for instance, is used in compost 
or as organic fertiliser because of its high nutrient content, 
which makes it a valuable input in agriculture.

Hazardous waste output generated by the meat processing 
and lab testing facilities are incinerated within our facilities, to 
ensure responsible waste disposal practices.

Options for the disposal of food waste as animal feed are 
available in the area we are located in such waste disposal 
takes place on a daily basis.
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All other disposables, including e-waste, are disposed 
of through reliable authorised agents of the “Pradeshiya 
Sabha” and sold as scrap for recycling in accordance with 
environmental regulations.

Packaging throughout the Group has now been converted to 
recyclable ‘fit-for-purpose’ packs that preserve the products and 
avoid unnecessary wastage.

Â Wastewater Management

Wastewater at the chicken processing plant is treated at our 
in-house effluent treatment plant prior to discharge with no 
impact to the environment. We plan to upgrade this facility 
in the forthcoming year in order to improve capacity and 
efficiency. Water quality parameters are monitored on an 
ongoing basis and the quality of water discharged is in par 
with regulatory acceptable levels.

Â Recycling

We also own a rendering plant which inputs the waste of our 
meat processing plant and recycles it after refinement in a 
rigorous process that entails boiling, steaming and palletising. 
This quality by-product is used as a raw material in the 
manufacture of animal feed.

We are actively pursuing more ways to convert the waste 
generated throughout our supply chain into value additions 
that benefit communities and promote responsible business 
practices.

Environment Impact Assessment (EIA)

We conduct EIAs in consultation with the Department of 
Agriculture and the Central Environmental Authority when 
considering investment in new facilities or upgrades to existing 
ones. This process also allows for inputs from all interested 
stakeholders.
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Future Outlook 

The global imprints of climate change and Avian Influenza were seen in the 
poultry industry throughout the year. Both phenomena were identified 

as being the root cause of the negative market movements that 
affected local and global industry performance.

These impacts were either direct or indirect, depending 
on the market. Avian ‘flu in overseas markets, for instance, 
had a direct impact on the performance of major poultry 
producing countries because it contaminated stocks 
and reduced production. The virus had spillover effects 
on the local industry as well. Despite Sri Lanka being an 
AI free country, imports of poultry stocks from afflicted 

markets were restricted, which contracted the bottom 
lines of local poultry players. For the Company, the outbreak 

delayed imports of Grand Parent DOCs from supplier markets. 
This caused a corresponding delay in production cycles, the 

consequences of which will reduce revenues in the following year.

Inclement weather that prevailed throughout the year destroyed 
crops of Maize, rice and rice products, the key raw materials of poultry 

feed. This reduced local supplies and raised prices, which compelled 
the industry to look overseas for raw material supplies and also exposed 
the Company to high international commodity prices and narrowed 
operating margins.

Despite several positive market movements that augur well for the 
industry’s future growth, numerous challenges remain, many of which were 
evident during the current year and predicted to continue into the future.

Informed forecasts confirm that climate change impacts will increase 
in intensity in the forthcoming years, which will bring on more extreme 
and frequent weather anomalies. Import prices of raw materials will also 
increase and constrict margins once again with the impact of continuous 
depreciation of LKR against USD. Further increases in income tax will 
narrow margins even more. There is also a high likelihood of the glut in the 
chicken market continuing into the next year, which will affect demand 
and impact company revenues. Added to this is the fact that the market 
demand for chicken has encouraged many new entrants to the poultry 
market. A continuous influx will create a soft market that could result in 
price undercutting. The difficulties experienced in sourcing skilled labour in 
a scenario of rising wage rates is yet another issue the industry experienced 
during the year and likely to continue in the next few years.
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Strategies for the next year

The Company has devised a range of strategies to meet these many challenges as 
it foresees a future of innumerable possibilities. These strategies are comprehensive 
and far-sighted and will reinforce strengths and retain CGE’s industry leadership into 
the forthcoming year and beyond. We encompass enhancements and expansions in 
operational areas across-the-board.

KPIs will be closely monitored to ensure good farm and operational management. In the 
external market, exchange rates and market fluctuations will be studied and strategies 
introduced promptly to mitigate trends perceived to negatively impact the Company. 
Financial discipline, systems and procedures will also be fine-tuned to secure future 
profits and ensure sustainable practices.

Stringent measures and process improvements will continue to be introduced 
to safeguard product quality and food safety. More state-of-the-art technology 
processes and advanced efficiencies in technology upgrades will be added to enhance 
competitiveness through improved productivity as more high-tech breeder and 
commercial farms are constructed. Processes will be streamlined with integrated 
systems of manufacture, and costs carefully managed throughout. Warehousing facilities 
for poultry feed will be expanded as well. More infrastructure enhancements will be 
pursued with the construction of new staff facilities in the recently acquired processing 
plant to improve working conditions.

Building our human capital continues to be a priority for the Group. We will pursue a 
series of initiatives that will develop our people both personally and professionally. This 
will include providing them with local and overseas training to enhance their skill levels 
and competencies. Their working environment will also be improved to encourage 
productivity whilst enhancing comfort and well-being at work.

Carefully thought out initiatives will strengthen stakeholder relationships across the 
supply chain, dealer network and most importantly the end user, our valued customer. 
We will increase and improve our points of contact with them and initiate interactions 
that promote cordial and professional relationships, and forge loyalty.

Strategies to enhance product responsibility and competitiveness well into the future 
will include investing in improvements in energy efficiency and responsible waste 
management. Stringent environment protection policies introduced on our farms and 
plants are planned to preserve the surrounding environment.

To take forward the many improvements in production that these far-seeing strategies 
will bring in, the Company is also working on initiatives to bolster customer orientation 
and broaden brand marketing as well as building corporate reputation.

CGE is confident that these extensive plans will provide the necessary competitive 
advantages and reinforce the values of transparency and good governance that have 
enabled retention of its premier market position enjoyed over the years.
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Report of the Board of Directors  
on the State of Affairs of the Company

The Board of Directors are pleased to present their Report and 
the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year 
ended 31 December 2017. The details set out herein provide 
pertinent information required by the Companies Act No. 07 of 
2007, Listing Rules issued by the Colombo Stock Exchange and 
are guided by recommended best accounting practices.

1. Principal Activities
The principal businesses of the Group are manufacturing and 
selling of poultry feed and other animal feed, importing and 
selling of poultry equipment, drugs and vaccines, operating 
of poultry breeder farms, raising grandparent and parent 
stock and hatcheries, hatching and selling of day old chicks, 
operation of commercial farms, poultry processing and 
distribution and provision of warehouse facilities.

2. Review of Performance for the year ended 31 
December 2017 and Future Developments

A review of the Company’s performance during the year, with 
comments on financial results for the year ended 31 December 
2017 and future developments are contained in the Chairman’s 
Message (pages 16 to 17) and Chief Executive Officer’s Review 
(pages 18 to 19). These reports, together with the Financial 
Statements reflect the state of affairs of the Company.

3. Financial Statements
The Financial Statements of the Company are given on pages 
102 to 152.

4. Independent Auditors’ Report
The Independent Auditors’ Report on the Financial Statements 
is given on page 101.

5. Accounting Policies
The accounting policies adopted in preparation of Financial 
Statements are given on pages 106 to 117. There were no 
material changes in the accounting policies adopted.

6. Interest Register
The Company maintains an Interest Register and the particulars 
of those Directors who were directly or indirectly interested in 
a contract of the Company are stated therein.

7. Directors’ Interest
None of the Directors had a direct or indirect interest in any 
contracts or proposed contracts with the Company other than 
as disclosed in Note 31 – Related Party Transactions to the 
Financial Statements.

8. Directors’ Remuneration and Other Benefits
Directors’ remuneration in respect of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017 is given in Note 31 - 
Related Party Transactions, to the Financial Statements.

9. Corporate Donations
Donations made by the Company amounted to Rs. 310,200/- 
(2016 - Rs. 995,092/-). No donations were made for political 
purposes.

10. Directorate
The names of the Directors who held office as at 31 December 
2017 are given below.

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria - Non-Executive 
  Independent Chairman
Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus - Executive Director and 
  Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan - Executive Director and 
  Group General Manager
Mr. Cheng Eng Loong - Non-Executive Director
Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard - Non-Executive Director
Mr. Sunil Karunanayake - Non-Executive  
  Independent Director

In accordance with the provisions of Article 87 of the Articles 
of Association of the Company, Mr. Cheng Eng Loong retires by 
rotation and being eligible offers himself for re-election.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Mr. Tan Beng Chuan, 
who is 71 years of age, will be proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting in terms of Section 211 of the Companies Act No. 07 
of 2007. Mr. Tan Beng Chuan’s appointment is recommended 
by the Directors.

11. Directors’ Shareholdings

Number of shares

As at
31/12/2017

As at
31/12/2016

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria 2,800 2,800

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus 397 397

Mr. Tan Beng Chuan Nil Nil

Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard Nil Nil

Mr. Cheng Eng Loong Nil Nil

Mr. Sunil Karunanayake Nil Nil
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Report of the Board of Directors  
on the State of Affairs of the Company

12. Auditors
The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2017 have been audited by Messrs KPMG Chartered 
Accountants, who express their willingness to continue in 
office. In accordance with the Companies Act No.07 of 2007, a 
resolution relating to their re-appointment and authorising the 
Directors to determine their remuneration will be proposed at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Auditors Messrs KPMG were paid Rs. 3,985,000/-  
(2016 - Rs. 3, 690,000/-) as audit fees by the Company.  
As far as the Directors are aware, the Auditors do not have any 
relationship (other than that of an Auditor) with the Company 
other than those disclosed above.

The Auditors also do not have any interest in the Company.

13. Turnover
Group turnover amounted to Rs. 15,154.9 Million  
(2016 - Rs. 14,521.7 Million) and company turnover amounted 
to Rs. 14,848.0 Million (2016 - Rs. 14,009.8 Million)

14. Dividends
The Directors recommend a First and Final Dividend of Rs. 2.00 
per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2017.

15. Investments
Details of investments held by the Company are disclosed 
in Note 15 – Investment in Associate Company and Note 
16 – Investment In Subsidiary Companies, to the Financial 
Statements.

16. Intangible Assets
An analysis of the intangible assets of the Company, additions 
and amortisation charged during the year are set out in Note 
14 – Intangible Assets, to the Financial Statements.

17. Property, Plant and Equipment
An analysis of the property, plant and equipment of the 
Company, additions and disposals made during the year and 
depreciation charged during the year are set out in Note 12 – 
Property, Plant and Equipment, to the Financial Statements.

18. Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December 2017 for 
which no provision has been made in the accounts are set out 
in Note 27 – Commitments, to the Financial Statements.

19. Stated Capital
The issued and fully paid up stated capital of the Company 
is Rs.1, 017,996,000/- divided into 60,000,000 ordinary shares. 
There was no change in the stated capital of the Company 
during the year.

20. Reserves
Total reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2017 
amounted to Rs. 2,624.2 Million (2016 - Rs. 2,319.0 Million) 
and the Group reserves amounted to Rs. 4,694.5 Million  
(2016 - Rs. 4,048.05 Million). The movement of reserves is 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity 
on page 104.

21. Events after the reporting period
No significant events have occurred after the reporting period 
other than those disclosed in Note 32 – Events After the 
Reporting Period to the Financial Statements.

22. Employment Policies
The Company identifies Human Resources as one of the most 
important factors bequeathing the survival and growth of the 
Company in the current competitive business environment. 
While appreciating and valuing the service of our employees, 
a greater effort is being made to hire the best talent from 
external sources, to bolster weak areas and continue to 
maintain the highest standards prevalent in the Industry. 
Human Resource Head Count is considered as a key indicator 
and recruitment is based on the annual manpower planning.

The Company provides equal opportunities. Greater emphasis 
is given to the areas of training, professional development and 
ethical business practices. All rewards and career opportunities 
are based on merit and on performance.

23. Taxation
The tax position of the Company is given in Note 10 – Taxation, 
to the Financial Statements.

24. Share Information
Information relating to earnings, dividend, market price, net 
assets per share and information on share trading is given on 
page 153.
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25. Disclosure as per CSE Rule No.7.6 (xi)

2017
Rs. Cts.

2016
Rs. Cts.

Market price per share
 as at 31 December

66.10 82.90

Highest share price 72.80 98.40

Lowest share price 63.00 55.00

Net assets per share 60.70 55.62

Earnings per share 7.51 13.63

Dividend per share (proposed) 2.00 2.50

Dividend payout ratio 26.63% 18.34%

26. Shareholding
The number of registered shareholders of the Company as at 
31 December 2017 was 4,958 . The distribution and analysis of 
shareholding are given on page 155.

27. Major Shareholders
The twenty largest shareholders of the Company as at 31 
December 2017, together with an analysis are given on page 155.

28. Statutory Payments
The Directors to the best of their knowledge and belief 
are satisfied that all statutory payments in relation to the 
Government and the employees have been made on time.

29. Environment, Health and Safety
Company policy continues to ensure that all Environmental, 
Health and Safety regulations are strictly adhered to, 
minimising any adverse effects to the environment. Recycling 
of waste is carried out wherever possible. Employees are 
provided with all personal protective equipment as health and 
well being which are our prime concerns. Fire fighting and 
safety systems are in place to safeguard the Company’s best 
interests. 

30. Corporate Governance / Internal Control
The Corporate Governance and internal Control Policies of the 
Company are given on pages 24 to 36.

31. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent Liabilities as at 31 December 2017 are set out in 
Note 26 – Contingent Liabilities to the Financial Statements.

32. Related Party Transactions
The company’s transactions with Related Parties, given in Note 
31 to the Financial Statements, have complied with Colombo 
Stock Exchange Listing Rule 9.3.2 and the Code of Best 
Practices on Related Party Transactions under the Securities 
Exchange Commission Directive issued under section 13(c) of 
the Securities Exchange Commission Act.

33. Annual General Meeting
The 35th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held 
at the Sri Lanka Foundation Institute Auditorium, No. 100, Sri 
Lanka Padanama Mawatha, Independence Square, Colombo 7 
on Wednesday, 9 May 2018 at 10.45 a.m. 

By Order of the Board of
Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC

(Sgd.)
Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Non-Executive Independent Chairman

(Sgd.)
Tan Beng Chuan
Executive Director and Group General Manager

(Sgd.)
S S P Corporate Services (Private) Limited
Secretaries

Colombo
29 March 2018
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Statement of the Directors’ Responsibility

The responsibility of the Directors in relation to the Financial 
Statements of the Company and the Group is set out in the 
following statement. The responsibility of the auditors, in 
relation to the Financial Statements, is set out in their report 
appearing on page 101.

The Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 requires the Directors to 
prepare Financial Statements for each financial year which 
gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and the Group and of the profit or loss for that year.

In preparing these Financial Statements the Directors are 
required to:

 Â Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently.

 Â Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent.

 Â State whatever applicable accounting standards have been 
followed, subject to any material departures and explained 
in the Financial Statements.

 Â Prepare the Financial Statements on a going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Company and the Group and 
to ensure that the Financial Statements comply with the 
Companies Act.

The Directors are also responsible for taking such steps as 
they deemed reasonable or required in order to safeguard the 
assets of the Company and the Group and in this regard to 
give proper consideration to the establishment of appropriate 
internal control systems with a view to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are required to prepare the Financial Statements 
to provide the auditors with every opportunity to take 
whatever steps and undertake whatever inspections they may 
consider to be appropriate to enable them to express their 
audit opinion.

Compliance statement

The Directors are of the view that they have discharged their 
responsibilities as set out in this statement. They also confirm 
that to the best of their knowledge, all statutory payments 
payable by the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
reporting date have been paid or where relevant, provided for.

By Order of the Board of
Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC

(Sgd.)
Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Non-Executive Independent Chairman

(Sgd.)
Tan Beng Chuan
Executive Director and Group General Manager

Colombo, Sri Lanka
29 March 2018
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Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
CEYLON GRAIN ELEVATORS PLC
Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 
of Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC, (“the Company”), and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (“the Group”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and, statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information set out on pages 102 to 152.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors (“Board”) is responsible for the 
preparation of these financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, 
and for such internal control as Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by Board, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and 
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017, and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 
2007, we state the following:

a) The basis of opinion and scope and limitations of the audit 
are as stated above.

b) In our opinion:
 Â We have obtained all the information and explanations 

that were required for the audit and, as far as appears 
from our examination, proper accounting records have 
been kept by the Company,

 Â The financial statements of the Company give a true 
and fair view of its financial position as at 31 December 
2017, and of its financial performance and cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards,

 Â The financial statements of the Company, and the 
Group comply with the requirements of sections 151 
and 153 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Colombo, Sri Lanka
29 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss  
and Other Comprehensive Income

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Revenue 4 15,154,866 14,521,693 14,848,045 14,009,757
Cost of sales  (13,611,362) (12,212,014) (14,086,693) (12,735,443)

Gross profit  1,543,504 2,309,679 761,352 1,274,314
Other operating income 8 41,803 13,503 113,947 40,395
Selling and distribution expenses  (192,375) (197,277) (176,676) (185,245)
Administrative expenses  (290,970) (316,652) (283,030) (302,398)

Operating profit 5 1,101,962 1,809,253 415,593 827,066
Finance income 9 293,310 151,187 173,444 148,935
Finance costs 9 (4,054) (8,526) (4,829) (8,425)
Share of profit of associate 15 8,406 6,494 - -

Profit before tax  1,399,624 1,958,408 584,208 967,576
Taxation 10 (329,688) (276,692) (133,564) (149,611)

Profit for the year  1,069,936 1,681,716 450,644 817,965

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit obligation  25 8,551 5,613 5,963 4,281
Taxation on other comprehensive income 24 (1,794) (677) (1,431) (543) 
Total other comprehensive income  6,757 4,936 4,532 3,738
Total comprehensive income for the year  1,076,693 1,686,652 455,176 821,703

Profit attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent  790,179 1,333,909 450,644 817,965
Non-controlling interest  279,757 347,807 - -
  1,069,936 1,681,716 450,644 817,965

Total comprehensive income attributable to :
Equity holders of the parent  795,986 1,338,340 455,176 821,703
Non-controlling interest  280,707 348,312 - -
  1,076,693 1,686,652 455,176 821,703

Earnings Per Share - Basic and Diluted (Rs.) 11 13.17 22.23 7.51 13.63

The notes on pages 102 to 152 form an integral part of these consolidated Financial Statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,591,272 2,338,482 805,714 446,299
Leasehold right over land and buildings 13 227,625 176,712 159,049 107,936
Intangible assets 14 39,445 45,821 39,445 45,821
Investment in associate company 15 31,951 24,145 33 33
Investment in subsidiary companies 16 - - 330,920 330,920
Biological assets 17 501,110 473,534 - -
Total non-current assets  3,391,403 3,058,694 1,335,161 931,009

Current assets
Biological assets 17 27,649 18,248 - -
Inventories 19 3,246,821 2,624,655 3,170,521 2,552,310
Trade and other receivables 20 619,059 546,225 545,026 515,596
Amount due from related companies 18 - - 837 39,591
Current tax receivable  28,375 11,686 24,150 7,469
Cash and cash equivalents 21 2,857,444 2,186,018 1,160,125 1,151,777
Total current assets  6,779,348 5,386,832 4,900,659 4,266,743
Total assets  10,170,751 8,445,526 6,235,820 5,197,752

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Stated capital 28 1,017,996 1,017,996 1,017,996 1,017,996
Retained earnings  4,694,462 4,048,476 2,624,205 2,319,029
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  5,712,458 5,066,472 3,642,201 3,337,025
Non-controlling interest 29 1,266,750 1,026,343 - -
Total equity  6,979,208 6,092,815 3,642,201 3,337,025

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 24 358,781 207,475 59,354 22,405
Employee benefits 25 83,698 76,970 66,659 57,753
Total non-current liabilities  442,479 284,445 126,013 80,158

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 22 1,036,814 1,168,230 720,521 878,416
Amount due to related companies 23 1,712,250 900,036 1,747,085 902,153
Total current liabilities  2,749,064 2,068,266 2,467,606 1,780,569
Total liabilities  3,191,543 2,352,711 2,593,619 1,860,727
Total equity and liabilities  10,170,751 8,445,526 6,235,820 5,197,752

Net assets per share (Rs.)  35 95.21 84.44 60.70 55.62

The notes on pages 102 to 152 form an integral part of these consolidated Financial Statements.
These Financial Statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007.

(Sgd.) 
K.A.R.S. Perera
General Manager

These Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2018.

(Sgd.) (Sgd.) 
Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria Tan Beng Chuan
Non-Executive Independent Chairman Executive Director and Group General Manager
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

 Attributable to equity holders of the parent

 Stated Retained Total Non- Total
 capital earnings  controlling equity
GROUP    interest 

Balance as at 1 January 2016 1,017,996 2,776,136 3,794,132 699,188 4,493,320
Profit for the year - 1,333,909 1,333,909 347,807 1,681,716
Other comprehensive income
 - Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit  
  obligation, net of tax - 4,431 4,431 505 4,936
Distribution to owners 
 - Dividend paid - (66,000) (66,000) (21,157) (87,157)
Balance as at 31 December 2016 1,017,996 4,048,476 5,066,472 1,026,343 6,092,815

Balance as at 1 January 2017 1,017,996 4,048,476 5,066,472 1,026,343 6,092,815
Profit for the year - 790,179 790,179 279,757 1,069,936
Other comprehensive income
 - Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit  
  obligation, net of tax - 5,807 5,807 950 6,757
Distribution to owners 
 - Dividend paid - (150,000) (150,000) (40,300) (190,300)
Balance as at 31 December 2017 1,017,996 4,694,462 5,712,458 1,266,750 6,979,208

   Stated Retained Total
COMPANY   capital earnings equity

Balance as at 1 January 2016   1,017,996 1,563,326 2,581,322
Profit for the year   - 817,965 817,965
Other comprehensive income
 - Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit  
  obligation, net of tax   - 3,738 3,738
Distribution to owners
 - Dividend paid   - (66,000) (66,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2016   1,017,996 2,319,029 3,337,025

Balance as at 1 January 2017   1,017,996 2,319,029 3,337,025
Profit for the year   - 450,644 450,644
Other comprehensive income
 - Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit  
  obligation, net of tax   - 4,532 4,532
Distribution to owners
 - Dividend paid   - (150,000) (150,000)
Balance as at 31 December 2017   1,017,996 2,624,205 3,642,201

The retained earnings represent reserves available for distribution.

The notes on pages 102 to 152 form an integral part of these consolidated Financial Statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Operating activities
Profit before tax  1,399,624 1,958,408 584,208 967,576

Adjustments
Depreciation 12 224,149 197,661 101,415 71,032
Amortisation of leasehold right over land and buildings 13 8,320 4,929 7,620 4,929
Amortisation of intangible assets 14 13,944 13,103 13,944 13,103
Usage of biological assets 17 482,139 420,995 - -
Loss / (profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,667 224 (783) 222
Change in fair value less cost to sell on biological assets 17 (203) 16,235 - -
Impairment provision on investment in subsidiaries  - - - 22,810
Impairment provision on amount due from related companies  - - 1,642 1,995
Dividend income  - - (60,990) (32,677)
Exchange loss 9 1,041 6,170 1,848 6,191
Interest income 9 (293,310) (151,187) (173,444) (148,935)
Interest expense 9 3,013 2,356 2,981 2,234
Written off of doubtful debts  38,388 8,987 38,388 8,987
(Reversal) / provision for doubtful debts  (38,388) (5,624) (38,388) (5,624)
Provision / (reversal)  for slow moving and obsolete items  4,954 (458) 4,050 (1,006)
Share of profit of associate  (8,406) (6,494) - -
Changes in working capital
 - trade and other receivables  (181,522) (79,407) (139,796) (83,816)
 - inventories  (627,120) (306,219) (622,261) (309,610)
 - trade and other payables  (140,643) 200,034 (141,176) 166,196
 - amount due from related companies  - - 37,112 72,616
 - amount due to related companies  818,903 (474,083) 851,621 (490,553)
Employee benefits 25 16,712 16,422 12,535 12,576
Cash generated from operations  1,724,262 1,822,052 480,526 278,246
Exchange loss  (1,041) (6,170) (1,848) (6,191)
Interest received  264,271 133,157 152,364 132,471
Interest paid  (3,013) (2,356) (2,981) (2,234)
Employee benefits paid  (8,122) (9,117) (4,355) (8,016)
Tax paid  (49,311) (14,009) - -
Net cash generated from operating activities  1,927,046 1,923,557 623,706 394,276

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 (482,226) (137,918) (461,525) (101,951)
Purchase of leasehold right over land buildings 13 (59,233) (68,776) (58,733) -
Purchase of intangible assets  (7,568) - (7,568) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  2,620 54 1,478 54
Proceeds from dividend income  - 1,001 60,990 32,677
Purchase of biological assets 17 (518,913) (473,463) - -
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,065,320) (679,102) (465,358) (69,220)

Financing activities
Dividend paid  (190,300) (87,157) (150,000) (66,000)
Net cash used in financing activities  (190,300) (87,157) (150,000) (66,000)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  671,426 1,157,298 8,348 259,056

Movements in cash and cash equivalents
At the beginning of the year  2,186,018 1,028,720 1,151,777 892,721
Increase in cash and cash equivalents  671,426 1,157,298 8,348 259,056
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 21 2,857,444 2,186,018 1,160,125 1,151,777

The notes on pages 102 to 152 form an integral part of these consolidated Financial Statements.
Figures in brackets indicate deductions.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.1 Reporting entity

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC (the 'Company') is a "Quoted Public 
Company" with limited liability,  incorporated and domiciled 
in Sri Lanka. The address of the Company's registered office 
is No.15, Rock House Lane, Colombo - 15, Sri Lanka. The 
Company was listed on the Colombo Stock Exchange  
on 01 January 1984.

1.2 Consolidated Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as 
at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group's interest in 
associate, listed below.

Subsidiaries

 Â Three Acre Farms PLC

 Â Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited

 Â Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited 

 Â Ceylon Livestock and Agrobusiness Services (Private) 
Limited

 Â Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited

 Â Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited

All subsidiaries of the Company have been incorporated  
in Sri Lanka.

Associate

 Â Prima Management Services (Private) Limited

The Financial Statements of the group entities are prepared to 
a common financial year ending 31 December using uniform 
accounting policies. 

Ultimate parent 

The ultimate Parent company Prima Limited, Singapore, holds 
45.45 % of the issued share capital of the Company.

1.3 Principal activities and nature of the operation

The principal businesses of the Group are manufacturing and 
selling of poultry feed and other animal feed, importing and 
selling of poultry equipment, drugs and vaccines, operating 
of poultry breeder farms, raising grandparent and parent 
stock and hatcheries, hatching and selling of Day Old Chicks, 
operation of commercial farms, poultry processing and 
distribution and provision of warehouse facilities.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the principle 
business activities of the group and the company during the 
financial year under review. The activities of the group are 
described in detailed in the group structure on pages 6 to 7.

1.4 Approval of Financial Statements by Directors

The Consolidated Financial Statements were authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2018.

1.5 Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Board of Directors acknowledge their responsibility for 
Financial Statements, as set out in the ‘Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibility’ in this Annual Report.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The Financial Statements of the Company and those 
consolidated with such comprise the statement of Financial 
Position, Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of 
Cash Flows together with the accounting policies and Notes 
to the Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared and present fairly in 
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS) as 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka 
(CA Sri Lanka) and in compliance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and provide appropriate 
disclosures as required by the Listing Rules of the Colombo 
Stock Exchange (CSE). These Financial Statements, except for 
information on cash flows have been prepared following the 
accrual basis of accounting.

2.2 Basis of measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis except the valuation of retirement 
benefit obligation and valuation of biological assets which 
are disclosed in Note 25 - Employee Benefits and Note 17 - 
Biological Assets to the Financial Statements.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in 
Sri Lankan Rupees, which is the company’s functional and  
presentation currency, rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated.
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2.4 Significant accounting estimates, judgements and 
assumptions

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in conformity with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards (SLFRS) 
require management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Underlying estimates, judgements, assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised prospectively.

Going concern

The management has made an assessment of its ability to 
continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it has the 
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. 
Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon  
the Group’s/ company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Therefore, the Financial Statements of the group continue to 
be prepared on a going concern basis. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties 
and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the Consolidated Financial Statements is included in the 
following notes:

 Â Note 3.4.5 - Depreciation

 Â Note 3.4.7 - Leasehold right classification

 Â Note 3.5 - Intangible assets

 Â Note 3.6 - Biological assets

 Â Note 3.8 - Impairment of financial assets

 Â Note 3.9.3 - Measurement of defined benefit  
   obligation

 Â Notes 3.10 and 3.18 - Provisions, commitments and   
   contingencies

 Â Note 3.13 - Deferred taxation

2.5 Measurement of fair value

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures 
require the measurement of fair value, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. The Group has 
an established control framework with respect to the 
measurement of fair value.

This includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for 
overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including 
Level 3 fair value and reports directly to the management.

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable 
inputs and valuation adjustments.

If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing 
services, is used to measure fair value, then the valuation 
team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties 
to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the 
requirements of SLFRS, including the level in the fair value 
hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group’s Audit 
Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the 
Company uses observable market data as far as possible. 
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value 
hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques 
as follows:

 Â Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities.

 Â Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 Â Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a 
liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then 
the fair value measurement is categorised at its entirety in the 
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input 
that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair 
value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring 
fair value is included in Note 17 -Biological Assets.

2.6 Use of materiality, offsetting and rounding

2.6.1 Materiality and aggregation

Each material class of similar items is presented separately 
in the Financial Statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or 
function are presented separately, unless they are immaterial.
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Notes to the Financial Statements are presented in a systematic 
manner which ensure the understandability and comparability 
of Financial Statements of the Group. Understandability of 
the Financial Statements is not compromised by observing 
material information or by aggregating material items that 
have different nature of functions.

2.6.2 Offsetting 

Assets and liabilities and income and expenses in the Financial 
statements are not setoff unless regained by Sri Lanka 
Accounting Standards.

2.6.3 Rounding

The amounts in the Financial Statements have been rounded 
off to the nearest rupees thousands, except where otherwise 
indicated.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated  
Financial Statements.

3.1 Basis of consolidation

3.1.1 Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date - i.e. when control is 
transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity, so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group 
also takes into consideration potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

 Â The fair value of the consideration transferred 

 Â The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in 
the acquiree

 Â If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair 
value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

 Â The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts 
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships such 

amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. Transactions 
costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or 
equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a 
business combination are expensed as incurred.

3.1.2 Non-controlling interest

The total profit and loss for the year of the Company and 
its subsidiaries included in consolidation are shown in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss with the proportion of 
profit or loss after taxation pertaining to minority shareholders 
of subsidiaries being deducted as 'Non-controlling interest'. 
All assets and liabilities of the Company and of its subsidiaries 
included in consolidation are shown in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The interest of minority 
shareholders of subsidiaries in the fair value of net assets of the 
Group are indicated separately in the consolidated statement 
of financial position under the heading 'Non-Controlling 
Interest'. 

Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control are accounted for as transactions 
with owners in their capacity as owners. Adjustments to non-
controlling interest are based on a proportionate amount of 
the net assets of the subsidiary. No adjustments are made to 
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

3.1.3 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Financial 
Statements of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements from the date that control commences, 
until the date that control ceases.

3.1.4 Loss of control

On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interest and 
the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any 
surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in 
profit or loss.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries 
to transfer funds to the Company (parent) in the form of cash, 
dividend or repayment of loans and advances.

3.1.5 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant 
influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial 
and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to 
exist when the Group holds between 20 % and 50 % of the 
voting power of another entity.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity 
method and are recognised initially at cost. The cost of the 
investment includes transaction costs. The Consolidated 
Financial Statements include the Group's share of the profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted 
investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies 
with those of the Group, from the date that significant 
influence commences until the date that significant influence 
or joint control ceases.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in 
an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the 
investment, including any long-term interests that form part 
thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses 
is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an 
obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee.

3.1.6 Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised 
income and expenses arising from intra group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity 
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to 
the extent of the Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but 
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

3.1.7 Statement of Cash Flows 

The Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared by using the 
‘’Indirect Method’’ of preparing cash flows in accordance with 
Sri Lanka Accounting Standards – LKAS 7 on Statement of Cash 
Flows.

3.2 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss 
on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in 
the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted 
for effective interest and payments during the year and the 
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are retranslated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value 

was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

3.3 Financial instruments

3.3.1 Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on 
the date that they are originated. All other financial assets 
(including assets designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date 
that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial assets are transferred. Any interest in such 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the 
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables 
and available for sale financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or is designated as 
such on initial recognition. Financial assets are designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such 
investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on 
their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value 
and changes therein, which takes into account any dividend 
income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity financial assets

If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt 
securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified 
as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are 
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recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-
maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, 
current tax receivables, amount due from related companies 
and trade and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call 
deposits with maturities of three months or less from the 
acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the 
management of its short-term commitments.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial 
assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair 
value and changes therein, other than impairment losses 
and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt 
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an 
investment is derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in 
equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

3.3.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and 
subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated. 
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade 
date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the 
other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are 
recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, 
debt securities issued, bank overdrafts, amount due to related 
companies and trade and other payables. Bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Group's cash management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the Statement of Cash Flows.

3.3.3 Stated capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. As per the Companies 
Act No. 07 of 2007, section 58 (1), stated capital in relation to 
a Company means the total of all amounts received by the 
Company or due and payable to the Company in respect of the 
issue of shares and in respect of call on shares.

3.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that are 
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and are 
expected to be used during more than one period.

3.4.1 Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
include the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the working 
condition for its intended use and the cost of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located and capitalised borrowing cost. Purchased software 
that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.4.2 Gains and losses on disposal

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant 
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment and are recognised net within 'other income / 
other expenses' in profit or loss.

3.4.3 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

3.4.4 Derecognition

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The 
gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when the 
item is derecognised. When replacement costs are recognised 
in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the remaining carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. Major inspection costs are capitalised. At 
each such capitalisation, the remaining carrying amount of the 
previous cost of inspections is  derecognised.

3.4.5 Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost or other amount substituted 
for cost, less its residual value. Significant components of 
individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful 
life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that 
component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated 
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless 
it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term. No depreciation is provided on 
assets under construction.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
years are as follows:

Freehold building 20 - 50 years

Plant and machinery 10 - 16 2/3 years

Electrical and factory equipment 2 - 5 - 10 - 20 
years

Farm equipment 5 - 20 years

Furniture and fittings and office equipment 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have indefinite life. 
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use 
and ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified 
as held-for-sale and the date that the asset is derecognised. 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted, if appropriate.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount.

3.4.6 Capital work-in-progress

Capital expenses incurred during the year which are not 
completed as at the reporting date are shown as capital 
work-in-progress, while the capital assets which have been 
completed during the year and put to use are transferred to 
property, plant and equipment.

3.4.7 Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Upon initial recognition the leased assets are measured 
at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and any prepayments are 
recognised in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as lease hold rights. The leasehold rights under operating 
leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period 
has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor 
by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which termination takes place.
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The cost of improvements to or on leased property is 
capitalised and depreciated over the unexpired period of the 
lease or the estimated useful lives of improvements, whichever 
is shorter.

3.5 Intangible assets

3.5.1 Basis of recognition

An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that future 
economic benefits that are attributable to the assets will 
flow to the entity and the cost of the assets can be measured 
reliably.

3.5.2 Basis of measurement

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial 
recognition at cost. Subsequent measurement is carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any.    

3.5.3 Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases 
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to 
which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure 
on internally generated goodwill and brands are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.

3.5.4 Amortisation

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight- line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other 
than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative 
years are as follows:

Computer software 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

3.6 Biological assets

A biological asset is a living animal. Biological assets consist of 
grandparent and parent livestock, used to breed Hatchable 
eggs and commercial Day Old Chicks. Grandparent and parent 
birds include the growing birds and the laying birds.

Consumable biological assets are those that are to be 
harvested as agricultural produce or sold as biological assets. 
Hatchable eggs and commercial Day Old Chicks have been 
identified as Consumable biological assets.

Bearer biological assets are those other than Consumable 
biological assets. Bearer biological assets are not agricultural 
produce but, rather, are self-regenerating.

Company has identified grandparent and parent and livestock 
as Bearer biological assets.

Biological assets are measured at fair value less cost to sell 
within any changes therein recognised in profit or loss for the 
period in which it arises.

3.7 Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses.

The general basis on which cost is determined is as follows:

a)  All inventory items except finished goods and working 
progress at purchased cost.

b) Manufactured goods and work-in-progress at factory 
cost which include all direct expenditure and production 
overhead at normal level of activity.

3.8 Impairment

3.8.1 Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not classified as fair value through profit or 
loss, including an interest in an equity-accounted investee, is 
assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that loss event(s) had an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence: that financial assets are impaired includes 
default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an 
amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would 
not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will 
enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of 
borrowers or issuers, economic conditions that correlate with 
defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. 
In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant 
or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 
evidence of impairment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial 
assets measured at amortise cost (loans and receivables and 
held-to-maturity financial assets) at both a specific asset and 
collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed 
for specific impairment.

Those found not to be specifically impaired are, then 
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been 
incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not individually 
significant are, collectively assessed for impairment by 
grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical 
trends of the probability of default, the timing of recoveries 
and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's 
judgment as to whether current economic and credit 
conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be 
greater or lesser than suggested by historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest 
rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an 
allowance account against loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investment securities. Interest on the impaired asset 
continues to be recognised. When an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the 
fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative 
loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal 
repayment and amortisation, and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss recognised previously in profit or loss. 
Changes in cumulative impairment losses attributable to 
application of the effective interest method are reflected as 
a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, 
the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security 
increases and the increase can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, 
then the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the 
reversal recognised in profit or loss. 

However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an 
impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Equity - accounted investees

An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee 
is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss is reversed if 
there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.

3.8.2 Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other 
than biological assets, inventories and deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill 
and indefinite-life intangible assets are tested annually for 
impairment. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset or cash generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its 
value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or CGU. For impairment testing, assets 
are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts 
of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata 
basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For 
other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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3.9 Employee benefits

3.9.1 Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is 
provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to 
be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans 
if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.9.2 Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan 
under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss 
in the periods during which related services are rendered by 
employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 
is available.

(a) Employees' Provident Fund

The Group and employees contribute 12% and 8%, 
respectively, on the salary of each employee to the Employees’ 
Provident Fund (EPF).

(b) Employees' Trust Fund

The Group contributes 3 % of the salary of each employee to 
the Employees’ Trust Fund (ETF). These obligations come within 
the scope of a defined contribution plan as per LKAS -19 on 
‘’Employee Benefits’’. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognised in profit or loss as the related 
service is provided.

3.9.3 Defined benefit plan - Gratuity

A defined benefit plan is a post employment benefit plan other 
than a defined contribution plan. The Group's net obligation 
in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its 
present value. Any unrecognised past service costs and the fair 
value of any plan assets are deducted.

The calculation is performed annually by a qualified 
actuary using the Projected Unit Credit (PUC) method as 
recommended by LKAS 19 - 'Employee Benefits'. When the 

calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised 
asset is limited to the total of any unrecognised past service 
costs and the present value of economic benefits available 
in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions 
in future contributions to the plan. In order to calculate the 
present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to 
any minimum funding requirements that apply to any plan 
in the Group. An economic benefit is available to the Group if 
it is realisable during the life of the plan, or on settlement of 
the plan liabilities. When the benefits of a plan are improved, 
the portion of the increased benefits related to past service 
by employees are recognised in profit or loss on a straight- 
line basis over the average period until the benefits become 
vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the 
expense is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The assumptions based on which the results of actuarial 
valuation was determined, are included in Note 25 - Employee 
Benefits, to the Financial Statements.

The Company recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising 
from defined benefit plan immediately in other comprehensive 
income and all expenses related to defined benefit plan in 
employee benefit expense in profit or loss.

The Company recognises gains and losses on the curtailment 
or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the curtailment 
or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on curtailment or 
settlement comprises any resulting change in the fair value 
of plan assets, any change in the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, any related actuarial gains and losses and 
past service cost that had not previously been recognised. 
However, according to the Payment of Gratuity Act No.12 of 
1983, the liability for the gratuity payment to an employee 
arises only on the completion of 5 years of continued service 
with the Company. 

3.10 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow, of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

3.11 Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary 
activities are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and 
volume rebates. Revenue is recognised when persuasive 
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evidence exists, usually in the form of an executed sales 
agreement, that the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery 
of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is 
no continuing management involvement with the goods, 
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is 
probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can 
be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a 
reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised. Revenue 
excludes value added taxes or other sales taxes.

Rental income

Rental income received or receivable in the course of ordinary 
activities is recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that 
the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Other income

Gains / losses on the disposal of investments held by the 
Group have been accounted for as other income in profit or 
loss. 

Gains / losses on the disposal of property, plant and equipment 
determined by reference to the carrying amount and related 
expenses, have been accounted for as other income in profit 
or loss .

Finance income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested 
(including available-for-sale financial assets), gains on the 
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and fair value gains 
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest method.

3.12 Expenses

Operating lease payments

Where the Company has the use of assets under operating 
leases, payments made under the leases are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss as an integral part of the total 
lease expense over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals 
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which 
they are incurred.

Finance cost

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
unwinding of discounts on provisions and losses on disposal of 
available-for-sale financial assets, fair value losses on financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses 
recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables).

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and 
financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as either finance 
income or finance cost depending on whether foreign 
currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position.

3.13 Deferred taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which 
case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are 
not provided for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, 
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither 
accounting nor taxable profit, nor differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred 
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation 
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation 
on property, plant and equipment, tax losses carried forward, 
biological assets and provisions for defined benefit obligations. 
Deferred tax assets relating to the carrying forward of unused 
tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the unused 
tax losses can be utilised.
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A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at reporting date and are reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority 
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of 
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to pay 
the related dividend is recognised.

3.14 Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that 
is engaged either in providing products or services (business 
segment), or in providing products and services within a 
particular economic environment (geographical segment), 
which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from 
those of other segments.

3.15 Earnings per share

The Group presents Earnings per share (EPS) data for its 
ordinary shares. EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period.

3.16 Events after the Reporting Period

All material post reporting period events have been considered 
and where appropriate adjustments or disclosures have been 
made in respective notes to the Financial Statements.

3.17 Comparative figures

Where necessary, the comparative figures have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

3.18 Commitments and contingencies

Contingencies are possible assets or obligations that arise 
from a past event and would be confirmed only on the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events, 
which are beyond the Company’s control. Contingent liabilities 
are disclosed in Note 26 - Contingent Liabilities, to the 

Financial Statements. Commitments are disclosed in Note 27 - 
Commitments, to the Financial Statements.

3.19 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
as at reporting date

Estimated impact of the adaptation of SLFRS 9 and SLFRS I5

The Group is required to adopt SLFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 
and SLFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
from 1 January 2018. The group has performed the impact 
assessment exercise and identified the gaps, and commenced 
the implementation based on the findings with effect from 
1 January 2018 and will present its first Annual Financial 
Statements as at 31 December 2018.

(a) SLFRS 9 Financial Instrument

SLFRS 9 Financial Instruments sets out requirements for 
recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities 
and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This 
standard replaces LKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement.

(i) Classification – Financial assets
SLFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for 
financial assets: measured at amortised cost, FVOCI and FVTPL. 
The standard eliminates the existing LKAS 39 categories of held 
to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale. Based 
on its assessment, the Group does not believe that the new 
classification requirements will have a material impact on its 
accounting for trade receivables and short term investment 
that are managed on a fair value basis.

(ii) Impairment – Financial assets
SLFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses 
on its trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. 
The Group will apply the simplified approach and record 
lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables. The Group 
has determined that, due to the secured nature of its loans 
and receivables, the Group believes that impairment losses will 
not significantly change and will not become more volatile for 
assets in the scope of the SLFRS 9 impairment model.

(b) SLFRS 15 Financial Instrument Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

SLFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities 
to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers. The standard will supersede the current revenue 
recognition guidance including LKAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and LKAS 11 
‘Construction Contracts’ and the related Interpretations when 
they become effective.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The core principle of SLFRS 15 is that an entity should 
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods 
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard 
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition.

Step 1 : Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2 : Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3 : Determine the transaction price
Step 4 : Allocate the transaction price to the performance   
                 obligations in the contract
Step 5 : Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 
                 performance obligation

Under SLFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a 
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the 
goods or services underlying the particular performance 
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive 
guidance has been added in SLFRS 15 to deal with specific 
scenarios.

The Directors of the Group and of the Company does not 
anticipate that the application of SLFRS 15 in the future will 
have a significant impact on the amounts reported and 
disclosures made in these Financial Statements.

SLFRS 16 Leases
SLFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model. The Standard will replaces existing leases 
guidance, including LKAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating 
Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset representing its right 
to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its 
obligation to make lease payments.

SLFRS 16 is effective for Annual Reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019. The Impact on the implementation 
of the above standards has not been quantified yet by the 
Group.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Business segments

The Group is organised into three main business segments:

 Â Milling and farming - Milling of poultry feed, other feed and broiler farming.

 Â Poultry breeding and commercial - breeding of commercial Day Old Chicks and broiler farming.

 Â Others - rental and trading.

The business segments have been identified based on business activity from which earn revenue, incur expenses and for which 
discrete financial information are available.

Operating environment that affect the segments are discussed under the Management Discussion and Analysis - Operating 
Environment.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, receivables and operating cash 
and exclude investments in subsidiaries. Segment liabilities comprise current and non-current liabilities. Capital expenditure 
comprises additions to property, plant and equipment.

(b) Sales are made up as follows :

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Milling and farming  17,366,918 16,070,235 17,366,918 16,070,235
Poultry breeding and commercial  2,797,389 2,867,186 - -
Others  166,235 148,933 - -
  20,330,542 19,086,354 17,366,918 16,070,235
Elimination / adjustment  (2,648,030) (2,166,627) - -
  17,682,512 16,919,727 17,366,918 16,070,235
Sales taxes 4 (c) (2,527,646) (2,398,034) (2,518,873) (2,060,478)
  15,154,866 14,521,693 14,848,045 14,009,757

(c) Sales taxes

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016
Nation Building Tax  283,497 313,143 301,180 299,000
Value Added Tax  2,244,149 2,084,891 2,217,693 1,761,478
  2,527,646 2,398,034 2,518,873 2,060,478

Inter-segment transfers are based on fair market prices (arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties).

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

119
Group Overview and

Executive Reviews
Creating Value for 

Stakeholders
Management Discussion 

and Analysis
Financial Reports Investor Highlights 

and Information
Governance

Reports

(d) Business Segments

 Milling and Poultry Others Elimination / Consolidated
 farming breeding and  adjustment
 For the year ended 31 December 2017  commercial   

Sales to outsiders 13,950,205 1,177,189 27,472 - 15,154,866
Inter segmental sales 897,840 1,226,931 114,310 (2,239,081) -
Total revenue 14,848,045 2,404,120 141,782 (2,239,081) 15,154,866

Operating income 415,593 675,740 69,977 (59,348) 1,101,962
Finance income 173,444 103,713 16,153 - 293,310
Finance expenses (4,829) 805 (30) - (4,054)
Share of profit of associate company - - - 8,406 8,406

Profit before tax 584,208 780,258 86,100 (50,942) 1,399,624
Taxation (133,564) (126,467) (69,657) - (329,688)
Profit for the year 450,644 653,791 16,443 (50,942) 1,069,936

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gain arising from  
 defined benefit obligation - net of tax 4,532 2,219 6 - 6,757
Total comprehensive income for the year 455,176 656,010 16,449 (50,942) 1,076,693

 Milling and Poultry Others Elimination / Consolidated
 farming breeding and  adjustment
 For the year ended 31 December 2016  commercial   

Sales to outsiders 13,216,733 1,242,099 62,861 - 14,521,693
Inter segmental sales 793,024 1,303,224 70,379 (2,166,627) -
Total revenue 14,009,757 2,545,323 133,240 (2,166,627) 14,521,693

Operating Income 827,066 930,838 59,221 (7,872) 1,809,253
Finance income 148,935 1,636 616 - 151,187
Finance expenses (8,425) 14 (115) - (8,526)
Share of profit of associate company - - - 6,494 6,494
Profit before tax 967,576 932,488 59,722 (1,378) 1,958,408
Taxation (149,611) (119,665) (7,416) - (276,692)
Profit for the year 817,965 812,823 52,306 (1,378) 1,681,716

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial gain arising from defined benefit  
 obligation-net of tax 3,738 1,180 18 - 4,936 
Total comprehensive income for the year 821,703 814,003 52,324 (1,378) 1,686,652



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

120

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Contd.)

(e) Business segments (Contd.)

 Milling and Poultry Others Elimination / Consolidated
 farming breeding and  Adjustment
As at 31 December 2017  commercial   

Segment assets 6,234,950 3,557,126 677,644 (330,920) 10,138,800
Associate 33 - - 31,918 31,951
Inter segment assets 837 - 7,587 (8,424) -
Total assets 6,235,820 3,557,126 685,231 (307,426) 10,170,751

Segment liabilities 2,557,974 523,674 109,895 - 3,191,543
Inter segment liabilities 35,645 73,067 89,767 (198,479) -
Total liabilities 2,593,619 596,741 199,662 (198,479) 3,191,543

Capital expenditure 527,826 21,201 - - 549,027
Depreciation / Amortisation 109,035 107,897 15,537 - 232,469
Amortisation of intangible assets 13,944 - - - 13,944

 Milling and Poultry Others Elimination / Consolidated
 farming breeding and  Adjustment
As at 31 December 2016  commercial   

Segment assets 5,158,128 2,980,315 613,858 (330,920) 8,421,381
Associate 33 - - 24,112 24,145
Inter segment assets 39,591 - 2,385 (41,976) -
Total assets 5,197,752 2,980,315 616,243 (348,784) 8,445,526

Segment liabilities 1,860,727 441,821 52,280 - 2,354,828
Inter segment liabilities - 139,939 88,332 (230,388) (2,117)
Total liabilities 1,860,727 581,760 140,612 (230,388) 2,352,711

Capital expenditure 101,951 101,681 3,062 - 206,694
Depreciation / Amortisation 75,961 107,948 18,681 - 202,590
Amortisation of intangible assets 13,103 - - - 13,103

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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5. OPERATING PROFIT

The following items have been charged / (credited) in arriving at operating profit:

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Directors’ emoluments 31 2,400 2,400 1,200 1,200
Auditors’ remuneration - Audit service  6,601 6,138 3,985 3,690
 - Other services  304 280 110 60
Legal fees  2,641 10,181 2,152 10,041
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 12 224,149 197,661 101,415 71,032
Amortisation of leasehold right over land and buildings 13 8,320 4,929 7,620 4,929
Amortisation of intangible assets 14 13,944 13,103 13,944 13,103
Usage of biological assets 17 482,139 420,995 - -
Operating lease rentals - property  74,399 75,813 62,399 63,813
Staff expenses 7 1,047,240 1,146,070 715,024 771,381

6. TEMPORARY CESSATION OF OPERATION

On 1 November 2004 the directors temporarily ceased the operation of breeding, hatching and growing of prawns and sea 
cucumber of Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited, a subsidiary of the Company.

The Management of the Company is of the view that the commercial operations of the Chilaw Farm could be recommenced. The 
assets and liabilities as at the reporting date of the division were as follows:

   As at 31 December

    2017 2016

Property, plant and equipment    57,697 59,127
Total assets    57,795 59,226
Total liabilities    (89,179) (88,520)
Net assets    (31,384) (29,294)
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7. STAFF EXPENSES

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Salaries and wages  982,644 1,090,065 664,491 729,196
Social security costs  89 90 82 42
Defined contribution plans  47,795 39,493 37,916 29,567
Employee benefits 25 16,712 16,422 12,535 12,576
  1,047,240 1,146,070 715,024 771,381

The average number of employees per month during the year:
 - Full time  640 546 430 341
 - Part time  738 692 236 141
  1,378 1,238 666 482

Part time employees include outsourced workers hired from third parties.

8. OTHER  OPERATING INCOME

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Sundry income  44,267 29,962 53,816 32,745
Dividend income  - - 60,990 32,677
Impairment provision on investment in subsidiaries  - - - (22,810)
Impairment provision on amount due from related parties  - - (1,642) (1,995)
Change in fair value less cost to sell  203 (16,235) - -
(Loss) / profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (2,667) (224) 783 (222)
  41,803 13,503 113,947 40,395

9. NET FINANCE INCOME

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Finance income
 - Interest income on short-term investments  293,310 151,187 173,444 148,935

Finance costs
 - Foreign exchange transaction losses  (1,041) (6,170) (1,848) (6,191)
 - Interest expense on bank borrowings  (3,013) (2,356) (2,981) (2,234)
  (4,054) (8,526) (4,829) (8,425)
Net finance income  289,256 142,661 168,615 140,510

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. TAXATION

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Current tax  202,768 184,617 94,670 116,957
(Over) / Under provision  (29,323) 27,916 (2,191) -
Dividend tax on intercompany dividend  6,731 3,268 5,567 3,268
Deferred tax charge recognised in profit or loss 24 149,512 60,891 35,518 29,386
  329,688 276,692 133,564 149,611

Current tax has been computed in accordance with the provisions of Inland Revenue Act No. 10 of 2006 and amendments thereto,

Company Source of 
income

Category Tax rate (%) Tax loss carried forward (Rs.)

2017 2016 2017 2016

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC

Feed Manufacturing 12 12

Nil Nil
Chicken

Poultry 
farming

10 10

Interest 
income and 
other sources

Other sources 28 28

Ceylon Livestock and 
Agrobusiness Services 
(Private) Limited

Poultry 
equipment

Trading 28 28

Nil Nil
Interest 
income

Other sources 28 28

Ceylon Warehouse Complex 
(Private) Limited

Rent
Storage 
facilities

10 10

Nil Nil
Interest 
income

Other sources 28 28

Ceylon Aquatech (Private) 
Limited

Other income Other sources 12 12 20,455,277 19,795,874

Three Acre Farms PLC

Poultry 
breeder 
farming

Poultry 
farming

10 10

Nil 8,521,569
Rearing Agriculture 12 12

Interest 
income

Other sources 28 28

Millennium Multibreeder 
Farms (Private) Limited

Poultry 
breeder 
farming

Poultry 
farming

10 10

Nil 19,515,284Hatchery 
service

Service fee 28 28

Interest 
income

Other sources 28 28

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry 
Breeders Limited

Rent Other sources 28 28 224,790,964 225,065,304
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10. TAXATION (Contd.)

Reconciliation of the accounting profit to income tax expense

The tax on the results of the Group’s operations and the Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Profit before tax  1,399,624 1,958,408 584,208 967,576
Share of profit of associate  (8,406) (6,494) - -
  1,391,218 1,951,914 584,208 967,576
Add: disallowable expenses  912,498 748,168 181,516 168,300
Deduct: allowable expenses  (1,099,385) (830,619) (442,598) (250,585)
Profit from trade or business  1,204,331 1,869,463 323,126 885,291

Add: interest income  293,310 151,187 173,444 148,935
Deduct : interest income from FCBU  (713) (675) (26) (46)
Deduct: tax loss claimed  (28,311) (400,934) - (75,361)
Deduct: qualifying payments  - (64,412) - (37,911)
Taxable income  1,468,617 1,554,629 496,544 920,908

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate
at 10 %  66,558 89,726 7,207 25,141
at 12 %  43,593 71,734 23,543 71,734
at 28 %  92,617 23,157 63,920 20,082
Current tax  202,768 184,617 94,670 116,957

(Over) / under provision  (29,323) 27,916 (2,191) -
Deferred tax charge   149,512 60,891 35,518 29,386
Dividend tax on intercompany dividend  6,731 3,268 5,567 3,268
  329,688 276,692 133,564 149,611

Further information about deferred tax is presented in Note 24 - Deferred Taxation.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders   790,179 1,333,909 450,644 817,965
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousands)  60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
Earnings per share (Rs.)  13.17 22.23 7.51 13.63

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares outstanding at any time during the year / previous year, hence diluted earnings 
per share is equal to the basic earnings per share.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) GROUP

  As at Additions / Disposals/ As at
  01.01.2017 WIP transfer write off 31.12.2017

Cost
Land  346,659 - - 346,659
Building  1,157,557 14,490 (4,375) 1,167,672
Leasehold buildings and improvements  540,787 11,053 - 551,840
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  1,371,258 316,177 (5,062) 1,682,373
Furniture and fittings and office equipment  150,820 16,798 (1,534) 166,084
Motor vehicles  173,764 29,690 (4,675) 198,779
Capital work-in-progress  61,014 94,018 - 155,032
  3,801,859 482,226 (15,646) 4,268,439

  As at Charge For Disposals/ As at
  01.01.2017 the year write off 31.12.2017

Depreciation
Building  157,980 28,613 (606) 185,987
Leasehold buildings and improvements  201,149 14,331 - 215,480
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  878,928 137,063 (4,449) 1,011,542
Furniture and fittings and office equipment  113,716 12,402 (1,318) 124,800
Motor vehicles  111,604 31,740 (3,986) 139,358
  1,463,377 224,149 (10,359) 1,677,167

  As at  As at
  01.01.2017   31.12.2017

Carrying amount
Land  346,659   346,659
Building  999,577   981,685
Leasehold buildings and improvements  339,638   336,360
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  492,330   670,831
Furniture and fittings and office equipment  37,104   41,284
Motor vehicles  62,160   59,421
Capital work-in-progress  61,014   155,032
  2,338,482   2,591,272
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd.)

(b) COMPANY

  As at Additions / Disposals/ As at
  01.01.2017 WIP transfer write off 31.12.2017

Cost 
Land  40,314 - - 40,314
Building  38,636 - - 38,636
Leasehold buildings and improvements  14,578 11,053 - 25,631
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  530,657 309,739 (4,295) 836,101
Furniture, fittings and office equipment  141,243 16,447 (1,411) 156,279
Motor vehicles  84,058 24,394 (3,575) 104,877
Capital work-in-progress  42,776 99,892 - 142,668
  892,262 461,525 (9,281) 1,344,506

  As at Charge for Disposals/ As at
  01.01.2017 the year write off 31.12.2017

Depreciation
Building  3,714 969 - 4,683
Leasehold buildings and improvements  179 1,823 - 2,002
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  283,882 71,225 (4,286) 350,821
Furniture, fittings and office equipment  104,703 12,336 (1,318) 115,721
Motor vehicles  53,485 15,062 (2,982) 65,565
  445,963 101,415 (8,586) 538,792

  As at  As at
  01.01.2017   31.12.2017

Carrying amount
Land  40,314   40,314
Building  34,922   33,953
Leasehold buildings and improvements  14,399   23,629
Plant and machinery, electrical and farm equipment  246,775   485,280
Furniture and fittings and office equipment  36,540   40,558
Motor vehicles  30,573   39,312
Capital work-in-progress  42,776   142,668
  446,299   805,714

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(c) Freehold Land carried at cost (Rs.) : Location Land extent Cost

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC Attanagalla Farm, Attanagalla 12 A - 2 R -    15.70 P 40,314,000
   40,314,000
Three Acre Farms PLC Meegoda Farm, Meegoda 24 A - 0 R   -       3.17 P 19,215,850
 Kosgama Farm
  Aluthambalama, Kosgama 20 A - 3 R   -     27.05 P 10,041,150
 Halwathura Farm, Halwathura 54 A - 0 R   -       3.76 P 29,796,324
 Bulathsinhala Farm
  Agaloya, Bulathsinhala 60 A - 3 R   -     27.00  P 56,045,250
 Hijra Farm - A, Pagoda, Beruwala 41 A - 3 R   -     13.42 P 41,034,200
 Hijra Farm - B, Beruwala  8 A - 3 R   -       3.71 P 74,829,300
 Makuluwatta Farm, Waga 12 A - 2 R   -    18.90 P 6,098,235
   237,060,309

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited Nillambe Farm, Office Junction, Galaha 33 A - 0 R   -     28.82 P 39,541,310
 Aswatta Farm, Kosgama   5 A - 3 R   -     18.19 P 7,522,838
 Wewelpanawa Farm, Wewelpanawa 27 A - 3 R   -     20.47 P 11,151,175
   58,215,323

Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited Chilaw Farm 49 A - 1 R   -     18.00 P 11,068,865
   11,068,865
Total   346,658,497

The Group has done an assessment on the market value of land by an independent professional valuer Mr. J.C Leuke Bandara 
Incorporated valuer (Graduate member of the Institute of Valuers) and identified that there were no substantial differences 
between the market value and the book value.

(d) Freehold building carried at cost (Rs.) : Location Number of Buildings Cost

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC Attanagalla Farm, Attanagalla 56 38,636,016
   38,636,016

Three Acre Farms PLC Meegoda Farm, Meegoda 75 174,495,552
 Kosgama Farm
  Aluthambalama, Kosgama 52 57,741,461
 Halwathura Farm, Halwathura 61 76,021,986
 Bulathsinhala Farm
  Agaloya, Bulathsinhala 95 196,112,750
 Hijra Farm - A, Pagoda, Beruwala 65 185,274,181
 Hijra Farm - B, Beruwala 38 21,297,783
 Makuluwatta Farm, Waga 36 69,447,700
   780,391,413

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited Nillambe Farm, Office Junction, Galaha 15 9,619,730
 Aswatta Farm, Kosgama 45 51,085,000
   60,704,730
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Contd.)

 Location Number of Buildings Cost

Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited Wewelpanawa Farm, Wewelpanawa 45 231,565,950
   231,565,950

Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited Chilaw Farm 32 56,373,600
   56,373,600
Total   1,167,671,709

(e) Capital work-in-progress

Capital work-in-progress includes the construction of capital assets which mainly consists of buildings, plant and machinery.

(f) Capitalised borrowing costs

There were no capitalised borrowing costs related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the year 2017 (2016 – Nil).

(g) Fully depreciated but still in use
The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company which are still in use amounted to, 

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Property, plant and equipment  536,815,384 486,718,245 236,518,244 195,225,873

(h) Property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities

There were no items of property, plant and equipment pledged as securities for liabilities as at the reporting date (2016 - Rs. Nil).

(i) Title restriction on property, plant and equipment

There were no restrictions existed on the title of the property, plant and equipment of the Group as at the reporting date.

(j) Permanent fall in value of property, plant and equipment 

There was no permanent fall in the value of property, plant and equipment which recognises provision for impairment as at 
reporting date.

13. LEASEHOLD RIGHT OVER LAND AND BUILDINGS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year  176,712 112,865 107,936 112,865
Addition during the year  59,233 68,776 58,733 -
Amortisation for the year  (8,320) (4,929) (7,620) (4,929)
Balance at the end of the year  227,625 176,712 159,049 107,936

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMPANY
Head Office Premises - Colombo 15
The Company has an agreement to mortgage for Rs. 495 Million over leasehold land and buildings at No.15, Rock House Lane, 
Colombo-15 as security for credit facilities.

The leasehold land and buildings are recognised as Operating Lease based on the substance of lease agreement.

The lease period of the leasehold land expired on 19 September 2012 and the Board of Directors has taken necessary action to 
renew the lease for a further period of 30 years (the current status of the lease agreement disclosed in Note 27 - Commitments, to 
the Financial Statements).

Seeduwa Sub-Lease Premises
The Company entered into the agreement with Ceylon Agro-Industries Limited for Sub-lease of land and premises of poultry 
processing plant for Rs. 57,000,000/- for a period of twenty years on 17 January 2017 and recognised as operating lease based on 
substance of lease agreement

GROUP
Ittapana - Beruwala
Three Acre Farms PLC entered into a 99 years lease agreement on ittapana land and recognised as operating lease based on 
substance of lease agreement

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a) The intangible assets consist with computer software and server software which purchased from associated company,  
Prima Management Services (Private) Limited.

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Cost
Balance at the beginning of the year  131,034 131,034 131,034 131,034
Additions during the year  7,568 - 7,568 -
Balance at the end of the year  138,602 131,034 138,602 131,034

Amortisation
Balance at the beginning of the year  (85,213) (72,110) (85,213) (72,110)
Amortisation for the year  (13,944) (13,103) (13,944) (13,103)
Balance at the end of the year  (99,157) (85,213) (99,157) (85,213)
Carrying amount  39,445 45,821 39,445 45,821

(b) Fully amortised but still in use

 There were no fully amortised intangible assets as at the reporting date (2016 - Rs. Nil).

(c) Intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities

 There were no items of intangible assets pledged as securities for liabilities as at the reporting date (2016 - Rs. Nil).

(d) Title restriction on intangible assets

 The Company has perpetual copyright to use these computer software.

(e) There are no significant intangible assets controlled by the entity but not recognised as assets because they did not meet 
recognition criteria or because they were acquired or generated before SLFRS 3 - Business Combinations, was effective.



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

130

15. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE COMPANY

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Prima Management Services (Private) Limited  31,951 24,145 33 33
  31,951 24,145 33 33

(a) Prima Management Services (Private) Limited

   GROUP

    2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year    24,145 18,652
Share of profit after tax    8,406 6,494
Less : Share of dividend distributed    (600) (1,001)
Balance at the end of the year    31,951 24,145

(b) Summarised financial information of Prima Management Services (Private) Limited

The following table summarises the financial information of Prima Management Services (Private) Limited as included in its own 
Financial Statements adjusted for fair value adjustments at the acquisition and differences in accounting policies. The table also 
reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Prima Management Services 
(Private) Limited.

Statement of financial position    2017 2016

Total assets    128,040 124,813
Total liabilities    (32,188) (52,377)
Net assets    95,852 72,436

Statement of comprehensive income

Revenue    242,898 234,783
Profit    25,218 19,482

(c) Share of profit of associate company

   Group’s share of profit after tax

    2017 2016

Prima Management Services (Private) Limited    8,406 6,494
    8,406 6,494

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(d) Investment in associate company - unquoted

 GROUP  COMPANY

 No. of Holding 2017 2016 No. of   Holding 2017 2016
 shares %   shares % 

Prima Management Services (Private) Limited (PMS) 3,334 33  31,951 24,145 3,334 33 33 33
Net book value as at 31 December - - 31,951 24,145 - - 33 33
Share of movement in equity value - - - - - - - -
Equity value in investments - - 31,951 24,145 - - 33 33

The Company has invested Rs. 33,334/- in Prima Management Services (Private) Limited, acquiring a 33 % stake during the year 2006.

16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

   Notes 2017 2016

Investment in subsidiary company - quoted   16 (a) 148,625 148,625
Investment in subsidiary companies - unquoted   16 (b) 213,000 213,000
Investment in subsidiary companies - cost    361,625 361,625
Provision for impairment    (30,705) (30,705)
    330,920 330,920

An impairment assessment was carried out as at 31 December 2017 and it was concluded that net realisable value  of all the 
investment included under unquoted investments exceed its carrying value except for Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited. Based on 
an assessment made for impairment, the provision provided as above considered to be adequate as at the reporting date.

(a) Investment in subsidiary company- quoted

 No. of Company  Group 
 shares holding % holding % 2017 2016

Three Acre Farms PLC 13,469,980 57.21 % 57.21 %
Net book value as at 31 December    148,625 148,625
Market value as at 31 December    1,522,108 1,819,794

(b) Investment in subsidiary companies - unquoted

 No. of Company  Group 
 shares holding % holding % 2017 2016

Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited 15,000,002 100 % 100 % 150,000 150,000
Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited 6,000,002 100 % 100 % 60,000 60,000
Ceylon Livestock and Agrobusiness Services (Private) Limited 300,002 100 % 100 % 3,000 3,000
Net book value as at 31 December    213,000 213,000
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16. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (Contd.)

(c) Details of the companies incorporated in Sri Lanka, in which the Company held an interest of 50 % or more are set out below:

Name of the Company Proportion of ordinary shares held

2017 Movement 2016

Ceylon Livestock and Agrobusiness Services 
(Private) Limited

100 % - 100 % Import and sale of poultry equipment, 
drugs and vaccines

Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited 100 % - 100 % Provide storage facilities

Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited 100 % - 100 % Integrated shrimp operation including 
breeding, processing and culture of shrimp

Three Acre Farms PLC 57.21 % - 57.21 % Poultry breeder farms, hatcheries and 
commercial broiler farms

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited 57.21 % - 57.21 % Renting of farm operation

Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited 57.21 % - 57.21 % Poultry breeder farming and hatchery

All the above companies, the financial year of which end on 31 December are audited by KPMG. 

17. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Fair value less cost to sell at the beginning of the year  491,782 455,549 - -
Additions during the year  518,913 473,463 - -
Usage during the year 5 (482,139) (420,995) - -
Change in fair value less cost to sell 8 203 (16,235) - -
Fair value less cost to sell at the end of the year  528,759 491,782 - - 

non-current  501,110 473,534 - -
current  27,649 18,248 - -
  528,759 491,782 - -

(a) Biological assets

A biological asset is a living animal . Biological assets consist of parent and grandparent livestock, used to breed commercial Day 
Old Chicks, hatchable eggs and broiler birds. Parent and grandparent birds include the growing birds and the laying birds.

Biological assets - Non-current
Bearer biological assets are those other than consumable biological assets and recognised as "Biological assets - Non-current". 
Bearer biological assets are not agricultural produce but, rather, are self-generating. Parent and grandparent livestock have been 
identified as bearer biological assets.

Biological assets - Current
Consumable biological assets are those that are to be harvested as agricultural produce or sold as biological assets. Hatchable eggs 
and Commercial Day Old Chicks have been identified as consumable biological assets.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(b) Measurement of fair value

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The fair value measurement of livestock have been categorised as level 3 fair values based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

(ii) Level 3 fair values

The following table shows a breakdown of the total gains / (losses) recognised in respect of level 3 fair values.

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Change in fair value less cost to sell included in 'Other Income'
Biological assets - non-current  (983) (17,211) - -
Biological assets - current  1,186 976 - -
  203 (16,235) - -

(iii) Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

Following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring level 3 fair value as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Type Valuation technique Significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair value 
measurements

Biological assets

Bearer biological assets 
comprises Broiler Grand 
Parent, Broiler Parent 
and Layer parent

Discounted Cash Flows

The valuation model considers the 
present value of the net cash flows 
expected to be generated by breeder 
farming. The expected net cash flows 
are discounted using a risk adjusted 
discount rate.

DOC yield The FV will;
 Â increase when DOC  yield increased

 Â decrease when DOC yield decreased

DOC selling price  Â increase when selling price increased

 Â decreased when selling price decreased 

Discounting rate  Â increase when discounting rate decreased

 Â decreased when discounting rate increased

Mortality  Â increase when mortality rate decreased  

 Â decrease when mortality rate increased  

Consumable Biological Assets
Consumable biological assets comprise of Hatchable Eggs and Commercial Day Old Chicks (DOCs). DOCs are fair valued at the market 
price and cost is approximated as fair value for Hatchable Eggs as no or only little biological change was observed as at the year end.

(c) Risk management strategy related to the biological assets

(i) Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in various countries in which it operates. The Group has established environmental 
policies and procedures aimed at compliance with local environmental and other laws.

(ii) Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations in the price and sales volume of commercial Day Old Chicks. When possible, 
the Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume to market supply and demand. Management performs regular industry 
trend analyses for projected harvest volumes and pricing.

(iii) Climate and other risks

The group's biological assets are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases, and other natural forces. The Group 
has extensive processes in place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks, including regular health inspection, implementing 
disease control policies and procedures. The Group is also insured against natural disasters such as floods and hurricanes.
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18. AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Three Acre Farms PLC  - - - 25,140
Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited  - - - 14,451
Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited  - - 88,930 88,332
Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited  - - 101,124 100,080
Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited  - - 837 -
  - - 190,891 228,003
Less: Provision for receivables  - - (190,054) (188,412)
  - - 837 39,591

Provision have been made for receivables from Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited and Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited 
amounting to Rs. 88,930,000/-and Rs. 101,124,000/- respectively. The movement in provision for receivables disclosed in  
Note 30.1 - Financial instruments

19. INVENTORIES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Raw materials and consumables  2,570,986 1,774,282 2,491,688 1,699,843
Goods in transit  414,556 499,021 414,556 499,021
Finished goods
 - Feed  112,139 100,432 112,139 100,432
 - Chicken  41,550 119,889 41,550 119,889
Out grower stock (Work-in-progress)  148,971 167,458 148,971 167,458
  3,288,202 2,661,082 3,208,904 2,586,643
Less: provision for slow moving and obsolete items  (41,381) (36,427) (38,383) (34,333)
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value  3,246,821 2,624,655 3,170,521 2,552,310

Inventories are on an "agreed to mortgage" condition, against short term bank borrowings .

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Trade receivables  564,278 547,789 538,139 534,341
Less: provision for doubtful debts  (216,501) (254,889) (206,477) (244,865)
  347,777 292,900 331,662 289,476
Prepayments  35,912 31,818 23,822 20,754
Other receivables 20 (a) 235,370 221,507 189,542 205,366
  619,059 546,225 545,026 515,596

The movement in provision for doubtful debt disclosed in Note 30.1 - Financial instruments.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

135
Group Overview and

Executive Reviews
Creating Value for 

Stakeholders
Management Discussion 

and Analysis
Financial Reports Investor Highlights 

and Information
Governance

Reports

(a) Other receivables

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Deposits and advances  52,353 20,909 39,958 9,709
Staff loans  718 616 180 77
Other receivables  182,299 199,982 149,404 195,580
  235,370 221,507 189,542 205,366

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Cash at bank  207,269 131,257 81,273 105,530
Short term bank Deposits  1,641,522 1,635,000 718,029 900,000
Investment in short term securities  1,001,300 415,800 354,000 143,000
Cash in hand  7,353 3,961 6,823 3,247
  2,857,444 2,186,018 1,160,125 1,151,777

The Group's weighted average effective interest rate on short term bank deposits was on AWDR.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and forming an integral part of the Group’s cash management as included as a 
component cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Trade payables  177,073 175,653 108,248 129,370
Accrued expenses  225,682 230,238 173,153 188,560
Dividend payable  514 514 514 514
Other payables 22 (a) 633,545 761,825 438,606 559,972
  1,036,814 1,168,230 720,521 878,416

(a) Other payables

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Deposit and advances  81,880 96,306 54,671 66,781
Government taxes  307,265 308,625 199,862 223,643
Staff related expenses  233,848 304,628 179,247 228,847
Other payables  10,552 52,266 4,826 40,701
  633,545 761,825 438,606 559,972
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23. AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Ceylon Agro-Industries Limited  9,196 10,593 9,112 10,593
Prima Ceylon (Private) Limited  254,116 222,280 254,116 222,280
Prima Management Services (Private) Limited  5,651 1,903 4,925 1,903
Hapiways Management Services Pte Limited  1,443,287 665,260 1,443,287 665,260
Three Acre Farms PLC  - - 28,901 -
Millenium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited  - - 2,661 -
Ceylon Livestock and Agrobusiness Services (Private) Limited  - - 4,083 911
Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited  - - - 1,206
  1,712,250 900,036 1,747,085 902,153

24. DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against tax liabilities 
and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows:

24.1 Deferred tax assets

The gross movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows :

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year  - 7,524 - 7,524
Deferred tax charge recognised in profit or loss 10 - (7,524) - (7,524)
Deferred tax release recognised in other comprehensive income  - - - -
Balance at the end of the year  - - - -

24.2 Deferred tax liability

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows :

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year  207,475 153,431 22,405 -
Deferred tax charge recognised in profit or loss 10 149,512 53,367 35,518 21,862
Deferred tax charge recognised  
 in other comprehensive income  1,794 677 1,431 543
Balance at the end of the year  358,781 207,475 59,354 22,405

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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24.3 Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances 
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows :

  2017 2016

  Temporary Tax effect on Temporary Tax effect on
  difference temporary difference temporary
GROUP   difference  difference

Property, plant and equipment  1,623,926 326,590 1,618,343 181,936
Biological assets  501,110 70,155 473,534 47,353
Defined benefit obligation  (83,698) (21,070) (76,970) (9,256)
Tax loss  (20,455) (5,727) (46,483) (7,988)
Provision for slow moving and obsolete items  (41,381) (11,167) (36,427) (4,570)
  1,979,502 358,781 1,931,997 207,475

  2017 2016

  Temporary Tax effect on Temporary Tax effect on
  difference temporary difference temporary
COMPANY   difference  difference

Property, plant and equipment  317,021 88,766 268,506 34,100
Defined benefit obligation  (66,659) (18,665) (57,753) (7,335)
Provision for slow moving and obsolete items  (38,383) (10,747) (34,333) (4,360)
  211,979 59,354 176,420 22,405

Deferred tax of the Group companies have been computed by applying future tax rate at the reporting date as follows : 

    2017 2016

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC    28% 12.7% 
Three Acre Farms PLC    14% 10%
Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private) Limited     14% 10%
Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited    28% 10%
Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited    28% 28%

24.4 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised on tax losses carried forward for the following company, since it is not probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefit there on.

    2017 2016

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited
Tax losses carried forward    224,791 225,066
Tax effect there on 28 %    62,941 63,018
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Employee benefit obligation as at 1 January  76,970 75,278 57,753 57,474
Provisions made during the year  8,161 10,809 6,572 8,295
Provisions transfer from related company  6,689 - 6,689 -
Benefits paid by the plan  (8,122) (9,117) (4,355) (8,016)
Employee benefit obligation as at 31 December  83,698 76,970 66,659 57,753

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations
Employee benefits as at 1 January  76,970 75,278 57,753 57,474
Benefits paid by the plan  (8,122) (9,117) (4,355) (8,016)
Provisions transferred from related company  6,689 - 6,689 -
Current service cost  8,245 8,809 6,182 6,676
Interest on obligation  8,467 7,613 6,353 5,900
Actuarial (gain) / loss during the year  (5,497) 8,665 (3,814) 6,584
Change in actuarial assumption  (3,054) (14,278) (2,149) (10,865)
Defined benefit obligations at the end of the year  83,698 76,970 66,659 57,753

The amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 
 Financial Position are as follows:
Present value of unfunded obligations  83,698 76,970 66,659 57,753
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations  83,698 76,970 66,659 57,753

Expense recognised in the consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Current service cost  8,245 8,809 6,182 6,676
Interest on obligation  8,467 7,613 6,353 5,900
  16,712 16,422 12,535 12,576

Expense recognised in the  
 Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
Actuarial (gain) / loss during the year  (5,497) 8,665 (3,814) 6,584
Change in actuarial assumption  (3,054) (14,278) (2,149) (10,865)
  (8,551) (5,613) (5,963) (4,281)

The provision for retiring gratuity for the year is based on the actuarial valuation made on 31 December 2017.

The actuarial valuation was carried out by professionally qualified actuary Mr. Piyal S Goonetilleke of Piyal S Goonetilleke Associates 
for retiring gratuity for employees as at 31 December 2017.

The liability was not externally funded.

Actuarial assumptions
Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages) :

  GROUP / COMPANY

    2017 2016

Discount rate as at 31st December    11.5 % 11.0 %
Future salary increases    10.0 % 10.0 %

Actuarial assumptions
Future mortality is based on published statistics and mortality tables.

The average life expectancy of an individual retiring at age 55
Staff turnover sliding scale by the age of employee retiring from 10 %-1 %

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 
constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

  2017 2016

GROUP  Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Movement by 1 % 
Discount Rate  (4,660) 5,213 (4,660) 5,213
Future salary scale  4,937 (4,493) 4,937 (4,493)

  2017 2016

COMPANY  Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Movement by 1 %
Discount Rate  (3,555) 3,972 (3,555) 3,972
Future salary scale  3,758 (3,425) 3,758 (3,425)

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) 284 / 2008 MR - Green Valley Farm (Private) Limited Vs. Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Green Valley Farm (Private) Limited filed the above case against CGE claiming Rs. 195,775,306/- as losses resulted from the business 
affairs, it had with CGE. The judgement of the case was delivered on 21 November 2014.

It was decided that Green Valley Farm (Private) Limited is entitled to recover only a sum of Rs. 47,223,869/- from CGE and that amount 
be set off against the amount due to be paid by Green Valley Farm (Private) Limited to CGE.

The Company has filed an appeal against the said judgement and case is pending before the Supreme Court.

(b) A 3175 - Inter Company Employees Union Vs. CGE and Subsidiaries
Employees of CGE and subsidiary companies went on strike on 20 March 2006 and those who went on strike were terminated. The 
dispute was referred to the Commissioner of Labour and the reference was gazetted by the Minister dated 26 May 2006 referring the 
case for hearing at the Industrial Court.

At the Industrial Court CGE took up a preliminary objection that Composite reference (referring to employees of six companies in one 
reference) is bad in law as they are separate legal entities and cannot be referred in one dispute. The Industrial Court gave its verdict 
rejecting the preliminary objection and thereafter the Company made an appeal against the interim order in the Court of Appeal (C/
A796/2007). Court of Appeal delivered its judgement on 18 May 2010 rejecting the appeal filed by CGE. Accordingly the case was 
taken up for hearing before the Industrial Court.

After a lengthy trial at the industrial Court, the Award was gazetted on 16 January 2018 directing CGE and subsidiary companies to 
reinstate the employees with back-wages. The Company has filed a writ application in the Court of Appeal to quash the said award. 

(c)  A 3174 - Inter Company Employees Union Vs. CGE and Global Engineering and Supplies
Employees who worked under Labour Contractor, Global Engineering and Supplies were also involved in the strike.

This case was also referred to the Commissioner of Labour and reference was gazetted by the Minister dated 26 May 2006 referring the 
case for hearing at the Industrial Court.

This dispute was referred as 'Non offer of employment'. Lawyers appearing for CGE took up an objection in the Industrial Court that 
there is no such dispute called 'Non offer of employment'. The Industrial Court in its preliminary order rejected the said objection and 
thereafter CGE made an appeal to the Court of Appeal. Court of Appeal delivered its judgement by rejecting the appeal filed by CGE 
and referring the case back to the Industrial Court for hearing.

This matter is coming on 6 April 2018 for evidence in chief of the first witness of the Company.
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27. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

 No capital commitments outstanding as at the reporting date.

(b) Operating commitments

  Within Within More than
  one year 1-5 years 5 years Total

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC  99,837 399,348 1,896,903 2,396,088

Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private) Limited  12,000 48,000 228,000 288,000
  111,837 447,348 2,124,903 2,684,088

(c) The Agreement has been inked for another period of 30 years effective from 12 September 2012 between the Company and 
Divisional Secretariat at Colombo for use of land and buildings at No. 15,  Rock House Lane, Colombo 15. 

 
 The Agreement for related leases with Sri Lanka Ports Authority yet to be finalised as at the reporting date.

(d) The Company is the Parent Company of Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited and confirms their commitment, in present 
circumstances to continue financial support in the business operations and to meet financial obligations. As the ultimate 
Parent Company of the above company, CGE has no intention or inclination of withdrawing their support or reducing the scale 
of operations of the above company in the forthcoming 12 months.

(e) The Company has provided a corporate guarantee of Rs. 250,000,000/- to Hatton National Bank PLC for a banking facility 
obtained by its subsidiary company, Three Acre Farms PLC.

28. STATED CAPITAL

    COMPANY

    2017 2016

Ordinary shares -  issued and fully paid (Nos.)    60,000,000 60,000,000

Issued and fully paid    1,017,996 1,017,996

None of the shares held by neither the Company on its own nor its subsidiaries or associate.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share 
per individual present at meeting of the shareholders or one vote per share in the case of a poll.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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29. NON - CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(a) Movements in non-controlling interest (NCI)during the period ended 31 December

    GROUP
    2017 2016

As at the beginning of the year    1,026,343 699,188
Share of net profit of subsidiaries    279,757 347,807
Share of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries    950 505
Dividend paid    (40,300) (21,157)
As at the end of the year    1,266,750 1,026,343

(b) NCI Percentage for the period ended 31 December

Principal place of
business

Operating
Segment

Ownership interest held by NCI

2017 2016

Three Acre Farms PLC Sri Lanka Poultry breeding and commercial 42.79 % 42.79 %

(c) Summarised Financial Statements of Three Acre Farms PLC

Statement of financial position
Non-current assets    1,974,535 2,038,239
Current assets    1,582,591 942,076
Non-current liabilities    (227,015) (170,877)
Current liabilities    (369,726) (410,883)
Net assets    2,960,385 2,398,555
Net assets attributable to NCI    1,266,750 1,026,343

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Revenue    2,404,120 2,545,323
Profit for the year    653,791 812,823
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    2,219 1,180
Total Comprehensive Income    656,010 814,003

Profit attributable to NCI    279,757 347,807
Other comprehensive income attributable to NCI, net of tax    950 505
Total comprehensive income attributable to NCI    280,707 348,312

Net cash generated from operating activities    524,626 627,037
Net cash used in investing activities    (230,627) (246,104)
Net cash used in financing activities    (40,300) (21,157)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    253,699 359,776
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has and exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments;

 Â Credit risk

 Â Liquidity risk

 Â Currency risk

 Â Interest rate risk

 Â Market risk

Risk management framework

The Group’s Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework, developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies and report regularly to the Board of Directors on its 
activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in the market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and 
procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations.

The Board of Directors of Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC, oversee how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk 
management policies and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by 
the Group.

Financial Instruments - Consolidated statement of financial position

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Financial Assets

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables  583,147 514,407 521,204 494,842
Amount due from related companies 18 - - 837 39,591
  583,147 514,407 522,041 534,433
Cash and cash equivalents 21 2,857,444 2,186,018 1,160,125 1,151,777
  3,440,591 2,700,425 1,682,166 1,686,210

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Financial Liabilities

Other financial liabilities
Amount due to related companies 23 1,712,250 900,036 1,747,085 902,153
Trade and other payables  503,867 629,367 347,506 466,213
  2,216,117 1,529,403 2,094,591 1,368,366

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Financial Instruments - Consolidated statement of profit or loss

  2017 2016

  Gain / Losses / Gain / Losses /
  income expenses income expenses

Group

Other financial liabilities
Interest bearing instruments  293,310 3,013 151,187 2,356
Total  293,310 3,013 151,187 2,356

Company

Other financial liabilities
Interest bearing instruments  173,444 2,981 148,935 2,234
Total  173,444 2,981 148,935 2,234

30.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group, if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers, placements with banking institutions and in 
government securities.

(a) Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date was;

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Amount due from related companies 18 - - 190,891 228,003
Trade and other receivables  583,147 514,407 521,204 494,842
Cash and cash equivalents 21 2,857,444 2,186,018 1,160,125 1,151,777
  3,440,591 2,700,425 1,872,220 1,874,622

(b) Impairment losses

(i) The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was:

  2017 2016

GROUP  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due  61,835 - 110,649 -
Past due 0 - 30 days  279,168 - 212,266 -
Past due 31 - 365 days  191,805 - 149,247 -
More than one year  266,840 216,501 297,134 254,889
  799,648 216,501 769,296 254,889
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  2017 2016

COMPANY  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due  47,314 - 75,990 -
Past due 0 - 30 days  262,250 - 209,024 -
Past due 31 - 365 days  171,675 - 153,647 -
More than one year  246,442 206,477 301,046 244,865
  727,681 206,477 739,707 244,865

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loans and receivables during the year was as follows:

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Balance as at 1 January  254,889 260,513 244,865 250,489
Impairment loss reversed  (38,388) (5,624) (38,388) (5,624)
Balance as at 31 December  216,501 254,889 206,477 244,865

Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that, apart from the above, no impairment allowance is necessary in respect 
of trade receivables not past dues or past due by more than 365 days, which includes the amount owed by the Group's most 
significant customer, relates to customers that have a good payment record with the Group.

(ii) The aging of amount due from related companies at the reporting date was:

  2017 2016

COMPANY  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

Not past due  837 - - -
Past due 0 - 365 days  190,054 (190,054) 228,003 188,412
More than 365 days  - - - -
  190,891 (190,054) 228,003 188,412

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of amount due from related companies during the year was as follows;

    COMPANY

     2017 2016

Balance as at 1 January    188,412 186,417
Impairment loss recognised    1,642 1,995
Balance as at 31 December    190,054 188,412

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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30.2 Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact 
of netting agreements.

 Carrying Contractual 6 months 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 More than

As at 31 December 2017 amount cash flows or less months years Years 5 years

GROUP

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 503,867 (503,867) (503,867) - - - -
Amount due to related companies 1,712,250 (1,712,250) (1,712,250) - - - -
 2,216,117 (2,216,117) (2,216,117) - - - -

COMPANY

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 347,506 (347,506) (347,506) - - - -
Amount due to related companies 1,747,085 (1,747,085) (1,747,085) - - - -
 2,094,591 (2,094,591) (2,094,591) - - - -

 Carrying Contractual 6 months 6 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 More than

As at 31 December 2016 amount cash flows or less months years Years 5 years

GROUP

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 629,367 (629,367) (629,367) - - - -
Amount due to related companies 900,036 (900,036) (900,036) - - - -
 1,529,403 (1,529,403) (1,529,403) - - - -

COMPANY

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 466,213 (466,213) (466,213) - - - -
Amount due to related companies 902,153 (902,153) (902,153) - - - -
 1,368,366 (1,368,366) (1,368,366) - - - -

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different 
amount.
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30.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates affecting to the Company's 
income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Market risk comprise of the following types of risk :

 Â Currency risk

 Â Interest Rate Risk

 Â Commodity price risk

 Â Equity Price Risk

(a) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument of fluctuating due to changes in foreign 
exchange rate.

Exposure to currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts;

  2017  2016

GROUP  USD EUR USD EUR

Cash and cash equivalents  806,240 - 152,194 -
Trade payables  (215,713) 24,628 (319,794) -
Amount due to related company  (9,407,598) - (4,432,149) -
  (8,817,071) 24,628 (4,599,749) -

  2017  2016

COMPANY  USD EUR USD EUR

Cash and cash equivalents  16,742 - 20,981 -
Trade payables  (17,242) 23,859 (227,396) (2,540)
Amount due to related company  (9,407,598) - (4,432,149) -
  (9,408,098) 23,859 (4,638,564) (2,540)
 
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

  Average Rate Reporting date  
   spot Rate

  2017 2016 2017 2016

USD  153.19 147.16 153.42 150.10
EUR  172.88 158.48 182.49 154.93

As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(b) Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of  the Group's interest bearing financial instruments were:

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets  - - - -
Financial liabilities  - - - -
  - - - -

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets  2,642,822 2,050,800 1,072,029 1,043,000
Financial liabilities  - - - -
  2,642,822 2,050,800 1,072,029 1,043,000

30.4 Capital Management

The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and sustain future 
development of the business. Capital consist of ordinary share, retained earnings and non- controlling interest of the group. The 
Board of Directors monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

31.1 Key management personnel information

Key Management Personnel include all the members of the Board of Directors of the Company having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company as well as the subsidiaries, directly or indirectly. Compensation 
paid to Key Management Personnel on behalf of the companies are as follows:

  GROUP COMPANY

 Notes 2017 2016 2017 2016

Short-term employee benefits 5 2,400 2,400 1,200 1,200
Post employment benefits  - - - -
  2,400 2,400 1,200 1,200

There were no loans given to the Directors of the company during the financial year as at reporting date.
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd.)

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria, Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus, Mr. Tan Beng Chuan, Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard and  
Mr. Sunil Karunanayake the Directors of the Company are also the directors of the following companies as set out below and with 
transaction in Note 31.2 Key Management Personnel information, have been carried out.

Name of the related party Name of the Director Nature of transaction

Three Acre Farms PLC (TAF) 
Subsidiary

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria 
Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan
Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard
Mr. Sunil Karunanayake

CGE sells feeds to TAF. Also the Company 
purchases broiler DOC and culled birds 
from TAF. 

Ceylon Pioneer Poultry Breeders Limited  
(CPPBL)
Subsidiary

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan

No inter-company transactions have 
been carried out during the year.

Ceylon Aquatech (Private) Limited (CAT) 
Subsidiary

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan

No inter-company transactions have 
been carried out during the year.

Ceylon Livestock and Agrobusiness
Services (Private) Limited (CLAS)  
Subsidiary

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan

CLAS supplies veterinary drugs, 
medicine and poultry equipment to the 
Company’s out grower farms.

Ceylon Warehouse Complex (Private)  
Limited (CWCL)
Subsidiary

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan

CWCL provides storage facilities to the 
Company.

Millennium Multibreeder Farms (Private)  
Limited (MMF)
Subsidiary

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan

CGE sells feed to MMF. Also the Company 
purchases broiler DOC and culled birds 
from MMF.

Prima Ceylon (Private) Limited (PCL)
Group Company

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard

The CGE purchases raw materials from 
PCL. Also, the Company sells processed 
chicken to PCL.

Prima Management Services (Private)  
Limited (PMS)
Associate Company

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus PMS provides ICT solutions and services 
to the Company.

Hapiways Management Services
Pte Limited (HMS)
Group Company

Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus Purchase of all kind of imported raw 
materials, feed additives, spare parts and 
other significant imports from HMS.

Ceylon Agro-Industries Limited (CAI)  
Group Company

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria
Mr. Cheng Chih Kwong, Primus
Mr. Tan Beng Chuan
Mr. Cheng Koh Chuen, Bernard

CGE sells processed chicken to CAI. Also 
the Company purchase Value Added 
Products (VAP) from CAI. 

Wealth Trust Securities Limited (WTS) 
Common Directorship

Mr. Wickrema Senaka Weerasooria The Company received interest income 
on investment made on Government 
Securities.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31.2 Recurrent related party transactions

The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, associates and related group companies as disclosed in note 
number 31.1 Key Management Personnel Information.

Companies within the Group engage in trading transactions. The following transactions were carried out with related parties 
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

(a) Transaction with Subsidiaries

 Total Total

Company CWCL CLAS CAT TAF MMF CPPBL 2017 2016

Sale of goods - - - 656,590 241,250 - 897,840 793,024
Purchase of goods - (235) - (467,817) (199,797) - (667,849) (669,730)
Sale of services 13,562 300 - 12,210 3,500 - 29,572 11,759
Purchase of services (111,286) - - (559,449) - - (670,735) (701,355)
Recovery of expenses 66 123 - 17,661 5,880 - 23,730 21,506
Settlement of third party dues 33,753 13,804 667 150,536 9,393 1,044 209,197 188,676
Funds (received) / paid 82,900 (17,177) (70) 188,417 (89,364) - 164,706 368,931

(b) Transaction with Other Related Companies

      Total Total
Group  WTS HMS CAI PCL 2017 2016

Sale of goods  - - 86,443 4,356 90,799 130,380
Purchase of goods  - (6,874,915) (5,821) (1,572,158) (8,452,894) (6,596,836)
Sale of services  - - 6,011 - 6,011 4,167
Purchase of services  - (36,777) (2,947) (15,153) (54,877) (253,627)
Recovery of expenses  - (5) (80,340) - (80,345) (9,510)
Interest income received  6,811 - - - 6,811 29,352
Funds (received) / paid  - 6,133,669 34,669 1,822,464 7,990,802 7,393,386

      Total Total
Company  WTS HMS CAI PCL 2017 2016

Sale of goods  - - 86,443 4,356 90,799 130,380
Purchase of goods  - (6,887,920) (6,388) (1,572,158) (8,466,466) (6,614,267)
Sale of services  - - 6,011 - 6,011 4,167
Purchase of services  - (36,777) (2,947) (15,153) (54,877) (253,627)
Recovery of expenses  - (5) (80,340) - (80,345) (9,510)
Interest income received  6,811 - - - 6,811 29,352
Funds (received) / paid  - 6,146,674 35,152 1,822,464 8,004,290 7,410,879



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

150

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd.)

(c) Transaction with Associate

      Total Total
Group     PMS 2017 2016

Purchase of services     (55,905) (55,905) (32,763)
Funds paid     60,567 60,567 37,939

      Total Total
Company     PMS 2017 2016

Purchase of service     (54,355) (54,355) (32,763)
Funds  paid     59,482 59,482 37,939

(d) The receivables from related companies and payables to related companies on sale/purchase of goods/services are set out in 
note 18 and 23 respectively. These receivables and payables are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

(e) The subsidiary companies utilise certain facilities of the Company free of charge and part of the accounting and administrative 
functions of the subsidiary companies are also performed by the Company for which no charges are made.

(f) Terms and Conditions for recurrent transactions with related parties

 All related party transactions are carried out in the ordinary course of business and transacted at normal business terms. The 
sales to and purchases from related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions and 
comparable with those that would have been charged from unrelated companies. All related party outstanding balances at the 
year-end are unsecured and are to be settled in cash. The Group does not have any material commitments to related parties.

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
For the year ended 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31.3 Non-recurrent related party transactions

The Group entered into the non-recurrent related party transactions for the year 2017 as follows:

Non-recurrent related party

(a) Transaction that required immediate market disclosure.  

Related 
Party

Transaction Transaction 
Date

Transaction 
Value

(Rs’000)

Aggregate 
Value

(Rs’000)

Aggregate Value of non- 
recurrent RPTs entered into 

during the financial year

The rationale 
for entering 
into the 
transactions

Terms of 
transaction

as a % of 
Equity

as a % of 
Total Assets

CAI (Group 
Company)

Sub-lease of poultry 
processing plant 
premises

18-Jan-17 57,000 57,000 2 % 1 %

To bring 
synergies to the 
company

On normal 
commercial 
terms

Outright purchase 
of poultry 
processing plant 
and related 
machinery

18-Jan-17 215,000 272,000 8 % 5 %

WIP purchase of PPP 
related machinery

18-Jan-17 59,423 331,423 10 % 6 %

The Company has made necessary immediate market disclosures, as set out in CSE Listing Rule 9.3.1 on the transactions which 
have exceeded 10 % of the Equity or 5 % of the Total Assets as per the latest Audited Financial Statements.

(b) Other non-recurrent related party transactions

Related party Prima Management Services (Private) Limited

Nature of the transaction Purchase of server hardware, software and installation of CCTV system.

Terms of transaction On normal commercial terms

Total Value Rs. 20.9 Million

As a % of Equity 0.60%

As a % of Total Assets 0.40% 

(c) There were no any non-recurrent Related Party Transactions entered during the year, other than the transactions specified 
above as per the CSE Listing Rule 9.3.2.
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32. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events which require adjustment to, or disclosure in the Financial Statements except for the following.

The Directors propose for payment a First and Final dividend of Rs. 2.00 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 on  
29 March 2018. Under the Inland Revenue Act No. 24 of 2017, a withholding tax of 14 % will be imposed on dividends declared.

33. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

To facilitate comparison and where relevant, pertaining to the previous year have been reclassified, as follows :

   31 December 2016

 Reclassified As per Audited  
Group  Financial Statements Change
    
Other operating income   13,503 164,690 (151,187)

Finance income   151,187 - 151,187
   164,690 164,690 -

   31 December 2016

 Reclassified As per Audited  
Company  Financial Statements Change

Other operating income   40,395 189,330 (148,935)

Finance income   148,935 - 148,935
   189,330 189,330 -

34. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these Financial Statements.

35. NET ASSETS PER SHARE

  GROUP COMPANY

  2017 2016 2017 2016

Net assets attributable to ordinary shareholders  5,712,458 5,066,472 3,642,201 3,337,025
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
Net assets per Share (Rs.)  95.21 84.44 60.70 55.62

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Five Year Financial Summary

  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

GROUP

Operating results for the period

Revenue  15,154,866 14,521,693 13,741,283 11,543,764 11,468,100 

Operating profit  1,101,962 1,809,253 1,356,578 260,747 413,979 

Finance income  293,310 151,187 27,308 1,253 2,879 

Finance expenses  (4,054) (8,526) (55,969) (81,673) (168,614) 

Share of results of associate  8,406 6,494 9,919 4,643 3,218 

Profit / (loss) before taxation  1,399,624 1,958,408 1,337,836 184,970 251,462 

Taxation  (329,688) (276,692) (159,145) (34,679) (52,184) 

Profit from ordinary activities  1,069,936 1,681,716 1,178,691 150,291 199,278 

Non - controlling interest  (279,757) (347,807) (235,624) (70,739) (75,453) 

Profit attributable to the Company  790,179 1,333,909 943,067 79,552 123,825 

Financial Position

Stated capital  1,017,996 1,017,996 1,017,996 1,017,996 1,017,996 

Retained earnings  4,694,462 4,048,476 2,776,136 1,833,562 1,762,128 

Non-controlling interest  1,266,750 1,026,343 699,188 468,865 399,081 

Non - current liabilities  442,479 284,445 228,709 194,500 216,131 

  7,421,687 6,377,260 4,722,029 3,514,923 3,395,336 

Intangible assets  39,445 45,821 58,924 72,028 85,131 

Property, plant ,  

 equipment and investments  2,818,897 2,515,194 2,518,892 2,650,252 2,755,515 

Investment in an associate company  31,951 24,145 18,652 19,033 14,390 

Biological assets  501,110 473,534 439,170 430,629 431,049 

Current assets  6,779,348 5,386,832 3,940,667 3,244,126 2,457,327 

Current liabilities  (2,749,064) (2,068,266) (2,254,276) (2,901,145) (2,348,076) 

  7,421,687 6,377,260 4,722,029 3,514,923 3,395,336 

COMPANY

Key Ratios and other information

Earnings /(loss) per share (Rs.) - Basic/Diluted  7.51 13.63 10.25 (0.81) (0.39) 

Dividends per share - proposed (Rs.)  2.00 2.50 1.10 - - 

Dividends pay out ratio - proposed (%)  26.63 18.34 10.74 - - 

Market price per share (Rs.)  66.10 82.90 91.60 41.00 35.50 

Price earnings ratio (No. of times)  8.80 6.08 8.94 (50.62) (91.03) 

Debt / equity ratio (No. of times)  - - - 0.46 0.29 

Interest cover (No. of times)  138.79 367.45 44.83 0.36 0.86 

Net assets per share (Rs.)  60.70 55.62 43.02 32.78 33.71 

Current ratio (No. of times)  1.99 2.40 1.82 1.39 1.53 

Shares traded  12,946,790 32,287,273 33,983,884 13,246,893 10,487,311 

US $ Exchange rate (average)  153.19 147.16 137.01 130.78 129.40 

US $ Exchange rate (year end spot)  153.42 150.10 144.06 132.00 130.75 

All amounts in Sri Lankan Rupees thousands
As at 31 December
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Consolidated Value Added Statement

 Rs. ’000 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Gross revenue 17,682,512 16,919,727 15,778,015 13,286,671 13,228,774
Less: Cost of materials and services purchased (12,944,647) (11,442,542) (11,383,761) (10,428,035) (10,387,469)
 4,737,865 5,477,185 4,394,254 2,858,636 2,841,305

Add:
Other operating income 41,600 29,738 13,659 11,770 37,502
Finance income 293,310 151,187 27,308 1,253 2,879
Share of result of associate 8,406 6,494 9,919 4,643 3,218
Value Added 5,081,181 5,664,604 4,445,140 2,876,302 2,884,904

Distributed as follows:

 Rs. ‘000 2017 % 2016 % 2015 % 2014 % 2013 %

To employees

as remuneration 1,047,240 20.61 1,146,070 20.23 919,156 20.68 707,883 24.61 600,390 20.81 

To government 

as income tax 180,176 3.55 215,799 3.81 87,152 1.96 28,772 1.00 38,398 1.33 

as revenue tax 2,527,646 49.75 2,398,034 42.33 2,036,732 45.82 1,742,907 60.60 1,760,674 61.03 

To the providers of capital

as interest on loans 3,013 0.06 2,356 0.04 30,471 0.69 68,928 2.40 118,351 4.10 

as minority interest 280,707 5.52 348,312 6.15 235,562 5.30 69,784 2.42 75,453 2.62 

To shareholders 

as dividends 120,000 2.36 150,000 2.65 66,000 1.48 - - - - 

Retained within the business

as depreciation and amortisation 246,413 4.85 215,693 3.81 193,493 4.35 186,594 6.49 167,813 5.82 

as reserves 675,986 13.30 1,188,340 20.98 876,574 19.72 71,434 2.48 123,825 4.29 

5,081,181 100.00 5,664,604 100.00 4,445,140 100.00 2,876,302 100.00 2,884,904 100.00 
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Shareholder Information

1. Analysis of shareholders according to the number of shares as at 31 December 2017  

Shareholding Resident Non Resident Total

Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

Percentage Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

Percentage Number of 
shareholders

Number of 
shares

Percentage

            1 -         1,000  3,586  915,179  1.53  23  10,664  0.02  3,609  925,843  1.54 

     1,001 -      10,000  1,055  3,680,886  6.13  22  100,951  0.17  1,077  3,781,837  6.30 

   10,001 -    100,000  232  6,828,376  11.38  10  329,583  0.55  242  7,157,959  11.93 

100,001 - 1,000,000  23  6,377,054  10.63  3  1,690,908  2.82  26  8,067,962  13.45 

Over 1,000,000  1  5,350,549  8.92  3  34,715,850  57.86  4  40,066,399  66.78 

 4,897  23,152,044  38.59  61  36,847,956  61.41  4,958  60,000,000  100.00 

Category of shareholders 2017 2016

No. of 
shareholders

No. of 
ordinary 

shares

Percentage No. of 
shareholders

No. of 
ordinary 

shares

Percentage

Individual 4,644 9,564,297 4,605 11,293,573

Institutional 314 50,435,703 294 48,706,427

4,958 60,000,000 100.00 4,899 60,000,000 100.00

Less : Shares held by non public holders

Ultimate Parent Company (1) (27,270,800) (1) (27,270,800)

Directors (2) (3,197) (2) (3,197)

(3) (27,273,997) (45.46) (3) (27,273,997) (45.46)

Total representing the public holding 4,955 32,726,003 54.54 4,896 32,726,003 54.54

2. List of 20 major shareholders based on their shareholding

No. Name As at 31 December 2017 As at 31 December 2016

Number of 
Shares

Percentage of
Issued Capital

Number of 
Shares

Percentage of
Issued Capital

01 Prima Limited, Singapore 27,270,800 45.45 27,270,800 45.45

02 Employees’ Provident Fund 5,350,549 8.92 5,350,549 8.92

03 Supra Limited, Hong Kong 5,179,797 8.63 5,179,797 8.63

04 Eka Limited, Singapore 2,265,253 3.78 2,265,253 3.78

05 Laugfs Gas PLC 1,000,000 1.67 1,000,000 1.67

06 Mellon Bank N.A. -Commonwealth of Massachusetts 941,581 1.57 941,581 1.57

07 Bank of Ceylon No.1 Account 612,498 1.02 403,709 0.67

08 Seylan Bank PLC / S.R. Fernando 566,404 0.94 - -

09 Mellon Bank N.A. - Acadian Frontier Markets Equity Fund 523,037 0.87 455,644 0.76

10 J.B. Cocoshell (Pvt) Ltd 432,403 0.72 - -

11 Commercial Bank of Ceylon PLC / Sithijaya Fund Limited 418,524 0.70 - -

12 Timex Garments (Pvt) Ltd 400,000 0.67 400,000 0.67

13 Mr. B.L. Jayaratne / Dr. Y.S. Liyanage 279,300 0.47 - -

14 Seylan Bank PLC / R. A. Rishard 251,149 0.42

15 Ayenka Holdings Private Limited 244,000 0.41 300,000 0.50

16 Seylan Bank PLC / C.N. Rajahmoney 242,354 0.40 - -

17 Sezeka Limited, United Kingdom 226,290 0.38 - -

18 Seylan Bank Ltd / Govindasamy Ramanan 198,219 0.33 191,050 0.32

19 Mr. S.B.H. Wanduragala 194,573 0.32 - -

20 Mr. M.Z. Rasheed 187,278 0.31 - -

Total 46,784,009 77.97 43,758,383 72.94
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Glossary of Financial Terminology

Accrual Basis
Recording Revenues and Expenses in 
the period in which they are earned or 
incurred regardless of whether cash is 
received or disbursed in that period.

Capital Employed
Shareholders’ Funds plus Debt.

Contingent Liabilities
A condition or situation existing at the 
end of the reporting period due to past 
events, where the financial effect is not 
recognised because:

1. The obligation is crystallised by the 
occurrence or non occurrence of 
one or more future events or,

2. A probable outflow of economic 
resources is not expected or,

3. It is unable to be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

Current Ratio
Current Assets over Current Liabilities.

Quick Ratio
Cash plus Short Term Investments plus 
Receivables over Current Liabilities.

Debt / Equity Ratio (Gearing)
Debt as a percentage of Shareholders’ 
Funds.

Dividend Cover
Earnings per share over dividend per 
share.

Dividend Payout Ratio
Total Dividend as a percentage of 
Company profits.

Dividend Yield
Dividend per share as a percentage of 
market price of share at the end of the 
period.

Earnings Per Share (EPS)
Profit after tax attributable to Ordinary 
Shareholders over weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the 
period.

Enterprise value
Market capitalisation plus debt minus 
total cash and cash equivalents.

Earnings Yield
Earnings per share as a percentage of 
Market Price per share at the end of the 
period.

Effective Rate of Taxation
Income Tax including Deferred tax over 
Profit Before Tax.

Interest Cover
Profit Before Interest and Tax over 
Finance Expenses.

Market Capitalisation
Number of shares in issue at the end the 
of period multiplied by the share price 
at the end of the period.

Net Assets
Total Assets minus Current Liabilities 
minus Long Term Liabilities minus 
Minority Interest.

Net Asset per Share
Net Assets divided by number of 
Ordinary Shares in issue at the end of 
the period.

Net Debt
Debt minus Cash and Short Term 
Deposits.

Net Turnover per Employee
Net Turnover over average number of 
employees.

Price Earnings Ratio
Market Price of Share over Earnings per 
Share.

Return on Assets
Profit After Tax over Average Total Assets.

Return on Capital Employed
Earnings before interest and tax as a 
percentage of average of shareholders’ 
funds plus total debt.

Return on Equity
Consolidated Profit after Tax as a 
Percentage of Average Shareholders’ 
Funds.

Shareholders’ Funds
Stated Capital, Capital Reserves and 
Revenue Reserves.

Shareholders’ Equity Ratio
Total Equity divided by Total Assets.

Earnings Before Interest  
and Taxes (EBIT)
Revenue minus Operating Expenses.

Profit Before Tax (PBT)
The amount of profit made by the 
Company before tax is deducted.

Profit After Tax (PAT)
Net profit earned by the Company after 
all taxation related expenses have been 
deducted.

Total Assets (TA)
Non-Current Assets plus Current Assets.

Total Debt (TD)
Long Term Loans plus Short Term Loans 
and Overdraft.

Total Debt / Total Assets
Total Debt divided by Total Assets.

Total Value Added
The difference between Revenue 
(including Other Income) and 
Expenses, Cost of Materials and Services 
purchased from External Sources.
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Notice of Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 35th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on Wednesday, 9 May 2018 at 
the Sri Lanka Foundation Institute Auditorium, No. 100, Sri Lanka Padanama Mawatha, Independence Square, Colombo 7 at  
10.45 a.m. and the business to be brought before the Meeting will be:

1. To receive and consider the Report of the Board of Directors on the State of Affairs of the Company and the Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, with the Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. To declare a First and Final dividend of Rs. 2.00 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017.

3. To re-elect Mr. Cheng Eng Loong, a Director who retires by rotation at the Annual General Meeting in terms of Article 87 of the 
Articles of Association of the Company.

4. To consider and if thought fit to pass the following Ordinary Resolution pertaining to the re-appointment of Mr. Tan Beng 
Chuan, as a Director who is over 70 years of age, in compliance with Section 211 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 and 
whose re- appointment has been recommended by the Board of Directors.

Ordinary Resolution

“That the age limit of 70 years referred to in Section 210 of the Companies Act, No. 07 of 2007 shall not apply to Mr. Tan Beng 
Chuan, Director, who is 71 years of age (having reached 70 years of age on 14 October 2016) and accordingly that Mr. Tan Beng 
Chuan be and is hereby re-appointed a Director of the Company in terms of Section 211 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007”.

5. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants as Auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration.

6. To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities and other purposes.

By order of the Board

(Sgd.)
S S P CORPORATE SERVICES (PRIVATE) LIMITED 
Secretaries

Colombo, Sri Lanka
6 April 2018

Note :
(a) A member entitled to attend and vote at the above mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint a Proxy to attend and vote 

instead of him/her. Such Proxy needs not be a member of the Company.

(b) A Form of Proxy is annexed to this notice.

(c) The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company, No. 15, Rock House Lane, Colombo 
15 not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting.

(d) Shareholders/proxy holders are requested to bring with them their National Identity Card or any other form of clear/valid 
identification and present same at the time of registration.
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I/We .......................................................................................................................................... (NIC No.................................................................................................................................) 

of ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... being a member/s of  

Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC, hereby appoint .....................................................................................................................................................................................................

(NIC No .............................................................................................................) of ...................................................................................or failing him

Mr. WICKREMA SENAKA WEERASOORIA of Colombo or failing him
Mr. CHENG CHIH KWONG, PRIMUS of Singapore or failing him
Mr. TAN BENG CHUAN of Colombo or failing him
Mr. CHENG ENG LOONG of Singapore or failing him
Mr. CHENG KOH CHUEN, BERNARD of Singapore or failing him
Mr. SUNIL KARUNANAYAKE of Colombo

as my/our Proxy to represent me/us and vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 
Wednesday, 9 May 2018 and at any adjournment thereof and at every poll which may be taken in consequence of the aforesaid 
meeting and to VOTE as indicated below:

FOR AGAINST

1. To receive and consider the Report of the Board of Directors on the State of Affairs of the 
Company and the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, with the 
Report of the Auditors thereon.

2. To declare a First and Final dividend of Rs. 2.00 per share for the year ended 31 December 2017.

3. To re-elect Mr. Cheng Eng Loong a Director who retires by rotation at the Annual General 
Meeting in terms of Article 87 of the Articles of Association.

4. To re-appoint Mr. Tan Beng Chuan, who is over 70 years of age as a Director of the Company 
by passing the ordinary resolution set out in the Notice of Meeting.

5. To re-appoint Messrs KPMG, Chartered Accountants as Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to determine their remuneration.

6. To authorise the Directors to determine contributions to charities and other purposes.

As witness my/our hand/this ……………….day of ………………………… Two Thousand and Eighteen.

Signature: …………………………….

Note : Please delete the inappropriate words.
1. Instructions for completion of Proxy are noted on the next page

2. A Proxy need not be a member of the Company

3. Please mark ‘X’ in appropriate cages, to indicate your instructions as to voting

Form of Proxy



Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC
Annual Report 2017

160

Instructions to completion of form of proxy

1. Kindly perfect the Form of Proxy by filling in legibly your full name and address, your instructions as to 
voting, by signing In the space provided and filling in the date of signature.

2. Please indicate with a ‘X’ in the cages provided how your proxy is to vote on the Resolutions. If no 
indication is given the Proxy in his/her discretion may vote as he/she thinks fit.

3. The completed Form of Proxy should be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at No. 15, 
Rock House Lane, Colombo 15, at least 48 hours before the time appointed for holding of the Meeting.

4. If the form of proxy is signed by an attorney, the relative power of attorney should accompany the 
completed form of proxy for registration, if such power of attorney has not already been registered 
with the Company.

Note:
If the shareholder is a Company or body corporate, Section 138 of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007 
applies to Corporate Shareholders of Ceylon Grain Elevators PLC. Section 138 provides for representation 
of Companies at meetings of other Companies. A Corporation, whether a Company within the meaning of 
this act or not, may-where it is a member of another Corporation, being a Company within the meaning 
of this Act, by resolution of its Directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to 
act as its representative at any meeting of the Company. A person authorised as aforesaid shall be entitled 
to exercise the same power on behalf of the Corporation which it represent as that Corporation could 
exercise if it were an individual shareholder.

Form of Proxy
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